
NO,

INTHE

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

ERIC LYLE WILLIAMS,

Petitioner

VS.

THE STATE OF TEXAS,

Respondent

MOTION FOR LEAVE TO PROCEED

IN FORMA PA UPERIS

DEATH CASE

The petitioner asks leave to file the attached petition for a writ of certiorari
without prepayment costs and to proceed in forma pauperis.

[ X ] Petitioner has previously been granted leave to proceed in forma pauperis in
any other court, (Petitioner was previously declared indigent in State Ccmrt for
purposes of trial and direct appeal to the highest level appellate court in the
State of Texas.)

Petitioner's affidavit or declaration in support of this motion is attached hereto.



AFFIDAVIT OR DECLARATION
IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR LEAVE TO PROCEED IN FORMA PAUPERIS

I, Eric Lyle Williams, am the petitioner in the above-entitled case. In support of my
motion to proceed in forma pauperis, I state that because of my poverty I am unable to pay the
costs of the case or to give security therefor; and I believe I am entitled to redress,

1. For both you and your spouse estimate the average amount of money received from
each of the following sources during the past 12 months. Adjust any amount that was
received weekly, biweekly, quarterly, semiannually, or annually to show the monthly rate,
amounts, that is amounts before any deductions for taxes or otherwise,

Income Source

Employment

Self-employment

Income from real property
(such as rental income)

Interest and dividends

Gifts

Alimony

Child Support

Retirement (such as social
security, pensions,
annuities, insurance)

Disability (such as social
security, insurance payments)

Unemployment payments

Public Assistance
(such as welfare)

Other (specify)

Total monthly income $,

Average monthly amount during
the past 12 months
You Spouse

$ N/A$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

s

s

$

$

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

$ N/A

$ N/A

$ N/A

S N/A

$ N/A

$ N/A

S N/A

$ N/A

S N/A

S N/A

S N/A

$ N/A

Amount expected
next month
You Spouse

$. 0 $ N/A

$ 0

$ 0

S Q

$ 0

$ 0

$

$

$

0

0

0

$ 0

$ 0

.$ 0 _

$ 0

$ N/A

$ N/A

$ N/A

$ N/A

$ N/A

S N/A

$ N/A

$ N/A

$ N/A

S N/A

$ N/A

S N/A

Petitioner is currently residing on Death Row in the Polunsky Unit of the Institutional
Division of the Texas Department of Criminal Justice.



L List your employment history for the past two years, most recent first, (Gross monthly pay is
before taxes or other deductions. Petitioner is an inmate on Death Row.

Employer Address Dates of Gross money
Employment

, . _____ . , S
, _____ . . $ ,
_______ __ _____ $; ,

2, List your spouse's employment history for the past two years, most recent employer first,
(Gross monthly pay is before taxes or other deductions,) N/A

Employer Address Dates of Gross money
Employment

. . , _ $. ,
. _____ $

3, How much cash do you and your spouse have? $ 0_
Below, state any money you or your spouse have in bank accounts or in any other financial
institution,

Financial institution Type of account Amount you have Amount your spouse

S
$,

4. List the assets, and their values, which you own-or your spouse owns. Do not lis clothing and
ordinary household furnishings. NONE

DHome DOther real estate
Value Value_ _

DMotor Vehicle #1 DMotor Vehicle #2
Year, make & model Year, make & model_
Value Value.

DOther assets
Description Value__



5. State eveiy person, business, or organization owing you or your spouse money, and the amount
owed. NONE
Person owing you or Amount owed to you Amount owed to your spouse
your spouse money

$_
$.

7. State the persons who rely on you or your spouse for support. NONE

Name Relationship Age

Estimate the average monthly expenses of you and your family. Show separately the amounts
paid by your spouse. Adjust any payments that are made weekly, biweekly, quarterly or annually
to show the monthly rate. NONE

You Your Spouse
Rent or home-mortgage payment
(Include lot rented for mobile home) $ $
Are real estate taxes included? DYes DNo
Is property insurance included? DYes DNo

Utilities (electricity, heating fuel,
water, sewer, and telephone) $_ ^
Home maintenance (repairs and upkeep) $t . $ _____^_

Food $^ .. . $

Clothing $ $^

Laundry and dry-cleaning $ , $_
Medical and dental expenses $ $^_

You Your Spouse
Transportation ( not including motor vehicle payments) $. $
Recreation, entertainment, newspapers, magazines, etc. $ $
Insurance (not deducted from wages or included in mortgage payments)

Homeowner's or renter's $. t 3>
Life I S ...
Health $. , $„_
Motor Vehicle $, , $_
Other $ $_

Taxes (not deducted from wages or included in mortgage payments.)

(specify):^ . $ $_



Installment payments

Motor Vehicle $
Credit Card(s) S
Department Store(s) $, 3L
Other $ . . ' . . . . $^

Alimony, maintenance., and support paid to others $r _ , $__
Regular expenses for operation of business, profession,
or farm (attached detailed statement,) $. _ , $^_
Other (specify) __ _ __ $ $_
Total monthly expenses $ _ t $_

9, Do you expect any major changes to your monthly income or expenses or in your assets or
liabilities during the next 12 months?

HI Yes DNo If yes, describe on an attached sheet,

10, Have you paid- or will you be paying - an attorney any money for services in connection with
this case, including the completion of this form? DYes DNo

If yes, how much?,

If yes, state the attorney's name, address, and telephone number.

11, Have you paid - or will you be paying - anyone other than an attorney (such as a paralegal or a
typist) any money for services in connection with this case, including the completion of this
form?

DYes [X] No - Attorney appointed by County of Dallas, State of Texas

If yes, how much?

If yes, state the person's name, address, and telephone number,

12. Provide any other information that will help explain why you cannot pay the costs of this case.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on : .Q^ /5 «2017.

Eric Lyie Williams



NO,

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

ERIC LYLE WILLIAMS,
Petitioner

VS.

THE STATE OF TEXAS,
Respondent

MOTION FOR LEAVE TO PROCEED
IN FORMA PA UPERIS

DEATH CASE

The petitioner asks leave to file the attached petition for a writ of certiorari
without prepayment costs and to proceed in forma pauper is.

[ X ] Petitioner has previously, been granted leave to proceed in forma pauperis in
any other court. (Petitioner was previously declared indigent in State Court for
purposes of trial and direct appeal to the highest level appellate court in the
State of Texas.)

Petitioner's affidavit or declaration in support of this motion is attached hereto.



AFFIDAVIT OR DECLARATION
IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR LEAVE TO PROCEED IN FORMA PAUPERIS

I, Eric Lyle Williams, am the petitioner in the above-entitled case. In support of my
motion to proceed in forma pauperis, I state that because of my poverty I am unable to pay the
costs of the case or to give security therefor; and I believe I am entitled to redress.

1. For both you and your spouse estimate the average amount of money received from
each of the following sources during the past 12 months. Adjust any amount that was
received weekly,, biweekly, quarterly, semiannually, or annually to show the monthly rate,,
amounts, that is amounts before any deductions for taxes or otherwise.

Income Source Average monthly amount during Amount expected
the past 12 months next month
You Spouse You Spouse

Employment $ 0 $ N/A $ 0 $ N/A

Self-employment S 0 S N/A $ 0 $ N/A

Income from real property $ 0 S N/A S 0 $ N/A
(such as rental income)

Interest and dividends $ 0 S N/A $. 0 $ N/A

Gifts S 0 S N/A S 0 S N/A

Alimony S 0 S N/A S 0 S N/A

Child Support $ 0 $ N/A $ 0 S N/A

Retirement (such as social $ 0 $ N/A S 0 $ N/A

security, pensions,
annuities, insurance)

Disability (such as social S 0 S N/A $ D S N/A
security, insurance payments)

Unemployment payments $ 0 $ N/A $ 0 S N/A

Public Assistance $ 0 S N/A $ 0 S N/A
(such as welfare)

Other (specify) $ 0 S N/A $ 0 $ N/A .

Total monthly income $ 0 $ N/A S 0 S N/A

Petitioner is currently residing on Death Row in the Polunsky Unit of the Institutional
Division of the Texas Department of Criminal Justice.



1, List your employment history for the past two years, most recent first, (Gross monthly pay is
before taxes or other deductions. Petitioner is an inmate on Death Row.

Employer Address Dates of Gross money
Employment

______ , _____ $:
$_

2. List your spouse's employment history for the past two years, most recent employer first,
(Gross monthly pay is before taxes or other deductions.) N/A

Employer Address Dates of Gross money
Employment

. _ _ ______ $ ,
_____ $
. . _____ ______ $

3, How much cash do you and your spouse have? $ 0_
Below, state any money you or your spouse have in bank accounts or in any other financial
institution.

Financial institution Type of account Amount you have Amount your spouse

. $ . $_ ,
, . . $ $

4. List the assets, and their values, which you own or your spouse owns. Do not lis clothing and
ordinary household furnishings. NONE

DHome D Other real estate
Value __ V&Iufr. .

DMotor Vehicle #1 DMotor Vehicle #2
Year, make & model___ Year, make & model_
Value

mother assets
Description Value_



5, State eveiy person, business, or organization owing you or your spouse money, and the amount
owed. NONE
Person owing you or Amount owed to you Amount owed to your spouse
your spouse money

JL
.31

$ $

7* State the persons who rely on you or your spouse for support. NONE

Name Relationship Age

Estimate the average monthly expenses of you mid your family. Show separately the amounts
paid by your spouse. Adjust any payments that are mad© weekly, biweekly, quarterly or aniraally
to show the monthly rate. NONE

You Your Spouse
Rent or home-mortgage payment
(Include lot rented for mobile home) $, $
Are real estate taxes included? DYes DNo
Is property insurance included? DYes DNo

Utilities (electricity, heating fuel,
water, sewer, and telephone) $ $
Home maintenance (repairs and upkeep) $i . $_

Food

Clothing

Laundry and diy-c leaning
Medical and dental expenses

You Your Spouse
Transportation ( not including motor vehicle payments) $ ^ $,
Recreation, entertainment, newspapers, magazines, etc. $: ._, $ ...
Insurance (not deducted from wages or included in mortgage payments)

Homeowner's or renter's $ $_
Life $ $,
Health & ' . &
Motor Vehicle $„ $. _____
Other . $. , $

Taxes (not deducted from wages or included in mortgage payments.)

(specify):, $ , $_



Installment payments

Motor Vehicle
Credit Card(s) $ J
Department Store(s) $ _ a $_
Other _ , $ _ k 1_

Alimony, maintenance, and support paid to others $
Regular expenses for operation of business, profession,
or farm (attached detailed statement.) $^
Other (specify) _____ _ .$.
Total monthly expenses $ _ $_

9* Do you expect any major changes to your monthly income or expenses or in your assets or
liabilities during the next 12 months?

DYes DNo If yes, describe on an attached sheet.

10. Have you paid- or will you be paying - an attorney any money for services in connection with
this case, including the completion of this form? DYes DNo

If yes, how much?

If yes, state the attorney's name, address, and telephone number,

11. Have you paid - or will you be paying - anyone other than an attorney (such as a paralegal or a
typist) any money for services in connection with this case, including the completion of this
form?

[HYes [X] No - Attorney appointed by County of Dallas, State of Texas

If yes, how much?, ,

If yes, state the person's name, address, and telephone number,

12* Provide any other information that will help explain why you cannot pay the costs of this case.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on : O ^^ /*? ,2017.

Eric Lyle Williams
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CAPITAL CASE

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

L Whether Texas5 capital sentencing scheme, which includes so many
aggravating circumstances that almost every defendant convicted of
Capital Murder is eligible for death, violates the Eighth Amendment.

II Whether the death penalty in and of itself violates the Eighth
Amendment, in light of contemporary standards of decency.

III. Whether the death penalty as applied in Texas is used in an arbitrary
manner that has real and troubling consequences.

11
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IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

ERIC LYLE WILLIAMS
Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF TEXAS,
Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO
THE TEXAS COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TO THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
UNITED STATES:

Petitioner, Eric Lyle Williams, respectfully petitions for a writ of certiorari to

review the judgement of the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals in this case.

OPINIONS BELOW

The opinion of the highest state court, the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals, to

review the merits appears at Appendix A. The petition was delivered November 1,

2017 and is unpublished.



JURISDICTION

The judgement of the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals was entered on

November 1, 2017. The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked under 28 U.S.C. §

1257(a) and ninety days has not elapsed.

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner is in part relying on and adopting a significant part of the argument

and presentation of authority in the petition for writ of certiorari filed by Abel Daniel

Hidalgo v. State of Arizona in this Honorable Court,

Forty-five years ago, mFurman v, Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972) (Per

Curiam), this Court held that the death penalty, as then administered, was

unconstitutional. Because the death penalty was only imposed on a "capriciously

selected random handful/3 it was "cruel and unusual in the same way that being

struck by lightning is cruel and unusual.'5 Id. At 309-310 (Stewart, L, concurring).

And the Eighth Amendment does not "permit this unique penalty to be so wantonly

and so freakishly imposed." Id. at 310;1 see id. at 313 (White, L, concurring),

In response to that decision, a number of States reinstated the death penalty,

but this time seeking by statute to confine the application of the death penalty to the

"worst of crimes/' Kennedy v, Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 447 (2008). In Gregg v.

Georgia, 428 U.S. 153 (1976) (plurality opinion), this Court - while affirming the



central teaching ofFurman that the death penalty cannot be "inflicted in an arbitrary

and capricious manner/' id at 188- upheld many of those new capital sentencing

schemes. The Court concluded that that the "aggravating circumstances" and other

limitations in the statutes before it would "suitably direct [] and limitQ" the

sentenced s discretion "so as to minimize the risk of wholly arbitrary and capricious

action." Id at 189. But the Court acknowledged that it might someday revisit the

constitutionality of the death penalty in light of "more convincing evidence." Id at

187.

The long experiment launched by Gregg - in whether the death penalty can be

administered within constitutional bounds - has failed. It has failed both in Texas

and in the Nation more broadly.

The animating principle of Gregg and Furman is that a State's "capital

sentencing scheme must 'genuinely narrow the class of persons eligible for the death

penalty and must reasonable justify the imposition of a more severe sentence on the

defendant comparted to others found guilty of murder.'" Lowenfieldv. Phelps, 484

U.S. 231, 244 (1988) (quoting Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 877 (1983)). Texas'

scheme utterly fails to do that. The number of statutory aggravators has proliferated

in Article 19.03 Texas Penal Code defining capital murder such that arguably almost

every person convicted of capital murder is eligible for the death penalty at the



unbridled discretion of the district attorney in the county of prosecution. The Texas

legislature must provide a means of further narrowing the class of death - eligible

murderers: the Texas legislature has actually expanded those death eligible since

"Furman".

The Nation as a Whole

The Court did not resolve the constitutionality of the death penalty for all time

in Gregg. Nor could it, given that the Eighth Amendment "must draw its meaning

from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing

society/' Gregg, 428 U.S. at 173 (quoting Trop v, Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958)

(plurality opinion)). In the last twenty years, the number of death sentences imposed

and carried out has plummeted. A national consensus has emerged that the death

penalty is an unacceptable punishment in any circumstance. And this Court's

opinions, supported by reams of evidence, are trending unmistakable toward that

consensus, As the Court has increasingly recognized, States simply cannot provide

the guidance necessary to ensure that the penalty is imposed only on the worst

offenders. Nor can States administer the penalty without ensnaring and putting to

death the innocent. And the present reality of capital punishment - that those

sentenced to death must spend decades languishing on death row with the remote but

veiy real possibility of execution hovering like a sword of Damolcles- is cca



punishment infinitely more ghastly" than a swift death. Alexander M. Bickel, The

Least Dangerous Branch 243 (1962).

Two Justices of this Court, documenting these flaws, have called for the Court

to reexamine the constitutionality of the death penalty. See Glossip v. Gross, 135

S.Ct. 2726, 2755 (2015) (Breyer, L Joined by Ginsburg, J., dissenting). With each

passing month, the Court receives more last-minute pleas for relief from individuals

sentenced to die by a punishment-whose constitutionality is in grave doubt. There is

no point in waiting any longer for "more *** evidence/' Gregg, 428 U.S. at 187.

Caprice and mistake have proven ineradicable in the administration of death.

The Eighth Amendment tolerates neither. This Court should grant certiorari, at a

minimum to declare Texas5 death penalty scheme unconstitutional.

STATEMENT

1. In Texas, first-degree murder includes: Sec. 19.02 P.C. Murder

(b) A person commits an offense if he:

(1) intentionally or knowingly causes the death of an individual;

(2) intends to cause serious bodily injury and commits an act clearly

dangerous to human life that causes the death of an individual; or

(3) commits or attempts to commit a felony, other than manslaughter,

and in the course of and in furtherance of the commission or attempt, or in immediate



flight from the commission or attempt, he commits or attempts to commit an act

clearly dangerous to human life that causes the death of an individual.

2. In Texas, Capital Murder Sec. 19.03 includes;

(a) A person commits an offense if the person commits murder as

defined under Section 19.02 (b)(l) and:

(1) the person murders a peace officer or fireman who is acting in

the lawful discharge of an official duty and who the person

knows is a peace officer or fireman;

(2) the person intentionally commits the murder in the course of

committing or attempting to commit kidnapping, burglary,

robbery, aggravated sexual assault, arson, obstruction or

retaliation, or terroristic threat under Section 22.07 (a)(l), (3),

(4), (5) or (6);

(3) the person commits the murder for remuneration or the promise

of remuneration or employs another to commit the murder for

remuneration or the promise of remuneration;

(4) the person commits the murder while escaping or attempting to

escape from a penal institution;



(5) the person, while incarcerated in a penal institution, murders

another:

(A) who is employed in the operation of the penal institution; or

(B) with the intent to establish, maintain, or participate in a

combination or in the profits of a combination;

(6) the person;

(A) while incarcerated for an offense under this section or

Section 19.02, murders another; or

(B) while serving a sentence of life imprisonment or a term of 99

years for an offense under Penal Code Section 20,04, 22,021, or

29.03, murders another;

(7) the person murders more than one person:

(A) during the same criminal transaction; or

(B) during different criminal transactions but the murders are

committed pursuant to the same scheme or course of conduct;

(8) the person murders an individual under 10 years of age; or

(9) the person murders another person in retaliation for or on

account of the service or status of the other person as a judge or

justice of the supreme court, the court of criminal appeals, a



court of appeals, a district court, a criminal district court, a

constitutional county court, a justice court, or a municipal court.

(b) An offense under this section is a capital felony.

(c) If the jury or, when authorized by law, the judge does not find

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant is guilty of an

offense under this section, he may be convicted or murder or of

any other lesser included offense,

3; Eric Lyle Williams allegedly committed capital murder under one or

both alternatively plead theories. Either he killed Cynthia McClelland

while committing the offense of burglary of a habitation or killed both

Cynthia McClelland and Michael McClelland in the same transaction.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

I. Texas5 capital sentencing scheme does not "genuinely narrow the class of

persons eligible for the death penalty/' Lowenfield, 484 U.S. at 244 (quoting Zant,

462 U.S. at 877). It therefore violates the Eighth Amendment, And the Texas Court

of Criminal Appeals decision upholding that scheme conflicts with decisions from

other state high courts. This Court should grant certiorari to resolve the resulting

conflict and to vindicate the bar on the "arbitrary" and "irrational" infliction of death.

Parker v, Dugger, 498 U.S. 308, 321 (1991).



IL Even if Texas provided some meaningful limit on the persons eligible for

death, however, its death penalty would remain unconstitutional. A national

consensus has emerged that the punishment of death should never be imposed. That

wide-ranging consensus-reflected in the laws or practices of nearly every State -

accords with the judgements of this Court and copious evidence. It has become clear

that no death penalty scheme, no matter how designed, is capable of preventing the

arbitrary and capricious imposition of death. Nor have States proven capable of

administering the sentence of death in a manner that does not regularly entrap the

innocent. The delays and conditions inherent in the imposition of capital punishment

are themselves an affront to human dignity. In Gregg, this Court deferred judgment

on the death penalty's constitutionality pending "more *** evidence/' 428 U.S. at

187. The evidence is now unequivocal that the death penalty cannot be administered

in accordance with contemporary standards of decency. This Court should answer

the question whether the death penalty, in and of itself, comports with the Eighth

Amendment,

L THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT CERTIORARI TO CLARIFY
THE SCOPE OF THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT'S NARROWING
REQUIREMENT

A. The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals Decision Breaks With The
Clear Precedent Of This Court And Endorses A System In Which
The Death Penalty May Be "Wontonly" And "Freakishly" Imposed.



The Eighth Amendment prohibits the infliction of "cruel and unusual

punishments." This Court has long read that prohibition to bar "the

arbitrary or irrational imposition of the death penalty/5 Parker v,

Dugger, 498 U.S. 308, 321 (1991), "If a State has determined that death

should be an available penalty for certain crimes, then it must

administer that penalty in a way that can rationally distinguish between

those individuals for whom death is an appropriate sanction and those

for whom it is not,5' Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 460 (1984),

overruled on other grounds, Hurst v, Florida, 136 S.Ct. 616 (2016), If

a State's scheme offers "no principled way55 of making that distinction,

Godfrey v, Georgia, 446 U.S 420, 433 (1980) (plurality opinion), the

death penalty is "cruel and unusual in the same way that being struck by

lightening is cruel and unusual,55 Furman v, Georgia, 408 U.S, 238, 309

(1972) (per curiam)(Stewart, J,, concurring).

To "protectf] against arbitrary and capricious impositions of the

death sentence,55, Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 341 (1992), a State's

"capital sentencing scheme must genuinely narrow the class of persons

eligible for the death penalty and must reasonable justify the imposition

of a more severe sentence on the defendant compared to others found

10



guilty of murder."Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 213, 244 (1988)

(quoting Zant v, Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 877 (1983)). The legislature

may accomplish the "narrowing function *** in either of*** two

ways." Lowenfield, 484 U.S. at 246. "The legislature may itself narrow

the definition of capital offenses" at the guilt phase, by - for example-

narrowly defining the offense of capital murder and then making every

defendant convicted of that offense eligible for the death penalty. Id at

245-246. Alternately, "The legislature may more broadly define capital

offenses and provide for narrowing by jury findings of aggravating

circumstances at the penalty phase." Id at 246.

A state is free to choose either of these options, but the Constitution

forbids a legislature from dispensing with statutory narrowing

altogether. Indeed, the narrowing principle is so fundamental to the

constitutional administration of the death penalty that even Justice

Scalia - otherwise a vocal critic of the Court's Eighth Amendment

jurisprudence - "adhere[d] to the precedent establishing] *** that when

a State adopts capital punishment for a given crime but does not make it

mandatory," the State must "establish in advance, and convey to the

sentencer, a governing standard." Walton v, Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 671

11



(1990) (Scalia, L, concurring in part and concurring in the judgment).

In other words, the legislature must offer "clear and objective55

standards, Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S. at 428, that provide a

"meaningful basis for distinguishing the few cases in which [the death

penalty] is imposed from the many cases in which it is not.55 Furman,

408 U.S. at 313 (White, J., concurring).

2. The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals has disregarded that bedrock

requirement of the Eighth Amendment, upholding the constitutionality

of a capital punishment scheme that renders "virtually every55 defendant

convicted of capital murder eligible for the death penalty.

B. The Arbitrariness Of The Death Penalty In Texas Has Real And
Troubling Consequences.

The arbitrariness of the death penalty in Texas is not just an abstract and

doctrinal problem, "[T]he death penalty inflicted on one defendant is 'unusual5 if it

discriminates against him by reason of his race, religion, wealth, social position, or

class, or if it is imposed under a procedure that gives room for the play of such

prejudices.55 Furman, 408 U.S. at 242 (Douglas, J., concurring). The standardless

lottery that is the Texas capital sentencing scheme "gives room for play55 of prejudice

and other factors that should have no place in the administration of the death penalty,

especially since each elected District Attorney in each of Texas5 254 counties has the

12



unbridled discretion to seek death or life without parole asa sentencing option under

sec. 19.03 Texas Penal Code defining capital murder. Id.

First, the arbitrariness of Texas scheme enables troubling racial disparities,

Glossip v. Gross, 135 S,Ct. 2726, 2760 (2015)(Breyer, L, dissenting). In short, the

failure of Texas to narrow the class of offenders eligible for the death penalty has

allowed for bias in its imposition.

Second, Texas death penalty turns on accidents of geography and county

resources, rather than the characteristics of the offense. The happenstance of

geography is no way to "rationally distinguish between those individuals for whom

death is an appropriate sanction and those for whom it is not."

Art. 37.071 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure fails to provide a method

by which the State determines against whom the death penalty will be sought. This

failure eliminates any possible rationality and consistency in the decision to seek

death and violates the Defendant's right to Due Process as set out in the 5th

Amendment to the United States Constitution and Due Process and Equal Protection

mandated by the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article 1,

Sections 13 and 19 of the Texas Constitution and Art. 1.04 of the Texas Code of

Criminal Procedure.

13



The decision as to which defendant is to be subjected to the death penalty

prosecution varies from county to county in Texas, As a result, there are likely two

hundred and fifty-four (254) different methods used to determine which cases shall

be prosecuted as capital cases. A different system for each of the counties. Often the

decision can turn on the county's willingness to fund the defense, the race or status

of the defendant, or the age, sex, race or status of the victim in the community, When

a court orders a statewide remedy, there must be at least some assurance that the

rudimentary requirements of equal treatment and fundamental fairness are satisfied.

Bushv. Gore, 531 U.S. 98, 121 S.Ct 525, 148 LJBd.2d388 (2000).

The right to life is guaranteed by the Constitution, certainly the life of a citizen

demands as much due process and protection as does the right to vote. The right to

life is fundamental. Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 359 (1972). The failure of

the State to set forth uniform and specific standards to determine against whom a

death sentence will be sought renders the penalty of death one that is wantonly and

freakishly implied that is prohibited by the 8th amendment to the United States

Constitution, Petitioner simply asserts that since prosecutors have the power not to

charge capital felonies they will exercise that power in a standard less fashion. This

is untenable.

14



The Texas Death Penalty scheme magnifies the arbitrary and freakish manner

in which the death penalty is imposed in the state, all in violation of the Due Process

clause of the 5th Amendment to the United States Constitution and the prohibition

against the imposition of Cruel and Unusual Punishment of the 8th Amendment.

Specifically, the potentially arbitrary and capricious discretion of the county

prosecutors is made worse by the fact that (a) Tex. C, Crim, P. Art, 37,071 does not

require a proportionality review to be performed on sentences of death; (b )Texas

juries are not told that their failure to agree on any of the sentencing phase special

issues will result in a life sentence. Jurors are in fact told that ten (10) of them must

agree in order to return a verdict in favor of the Defendant; (c) the Governor of

Texas does not have independent authority to grant Clemency and can only do so

upon recommendation of the Texas Board of Pardons and Parole; (d) the Texas

Board of Pardons and Parole does not meet when considering Clemency petitions

and "faxes" or "calls in" their votes; (e) counsel for Clemency petitioners are denied

compensation for their assistance provided to a condemned inmate, essentially

denying him counsel in the final hour of life.

The Court should grant certiorari to bring the Texas Court of Criminal

Appeals in line with its post-Furman death penalty jurisprudence, to resolve a split

15



between state high courts, and to end the havoc that arbitrariness is wreaking on the

administration of justice in Texas.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT CERTIORARI TO
DETERMINE WHETHER THE DEATH PENALTY IS
CONSTITUTIONAL

Invalidating Texas5 death penalty statute under existing doctrine would not,

however, cure all the underlying constitutional maladies. The death penalty is

unconstitutional full stop. This Court can and should strike down the punishment in

its entirety,

A. The Death Penalty Is "Cruel and Unusual" Punishment

The Constitution's proscription on "cruel and unusual punishments" protects,

at his heart, human dignity. Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 420 (2008); Trop v,

Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 100 (1958) (plurality opinion). The content of that proscription

is not frozen in time, but grows in light of "the evolving standards of decency that

mark the progress of a maturing society." Kennedy, 554 U.S. at 419 (quoting Trop,

356 U.S. at 101).

In Gregg, the Court found that "contemporary standards" of decency did not

then render the death penalty in all circumstances unconstitutional. 428 U.S. at 175.

It noted that 35 States had enacted death penalty statutes in the previous four years,

and that juries regularly imposed punishment. Id. at 179-182. Moreover, the Court

16



believed that by providing adequate guidance, States could ensure that the penalty

was administered rationally, and restricted only to the worst offenders. Id. At 195,

The Gregg experiment has failed. A decisive majority of this country, acting

through its democratic representatives, has tuned its face from capital punishment.

And Gregg's hope that the punishment of death could be administered rationally and

in accord with legitimate penological purposes has proved to be empty, a fatal

mistake which this Court must now correct,

1. A National Consensus Rejects The Death Penalty.

This Court examines "objective indicia of society's standards35 to determine

whether a national consensus has emerged deeming a punishment cruel and unusual,

Roper v. Simmons, 543, U.S. 551, 563 (2005). Every such indication now reveals a

wide-spread consensus against the death penalty.

Thirty-one States have abandoned the death penalty. Nineteen of those States

have formally abolished the punishment. Four States - Oregon, Colorado,

Washington, and Pennsylvania- have "suspended the death penalty'5 and ceased to

carry out executions.1 Hall v. Florida, 134 S.Ct 1986, 1997 (2014). The remaining

eight States have not carried out an execution <c[i]n the past 10 years/3 Roper, 543

lSee Death Penalty Information Center (DPIC), States With and Without the Death
Penalty, hh1±ps;//deathpenaltyiiifor.org/states-and-without--death-penalty.
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U.S. at 565- and four of them (Kansas, Nebraska, New Hampshire, and Wyoming)

have not executed a prisoner in twenty years or longer.2

Furthermore, in those jurisdictions that continue to carry out death sentences,

the practice is "most infrequent,55 Graham v, Florida, 560 U.S. 48,62 (2010). Last

year, 31 death sentences were imposed and 20 executions were carried out across the

nation. Eight States with the death penalty on the books have administered fewer

than five executions in the last decade; in most cases, just one or two.3 And a

"significant majority55, id at 64, of those executions that do occur - more than 85%

over the last five years- are concentrated in just five States: Texas, Oklahoma,

Florida, Missouri, and Georgia. 4 Within those States, an overwhelming majority of

death sentences are issued by a handful of counties. See Glossip, 135 S.Ct, At 2779-

780 (Breyer, J f , dissenting).

Even more striking than the magnitude of the consensus is "the consistency of

the direction of change.55 Roper, 543 U.S. at 566 (quoting Atkins v. Virginia, 536

2 See DPIC, Numberof Executions by State and Region Since 1976,
://fea1h^ region-1976.

3Id. The States are Arkansas (4), South Dakota (3), Tennessee (4)5 and Utah (1).

4 Id.
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U.S. 304, 315 (2002)), In the past fifteen years seven States have abolished the

death penalty,5 No State has reinstated the punishment in that time.

Meanwhile, the numbers of death sentences and executions throughout the

country have plummeted. See Graham, 560 U.S. at 62 ("Actual sentencing practices

are an important part of the Court's inquiry into consensus/'). In 1996, 315 people

were sentenced to death5 by 2016, that number had fallen by 90%.6 Likewise, the

number of executions has fallen by nearly 80%, from 1999, when 98 persons were

executed.7 In just the last five years, the numbers of death sentences and executions

have dropped by more than half.8

In short, the death penalty has become a rare and "freakish55 punishment.

Gregg, 428 U.S. at 206. The frequency of its use "in proportion to the opportunities

for its imposition is infinitesimal, Graham, 560 U.S. at 66. Out of over 10,000

individuals arrested for homicide offenses each year, fewer than two-tenths of one

percent ultimately receive the punishment of death.

5 See DPIC, States With and Without the Death Penalty, supra note 5. The States are New
Jersy (2007), New York (2007), New Mexico (2009), Illinois (2011), Connecticut (20123),
Maryland (2013) and Delaware (2016).

6 See DPCI, Number of Executions by State and Region Since 1976. The States are
California (2006), Montana (2006), Nevada (2006)( and North Carolina (2006).

7DPCI, Death Sentences in the United States fixmi 1977 By State and By Year,
://deatlipm states-1997~present

*See DPIC, Number of Executions by State and Region Since 1976.
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2. The Death Penalty Cannot Be Administered In A Manner That
Comports With The Eighth Amendment

"[Tjhe Constitution contemplates that in the end [the Court's] own judgment

will be brought to bear on the question of the acceptability of the death penalty under

the Eighth Amendment.53 Roper, 543 U.S. at 590 (internal quotation marks omitted).

And precedent, logic and bitter experience all confirm what the people themselves

have now concluded: The death penalty simply cannot be imposed in accord with

minimum standards of proportionality, reliability, and decency,

a. This Court has long made clear that the Constitution can tolerate the death

penalty if, and only if, States are capable of "ensuring] against its arbitrary and

capricious application " by confining the punishment to "the worst of crimes/'

Kennedy, 554 U.S. at 447; see Gregg, 428 U.S. at 188, This requirement follows

from the Eighth Amendment's demand for proportionality and humanity. As the

Court explained in Kennedy, "[w]hen the law punishes by death, it risks its own

sudden descent into brutality, transgressing the constitution commitment to decency

and restraint/' 554 U.S. at 420. In order to serve legitimate penological aims, the

"punishment must 'be limited to those offenders'" whose "extreme culpability makes

them 'the most deserving of execution.'" Id, (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 568).

After 45 years, the evidence is overwhelming that States cannot satisfy this

requirement. Numerous independent studies - some commissioned by States
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themselves - have demonstrated that the death penalty is routinely and pervasively

imposed based on considerations irrelevant to a person's culpability. See Steven F.

Shatz & Terry Dalton, Challenging the Death Penalty with Statistics; Furman,

McCleskey, and a Single County Case Study, 34 Cardozo L, Rev. 1227, 1244-256

(2013); Glossip, 135 S.Ct At 2760-63 (Breyer, J., dissenting). The principal

determinant of whether a defendant will be sentenced to death is typically not his

blameworthiness, but the county in which he commits his crime. Shatz & Dalton,

supra, at 1253-56; see, e.g. , John J. Donohue III. An Empirical Evaluation of the

Connecticut Death Penalty System Since 1973: Are There Unlawful Racial, Gender,

and Geographic Disparities?, 11 J. Empirical Legal Study. 637, 673 (2014).

Researchers have been unable to find any meaningful correlation between the

heinousness of a person's offense and the likelihood he will receive a capital

sentence. See, i.g,, id. at 678-679.

Meanwhile, for decades studies have consistently found that the race of the

victim is a critical factor in predicting whether the perpetrator will be sentenced to

death. Shatz & Dalton, supra, at 1246-51; see e.g., Raymond Petemoster et al.,

Justice by Geography and Race: The Administration of the Death Penalty in

Maryland, 1978-1999, 4 Md. J. On Race, Religion, Gender, and Class 1, 35 (2004)

(study commissioned by Maryland governor). Numerous other factors that should be
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irrelevant to the question of who lives and who dies - gender, resources, politics -

have likewise been found meaningfully determinative. Shatz & Dalton, supra, at

1251-53; Glossip, 135 S.Ct At 2761-62 (Breyer,L, dissenting).

These problems are ineradicable. They flow from at least two features

intrinsic to the death penalty under our Constitution, features that the Court itself has

increasingly recognized are both problematic and incapable of repair.

The first difficulty is that the Constitution imposes two irreconcilable demands

on sentencers. On one hand, it requires States to provide guidance to juries so that

they impose the death penalty in a consistent and rational manner. Gregg, 428 U.S.

at 195 n. 47 ("[WJhere the ultimate punishment of death is at issue a system of

standardless jury discretion violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments."). On

the other hand, "the fundamental respect for humanity underlying the Eighth

Amendment" requires that States leave juries complete discretion to decline to

impose death based on a defendant's individual characteristics, Woods on v, North

Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 304 (1976) (plurality opinion), As Justice Scalia succinctly

explained, [tjhe latter requirement quiet obviously destroys whatever rationality and

predictability the former requirement was designed to achieve." Walton, 497 U.S. at

664-665 (Scalia, J., concurring in part and concurring in the judgement); see Callins

v. Collins, 510 U.S. 1141, 1151 (1994) (Blackmun,!., dissenting)(similar). By
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granting juries untrammeled discretion to grant mercy to whomever they wish, the

law reintroduces into the death penalty system the very sort of arbitrariness that the

first "narrowing" requirement is intended to remove. See Texas Death Penalty

special issues enumerated in Article 37.071 Texas Code of Criminal Procedure.

The Court has acknowledge that after four decades, this problem has defied

solution short of banning the death penalty's application to whole classes of persons

and offenses. In Kennedy, it explained that the cc[t]he tension between general rules

and case-specific circumstances has produced results not altogether satisfactory./'

554 U.S. at 436; see Tuilaepa, 512 U.S. at 973 (explaining that "[t]he objectives of

these two inquiries can be in some tension"). The Court proceeded to state that it

was "response to this case law, which is still in search of a unifying principle, has

been to insist upon confining the instances in which capital punishment may be

imposed" to increasingly narrow sets of crimes and individuals. Kennedy, 554 U.S.

at 437, Narrowing the death penalty, however, can only mitigate but not cure this

fundamental defect. So long as juries retain open-ended discretion - as the

Constitution says they must - the punishment will continue to be subject to an

intolerable degree of arbitrariness.

That difficulty is compounded by a second, equally severe problem. As

Texas5 scheme illustrates, the first step of the sentencing process - the narrowing of
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death-eligible offenders- is also infected with an insoluble degree of caprice. One

year before Furman, this Court recognized the core difficulty: "To identify before

the fact those characteristics of criminal homicides and their perpetrators which call

for the death penalty, and to express these characteristics in language which can be

fairly understood and applied by the sentencing authority, appear to be tasks which

are beyond present human ability/5 McGautha v, California, 402 U.S. 183, 204

(1971); see Godfrey, 446 U.S. at 442 (Marshall, L, concurring in the judgment).

Again, the Court has increasingly recognized this problem. And again it has

identified only one solution: banning the penalty's application to classes of offenses

and person altogether. In Kennedy, the Court explained that while some persons

who commit non-homicide offenses may rank among the most culpable offenders.

States lack the capacity to "identify standards that would guide the decision maker so

the penalty is reserved for the most severe cases." 554 U.S. at 439. The Court had

"no confidence," it explained, that the characteristics of individual cases would not

"overwhelm a decent person's judgment," and render ccthe imposition of the death

penalty *** so arbitrary as to be "freakis[h]." Id; see also Roper, 543 U.S. at 572

(rejecting the contention that juries can reliably select those juvenile offenders who

have "sufficient psychological maturity, and at the same time demonstrates sufficient

depravity, to merit a sentence of death"). That same problem holds a fortiori for

24



homicide crimes - offenses whose human cost is all the more likely to "overwhelm a

decent person's judgment/5 and of which distinguishing the most severe and

blameworthy crimes is all the more difficult.

b, A farther constitutional problem has emerged since Gregg, In the past 45

years, the advent of more reliable forensic techniques - particularly DNA evidence -

has revealed that innocent people are sentenced to death with startling frequency.

And it is equally clear that States have actually carried out executions of the

innocent.

The evidence on this point is unequivocal, Since 1989, 117 individuals who

were sentenced to death have been formally exonerated of their crimes of

conviction.9 Since 1973, approximately 4% of death-row inmates have been

detemiined to be actually innocent. See Gross et al.5 Rate of False Conviction of

Criminal Defendants Who Are Sentenced to death, 111 Proc. Nafl Acad. Sci. 7230

(2014). The numbers continue to increase each year; two more death-row inmates

have been exonerated in 2017 alone.

There is also little doubt that States have put some such individuals to death.

Multiple, painstaking studies have found "overwhelming" evidence that a number of

9 National Registry of Exonerations,
aw;uffiicL^

Map,aspx
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executed prisoners were actually innocent. See Glossip, 135 S,Ct. At 2756 (Breyer

J., dissenting)(internal quotation marks omitted.) And too many close calls have

occurred - including last minute stays by this Court, eleventh-hour reprieves by a

governor, or exonerations after decades on death row - to believe that more

individuals were not executed before evidence of their innocence came to light, Id.

At 2757, 2766 (giving examples).

Executing innocents is intolerable. Because of the "finality" of death, the

Constitution insists upon "reliability in the determination that death is the

appropriate punishment in a specific case." Woodson, 428 U.S. at 305. Thus, in

Atkins, the Court found that the "risk of wrongful executions55 provided an important

reason why the intellectually disabled could not constitutionally be executed. 536

U.S. at 320-321; see Hall, 134 S.Ct at 1993 (same). At a time when the number of

exonerations was approximately half of what it is now, see Glossip, 135 S.Ct. at

2757 (Breyer, L, dissenting), the Court explained that it "cannot ignore the fact that

in recent years a disturbing number of inmates on death row have been exonerated.55

Atkins, 536 U.S. at 320 n.25. The risk that intellectually disabled defendants would

give "false confessions55 and be executed because of them, the Court concluded, was

too great for the Constitution to bear, Id. at 320.
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The Court "cannot ignore" that the same risk pertains to all offenders. As the

evidence makes clear, every type of defendant - mentally competent or not - faces a

substantial risk of receiving an improper sentence of death, The problems that cause

such errors are regrettable common: defendants may be induced to give false

confessions, receive poor quality defense counsel, face prosecutorial misconduct, or

suffer from myriad other errors. See Glossip, 135 S,Ct At 2757-58 (Breyer, I,

dissenting). The unique dynamics of capital trials- where the pressure to obtain a

conviction is enormous- make such problems all the more likely to lead to an

erroneous conviction.10 Perhaps the Constitution can tolerate a risk of wrongful

conviction outside the capital context, where the penalty is not irreversible and

justice without error may be unattainable. But "death is different". States must

ensure the penalty is reliably imposed, and decades of evidence reveal that they

cannot Gregg, 438 U.S. at 188.n

10John H, Blume & Rebecca K, Helm, The Unexonerated: Factually Innocent Defendants
Who Plead Guilty, 100 Cornell L, Rev, 157, 170 (2014) ("The possibility of being sentenced to
death, even if it is remote can lead defendants, even innocent ones, to plead guilty to get the
death penalty "off the table.55); Hugo Adam Bedau & Michael L, Radelet, Miscarriages of Justice
in Potentially Capital Cases, 40 Stan. L. Rev. 21, 63 & n, 197 (1987) (noting five cases in which
innocent defendant's pled guilty in order avoid the risk of a death sentence).

11 See, e.g., Robert I Smith et al, The Failure of Mitigation, 65 Hastings L.I 1221, 1228-
229 (2014) (finding 87% of the last 100 executed offenders had characteristics akin to juveniles
or the intellectually disabled); John H, Blume et al,, An Empirical Look at Atkins v, Virginia and
Its Application in Capital Cases, 76 Tenn, L, Rev, 625, 628-629 (2009) (discussing success rates
of Atkins claims.).
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c. Finally, the decades since Gregg have made clear that, in order to carry out

capital punishment in a remotely rational manner. States must not subject the

convicted to inordinate delay - a form of punishment that is itself profoundly cruel,

and which saps the punishment of any legitimate penological purpose.

Fifty years ago, the average delay between a death sentence and an execution

was approximately 2 years, Today that delay has grown to more than 17 years. The

reason is straightforward: As the rationality and reliability of death sentences has

grown more questionable, States have been required to implement more and more

procedural protections to ensure the penalty is not wrongly carried out. See Glossip,

135 S.Ct at 2764-65, 2770-72 (Breyer, L, dissenting).

These protections are necessary and proper. Indeed, this Court has concluded

that the Constitution mandates them. But the result is that the death penalty itself has

become even more discordant with the Eighth Amendment.

When a death sentence is administered after decades of delay, moreover, it

ceases to serve any legitimate penological purpose. Id. Agt 2767-69 (Breyer, J.,

dissenting). Individuals are not rationally deterred by the prospect that they have a

slim chance of being sentenced to death decreases in the future. And society's

interest in retribution is not meaningfully served by a punishment carried out after

memories have faded and the perpetrator himself has undergone profound changes.
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"In most cases justice is not better served by terminating the life of the perpetrator

rather than confining him and preserving the possibility that he and the system will

find ways to allow him to understand the enormity of his offense." Kennedy, 554

U,S. at 447.

d. Finally, it is "instructive," Roper, 543 U.S. at 575, that nearly every other

developed Nation, after considering these and other problems, has abandoned capital

punishment. One hundred and four countries have formally abolished the death

penalty, and more than 30 have ceased to impose it.12 Only 23 countries imposed the

death penalty last year, and more than 85% of those executions (excluding those

performed by China) were carried out by four countries; Iran, Saudi Arabia, Iraq, and

Pakistan.13 The "overwhelming weight of international opinion" against the death

penalty is not controlling on this Court. Roper, 543 U.S. at 578. But it reinforces

the judgment- amply evidenced in the democratic decisions of the people, the

precedents of this Court, and decades of experience - that the death penalty no longer

accords with fundamental precepts of decency and the "dignity of man." Trop, 356

U.S. at 100.

12DPIC, Abolitionist and Retentionist Countries, https://deatlipenaltyinfo.org/aboitionist-
and-retentiomst"Countries?scid=30&amp;did-140.

13DPCI> The Death Penalty: An International Perspective,
httjps://dea1^
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B, This Is A Suitable Vehicle To Decide The Constitutionality Of The Death
Penalty, And The Court Should Decide the Question Now.

It is time for the Court to revisit the death penalty's constitutionality. In

Gregg, this Court issued a provisional judgment upholding capital punishment,

based on "contemporary standards3' and the "evidence" available to it at the time.

428 U.S, at 175, 85,, In the four decades since, the Court has never reexamined the

question. It has noted only that the question was "settled" under existing precedent.

Baze v. Rees, 553 U.S. 35,47 (2008) (plurality opinion); see id. at 63 (Alito, I,

concurring) ("[T]he constitutionality of capital punishment is not before us in this

case, and therefore we proceed on the assumption that the death penalty is

constitutional,").

The nature of the rights protected by the Eighth Amendment makes clear that

Gregg's judgment is not static. The "standard of extreme cruelty *** necessarily

embodies a moral judgment" whose application "must change as the basic mores of

society change." Graham, 560 U.S. at 58 (internal quotation marks omitted). As a

result, this Court has often revisited prior decisions upholding the constitutionality of

the death penalty as new consensus and new insights emerge. In Atkins, the Court

overturned the judgement in Penry v, Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302 (1989), that States may

execute the intellectually disabled, finding that "standards *** ha[d] evolved" in the

intervening 13 years and reinforced its judgment that the penalty was impermissible.
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Roper, 543 U.S. at 563, Three years later, In Roper, the Court overturned its

judgment in Stanford v. Kentucky, 492 U.S. 361 (1989), allowing the execution of

juveniles, finding that "indicia [of societal consensus] ha[d] changed" and that in the

Court's own "independent judgment" the penalty was unacceptably cruel. Roper,5A3

U.S. at 574.

The changes wrought since Gregg are far more substantial. Gregg relied on

the fact that 35 States "ha[d] enacted new statutes that provide for the death penalty/5

and that juries regularly sentenced individuals to death, including 254 persons in the

two years after Furman alone, 428 U.S. at 179-182. Since then, a majority of States

have abandoned capital punishment, and the penalty has withered in every State,

Equally significant, this Court has repeatedly rendered its independent judgment that

the pillars on which Gregg's judgment rested - that the death penalty is capable of

being imposed non-arbitrarily, reliably, and in a humane manner - were severely

flawed, 428 U.S. at 206. As the Court made clear in Kennedy, "[difficulties in

administering the penalty to ensure against its arbitrary and capricious application

require adherence to a rule reserving its use" to a dwindling class of person and

offenses. 554 US. at 447. Moreover, definitive evidence - which this Court

expressly noted it lacked at the time it issued Gregg - now confirms that these

problems are endemic to the death penalty wherever it is administered,
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Two justices of this Court, documenting these problems, recently called upon

the Court to examine whether the punishment accords with the Eighth Amendment,

See Glossip, 135 S.Ct At 2755 (Breyer, J., joined by Ginsburg I, dissenting). This

case presents an ideal vehicle for this Court to at last do so. The case comes to the

Court on direct review from the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals by writ of

certiorari, and the constitutional issues are well-preserved. As a result, the vehicle

problems that often afflict criminal cases coming from state court are absent here;

The AEDPA standard of review is inapplicable, so the Court can get straight to the

merits without deference; there is not independent and adequate state ground; and

the constitutional question was pressed and passed on below.

The Court therefore has the opportunity to do more than remedy the severe

infirmity in Texas5 death penalty scheme. It may wish to go farther and answer the

question whether the penalty that the State seeks to administer - one shot through

with arbitrariness, unreliability, and cruelty - can any more be inflected in

accordance with the Eighth Amendment,
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CONCLUSION

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be granted.

Respectfully submitted,

John Tatum, ̂ ftottiey for Petitioner
990 S. Sherman Street
Richardson, Texas 70581
(972) 705-9200
Fax #: (972) 690-9901
State Bar No. 19672500
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Williams v. State, Not Reported in S.W.3d (2017)

2017 WL 4946865
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available,

UNDER TX R RAP RULE 77,3, UNPUBLISHED
OPINIONS MAY NOT BE CITED AS AUTHORITY,

Do Not Publish

Court of Criminal Appeals of Texas,

Eric Lyle WILLIAMS, Appellant
v,

The STATE of Texas
NCXAP-77,053

intended to introduce photograph of improvised incendiary
device, and thus photograph was admissible during guilt
phase of trial;

[51 State established reliability of testimony of ballistics
expert regarding theory of firearm and toolmark identification
by clear and convincing evidence, and thus expert's testimony
was admissible;

[61 audiovisual recording from dashboard camera of police
car that depicted scene of prior murder allegedly committed
by defendant was not more prejudicial than probative and was
not likely to inflame jury, and thus recording was admissible
during punishment phase; and

Delivered; November i, 2017

Synopsis
Background: Defendant was convicted in the 422nd District
Court, Kaufinan County, No, 32021-^22, of capital murder,
and was sentenced to death, based on incident in which
defendant allegedly entered district attorney's home and shot
and killed district attorney and district attorney's wife.
Defendant directly and automatically appealed,

[71 probative value of display containing weapons seized
from defendant's storage unit was not substantially
outweighed by danger of unfair prejudice, and thus display
was admissible during punishment phase.

Affirmed.

West Headnotes (40)

Holdings: The Court of Criminal Appeals, Keasler. J», held
that:

[11 Homicide
irst Degree, GapilaL .-or Aggravated Murder

[11 circumstantial evidence was sufficient to support finding
that defendant intentionally or knowingly murdered more than
one person daring same criminal transaction, as was required
to support conviction for capital murder;

[21 evidence was sufficient to support jury's affirmative
answer to future dangerousness special issue, as was required
to sentence defendant to death following conviction for
capital murder;

[31 use of single jury verdict form that allowed jury to retail
general verdict during guilt phase did not violate defendant's
right to unanimous jury verdict;

[41 State provided defendant with reasonable notice that State

WEStlAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.



Williams v. State, Not Reported in S.W.3d (2017)

Circumstantial evidence was sufficient to support
finding that defendant intentionally or knowingly
murdered more than one person during same
criminal transaction, as was required to support
defendant's conviction for capital murder based
on his alleged murder of district attorney and
district attorney's wife; perpetrator entered
victims' home and shot them multiple times,
district attorney had represented State during
prosecution of defendant for separate felony
offense, defendant was known as firearms "buff"
who owned number of firearms, defendant lied to
police about number of weapons and cell phones
he owned and whether he had conducted online
searches for information about district attorney,
and evidence found in defendant's storage unit
linked him to murder weapon, Tex> Penal Code
Aim. S$;i

Jury
^PnnisMient prescribed for offense

Fact that venire member's responses concerning
future dangerousness special issue were
vacillating and contradictory did not entitle
defendant to strike venire member for cause,
during voir dire in capital murder trial in which
State sought death penalty, where venire member
indicated that he understood that not every
defendant found guilty of capital murder was
future danger, but also suggested that he believed
that anyone who was guilty of intentional murder
would be future danger, and, further, venire
member indicated that he understood that State
had to prove future dangerousness special issue
beyond reasonable doubt, but he also stated that
he believed that person who intentionally killed
another person would be future danger. Tex,
Ciiitu Prbc; Code Ann, art 37.071 S 2fcl

Cases that cite this headnote

[21 Sentencing and Punishment

Evidence was sufficient to support jury's
affirmative answer to future dangerousness
special issue, as was required to sentence
defendant to death following conviction for
capital murder based on defendant's alleged
murder of district attorney, who had previously
prosecuted defendant, and district attorney's wife;
defendant also murdered assistant district attorney
who assisted with defendant's prior prosecution,
defendant told witness that district attorney's wife
would have to die because she would be a witness
and described her murder as "collateral damage,5'
defendant was happy before and after he
committed murders, defendant planned to kill
judge who presided over defendant's prior
prosecution, and also planned to kill second
judge, who had nothing to do with prior
prosecution. Tex. Grim* ProG» Code. Arm, art*
37.071 ardent Tex, Penal Code Ann, .$8.

Cases that crte this headnote

141 Jury
*HPreMal publicity

Venire member had not formed any conclusions
or opinions about defendant's guilt or innocence
based on the media coverage that venire member
had seen, and thus defendant was not entitled to
have venire member struck for cause, during voir
dire in capital murder trial in which State sought
death penalty, where venire member stated that he
had not formed opinion about whether defendant
was guilty, that he had avoided media stories
about case since learning that he was in pool of
prospective jurors, and that he would consider
evidence, pay close attention to details presented
to jury, and listen to what the other members of
jury had to say, and venire member reiterated that
he presumed that defendant was innocent and that
State had to prove its case beyond reasonable
doubt. Tex. CrSm. Proc* Code Ann* art

- Tex, Penal Code Ann. $ 19.03.

Cases that -cite this headnote Cases that cite this headnote

WESTLAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works,



Williams v. State, Not Reported in S.W.Sd (2017)

111 Jury
^Pmishment prescribed for oflense

Venire member's responses, during voir dire in
capital murder case in which State sought death
penalty, indicated that venire member could keep
open mind and consider full punishment range for
lesser-included offense of murder, and thus trial
court was within its discretion in denying
defendant's challenge to venire member for cause,
where venire member affirmed that range of five
years to life for intentional murder was "fair,"
depending on facts, and although venire member
later stated that he did not "know about a five
year sentence [,]" on further questioning he
indicated that he could keep an open mind and
perhaps find five-year sentence to be appropriate,
Tex. Grim. Prbc, Code Ann, arts. 35JL6fbyg-\; Tex. Penal Code Ann. .$ 19.03.

121 Jury
.opinions and conscientious- scruples

Defendant was not entitled to voir dire venire
member on whether venire member could
consider background evidence in mitigation, in
capital murder case in which State sought death
penalty, and to extent that venire member was
questioned about mitigating evidence, he was not
challengeable for cause based on assertions that
he would have hard time considering background
evidence as mitigating, where venire member
stated that he could keep an open mind regarding
mitigation, and after listening to prosecutor's
explanation of special issues, affirmed that he
could "at least consider" mitigation evidence and
"be open to it," Tex> Grim. Proc. Code Ann, arts.
35.16(W3X 3S.16fcy2J: Tex. Penal Code Ann, S
19.03.

Cases that ciLe this headnote Cases that jQite this headrrote

Jury
»»Weiglit and .effect of evidence

Venire member's responses, during voir dire in
capital murder case in which State sought death
penalty, indicated that venire member would hold
State to its burden of proving all of elements of
offense beyond reasonable doubt, and thus trial
court was within its discretion in denying
defendant's challenge to venire member for cause,
where venire member stated that he would hold
State to its burden of proof, and that he would
find defendant not guilty if he had reasonable
doubt as to any element of offense, and although
venire member acknowledged that it would be
"tough" to find defendant not guilty if State
proved every element except a "technicality,"
venire member asserted that he would "make the
right decisions[,]" Tex, Crim» Proa Code Ami,
arts. 35;IgflflC3X 35.16(0X2^: Tex. Penal Code

Gases that -cits this heftdiiote

JH Jury
<HPimisrment prescribed for offense

Venire member was not "mitigation impaired,"
and thus was not challengeable for cause, in voir
dire in capital murder case in which State sought
death penalty, although venire member asserted
that he did not think that evidence of defendant's
background and environment carried "much
weight" in mitigation, where venire member also
indicated that he did not believe that someone
should be deemed a threat to. society simply
because he had been found guilty, venire member
affirmed that he would want to consider factors
such as motive and background before sentencing
someone to death, and venire member agreed that
after answering future dangerousness question
affirmatively, he would still need to consider
other special issues before deciding on
punishment, Tex. Penal Code Ann.. § 19,03,

Gases that cite this headndte

[91 Jury
^Weight and .effect of evidence

WHSTLAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works,



Williams v. State, Not Reported in S.W.3d (2017)

Venire member's responses, during voir dire in
capital murder case in which State sought death
penalty, indicated that venire member could set
aside media coverage and determine defendant's
guilt or innocence based solely on evidence
presented, and that she would afford defendant
the presumption of innocence, and thus venire
member could not be challenged for cause, where
venire member stated that she could presume
defendant innocent until she heard evidence
proving that he was guilty, and that she
understood that State had burden of proof, and
although venire member acknowledged that she
had heard about case on the news, she maintained
that she could set such information aside. Tex»
Penal Code Arm. $ 19.03..

Gases that cite this headnote

Trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying
defendant's challenge to venire member for cause
based on defendant's contention that venire
member's responses indicated that venire person
would render "automatic death sentence55 upon
finding a person guilty of capital murder, in
capital murder case in which State sought death
penalty, where venire member stated that she
would not vote for death penalty in every capital
murder case, asserted that she would set aside her
personal opinions and base her verdict on law that
she received in courtroom, and said that State
would have to prove future dangerousness special
issue to her before she would answer it
affirmatively, Tex. Penal Cbds Ann, g 19,03.

Cases that cite -this headnote

HOI Jury
^Punishment prescribed for offense.

Trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying
defendant's challenge to venire member for cause
based on venire members definition of
"probability," as in whether there was probability
defendant would commit criminal acts of
violence, in capital murder case in which State
sought death penalty, even though venire
member's responses to questions concerning
meaning of "probability" were vacillating, and
she sometimes defined "probability" as "any
chance at all," while at other times she agreed that
"probability" meant "more likely than not[J"
since defendant, as proponent of challenge, failed
to carefully and adequately explain law
concerning the distinction and determine whether
venire member continued to insist on definition
that was inconsistent with the distinction. Tex.
Banal Code Arm, 3 IS,03..

[121 Jury
^Punishment prescribed for offense

Trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying
defendant's challenge to venire member for cause
based on defendant's contention that venire
member was "mitigation impaired," in capital
murder case in which State sought death penalty,
although venire member confirmed written
answer on her jury questionnaire to effect that she
did not think that genetics, circumstances at birth,
upbringing, and environment should be
considered in assessing punishment, where venire
member also stated that she could consider
mitigating circumstances and answer mitigation
special issue affirmatively, knowing that it would
result in life sentence. Tex, Penal Code Ann, S
19.03.

Gases-that'.-cite this headnote

Gases that cite this headnote [131 Jury
»*Pimisliment prescribed for offense

[111 Jury
fr*Pun!shment prescribed for offense

WESTlAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.



Williams v, State, Not Reported in S.W.3d (2017)

Venire member's responses, during voir dire in
capital murder case in which State sought death
penalty, did not indicate that venire member
would automatically answer future dangerousness
issue affirmatively after finding defendant guilty
of capital murder, and thus venire member could
not be challenged for cause on basis that she was
biased against law that defendant was entitled to
rely upon, although some of venire member's
responses to defendant's questions suggested that
she believed that a person who committed
intentional killing would always be a future
danger, where venire member also stated several
times that she could keep open mind, listen to
both sides, require State to prove future
dangerousness, and weigh all the evidence before
answering the special issues. Tex. Penal Code
Ann, -8.19.03.

Venire member's responses, during voir dire in
capital murder case in which State sought death
penalty, did not indicate that venire member
understood requirements of law and could not
overcome Ms prejudice well enough to follow it,
and thus defendant could not challenge venire
member for cause on basis that venire member
was "mitigation impaired," although venire
member suggested one time that defendants
convicted of certain types of capital murders
deserved death penalty, where venire member
stated that he would consider circumstances of
offense and defendant's character and background
in answering mitigation special issue, and that he
would be able to set aside his personal views in
favor of death penalty and follow law as it had
been explained to him, Tex. Penal Code Ah.ru $
19.03.

Cases that cite this headriofe .Cases that cite this headnote

F141 Jury
<H?unishment prescribed for offense

Venire member's responses, during voir dire in
capital murder case in which State sought death
penalty, did not indicate that venire member
understood requirements of law and could not
overcome her prejudice well enough to follow it,
and thus venire member could not be challenged
for cause on basis that she was biased against
defendant and law upon which defendant was
entitled to rely, although some of venire member's
responses indicated that she believed that all
capital murderers should receive death penalty,
where venire member also stated that she could
keep an open mind concerning mitigation until
she heard evidence, and that she could set aside
her personal feelings and keep an open mind to
punishment evidence and special issues. Tex.
Penal .Code Ann. $ 19.03»

Cases tMt cite this headrvote

1161 Jury
eht prescribed for offense

Venire member's responses, during voir dire in
capital murder case in which State sought death
penalty, did not indicate that venire member
understood requirements of law and could not
overcome his prejudice well enough to follow it,
and thus defendant could not challenge venire
member for cause on basis that venire member
would not be able to give meaningful
consideration to mitigating evidence, although
venire member indicated that he personally
believed that defendants convicted of capital
murder deserved death penalty, where venire
member stated that he could set aside his personal
feelings, follow the law, and consider mitigating
evidence before answering mitigation special
issue. Tex. Penal Code-Ann* ? 19.03.

Gases that cite this headriote

F151 Jury
^Punishment prescribed for offense

[171 Criminal Law
of verdict

WESTLAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters, No claim to original US. Government Works.



Williams v. State, Not Reported in SAA/.3d (2017)

Use of single jury verdict form that allowed jury
to return general verdict during guilt phase of
capital murder trial did not violate defendant's
right to unanimous jury verdict, although
indictment charged defendant with capital murder
as intentional murder committed during
commission of burglary, as well as with capital
murder by murdering more than one person
during same transaction, where same victim was
named in both alternative paragraphs of
indictment. Tex, Penal Code Ann* § 19,03*

Cases that cite this headnote

State provided defendant with reasonable notice
that State intended to introduce photograph of
improvised incendiary device, and thus
photograph was admissible during guilt phase of
trial for capital murder, under rule which
permitted admission of evidence of other crimes,
wrongs, or acts if State provided defendant with
reasonable notice, where clerk's record contained
file-stamped "State's Preliminary Notice of
Extraneous Offenses5' that listed improvised
incendiary device, and certificate of service
reflected that State both mailed and e-mailed
document to defense counsel Tsx» Penal Code
Am..3-19:03: Tex. RvSvId. 404Cbm

F181 Homicide

[191

of previous difficulty

Testimony of judge who presided over
defendant's prior trial for theft was probative of
defendant's intent to murder prosecutor who
represented State in theft trial, and thus judge's
testimony was admissible during guilt phase of
defendant's trial for capital murder of prosecutor
and prosecutor's wife. Tex. Penal Code. Ann, §,
19.03: Tex, R> Evid. 404fbm

Cases that cite this headnote.

Ciirninal Law
^Sufficiency of notice; time forgiving:

Cases that cite this headnote

120] Criminal 1̂
^Identification of-persons, -things, or
substances

State established reliability of testimony of
ballistics expert regarding theory of firearm and
toolmark identification by clear and convincing
evidence, and thus expert's testimony was
admissible at capital murder trial, where expert's
testimony demonstrated that theory and technique
of microscopic firearm and toolmark comparison
were- accepted as valid by relevant scientific
community, that literature existed supporting
underlying theory and technique, that theory and
technique could be clearly explained, and that
other experts were available to test and evaluate
technique, and although expert acknowledged that
precise casework error rate could not be
measured , he po in ted out that
consecutive-manufacture and proficiency studies
provided error rates in context of controlled
studies. Tex. Penal Code Ann. § 19,03: Tex. R.
Evid. 702.

Gases theft cite this headnote

WIESTLAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters, Ho claim to original US. Government Works.



Williams v. State, Not Reported in SAA/.3d (2017)

[211

[221

'Mn-Court Identification
Criminal Law
^Evidence .calculated -to create prejudice
.against or sympathy for accused

In-court identifications of defendant by four
witnesses did not violate due process and were
not unduly prejudicial, under rule which peraiitted
exclusion of relevant eviden.ce if its probative
value was substantially outweighed by danger of
unfair prejudice, and thus such in-court
identifications were admissible in capital murder
trial; defendant did not argue that there was any
substantial likelihood of misidentification, and, in
any event, three of the witnesses knew defendant
before alleged murder occurred, and in-court
identification by fourth witness, who was not
previously acquainted with defendant, was
probative because fourth witness recognized
defendant as man who purchased vehicle used in
murder, LL£L Const, Amend, 14; Tex. Penal Code
Ann. S 19.03: Tex, R, Bv!d. 403.

Gases that cite this headnote

Sentencing and Pmiisliment
c^.Gonduet of Hearing

Defendant failed to exercise diligence in tying to
obtain expert assistance concerning his brain
scans and failed to show that circumstances
prevented him from realizing earlier that he
required assistance, and thus defendant was not
entitled to continuance of punishment phase of
capital murder trial so that he could obtain brain
scans, notwithstanding defendant's contention that
brain scans could have been mitigating evidence,
where defendant's first mention of brain scans
came six months after his motion for expert
pathologist, which referenced need to investigate
his medical history and mental health, and
although defendant filed motion seeking funds for
expert to order brain scans, he did not provide
support for motion until holiday weekend
immediately preceding first day of trial. Tex.
Penal Code Ami.S 19.03.

Cases that cite this headnote-

[231 .Orfminal Law
.authorities

Defendant failed to adequately brief contention
that he was denied due process of law by trial
court's bias against defendant, and thus Court of
Criminal Appeals would decline to consider such
contention, notwithstanding fact that defendant
provided still images or "screen shots" taken from
audiovisual recording of trial proceedings the
purportedly demonstrated trial judge's
unfavorable demeanor toward defense; defendant
did not assert, and he did not provide, record
citation demonstrating, that he complained of
judicial bias at trial, and he did not provide any
authority for proposition that such error was
immune from ordinary principles of procedural
default, ULS. .Const Amend. 14,

Cases-.thai .eitfe: this headndte

[241 SenteiioiriE and Punishment
c^Qther offenses., charges, or misconduct

WESTLAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters, No claim to original U.S. Government Works.



Williams v. State, Not Reported in S.W.3d (2017)

Audiovisual recording from dashboard camera of
police car that depicted scene of prior murder
allegedly committed by defendant was not more
prejudicial than probative and was not likely to
inflame jury, and thus recording was admissible
during punishment phase of capital murder trial,
where first part of recording silently depicted
route to murder scene, while remainder^
accompanied by audio, depicted police officer's
arrival at scene, his administration of CPR upon
victim, his efforts in ensuring that victim was
loaded properly into ambulance, and his leaving
scene to search for suspect, recording aided jury
in better understanding officer's testimony, and
audio portion of recording was not unduly
emotional or inflammatory and voices on
recording generally remained level and calm, Tex.
Penal-Code-Ann. S I9.Q3;Tex> .R. Bv!d..4Q3,

Gases that .site this headnote

[251 SentenGinE and Punishment
^Harmless and reversible error

Trial court's errors, if any, during punishment
phase of capital murder trial, in permitting
prosecutor to question witness about how witness
was affected by news of prior victim's murder,
and in admitting witness's identification of
photograph of prior victim's body, were harmless;
other testimony concerning prior victim's
character and effects of his murder on others in
community had already been admitted into
evidence without objection, and, further, as
evidence of range and severity of defendant's
other criminal conduct, witness's identification of
photograph was evidence relevant to sentence.
Tex, Crlm.Pros. Code Ann, art 37.071 § 2fa)f 11:
Tex» Penal Code Ann. $ 19.03.

Gases that cite this headnote

State's cross-examination of defendant's expert
witness, during punishment phase of capital
murder trial, regarding conduct of other inmates
in Texas prison system did not elicit irrelevant
evidence and did not effectively punish defendant
for other inmates' misconduct, and thus State's
cross-examination did not violate defendant's
Eighth Amendment right to individualized
punishment decision; such evidence was relevant
to rebut defendant's contention that he would not
be a future danger if he received sentence of life
in prison without possibility of parole, rather than
death penalty, and to test expert's opinion that
prison security measures would ensure that
defendant would not be a future danger. U.S.
Const. Amend, & Tex. Penal Code Ann. .$ 19.03.

Cases that cite this headnote.

[271 Sentencingand Punishment
v^Oflier-offettses. char£esv or misconduct

Probative value of display containing weapons
seized from defendant's storage unit was not
substantially outweighed by danger of unfair
prejudice, and thus display was admissible during
punishment phase of capital murder trial, although
State had already presented photographs of
weapons and so its need for display was,
arguably, slight, where display illustrated for jury,
in way that previous testimony and photographs
of individual weapons had not, that defendant had
assembled and secreted well-organized and
substantial arsenal, and number and variety of
weapons, and their careful arrangement suggested
that defendant anticipated using storage unit as his
"base" for future activities and demonstrated that
defendant's plans were not limited to murders he
had already committed. Tex* Penal Code Ann. S
19.03: Tex. R. EvidL 403.

Gases that-cite -this headnote

[261 Sentencing: and Punishment
^Expertevidence [281 GonstitutfoMl Law

^Olher particular kinds or items of -evidence
Sentencing and Punishment
^Demonstrative evidence
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[291

State's use of display containing weapons seized
from defendant's storage unit was not
fundamentally unfair, and thus allowing jury to
view display during punishment phase of capital
murder trial did not violate defendant's rights to
due process, since there was nothing
fundamentally unfair about allowing jury to view
actual firearms and other weapons that defendant
had amassed in his "base of operations" from
which he had already committed three murders,
U.S. Const. Amend, 14; Tex. Penal Code Ann, £
19.03,

Gases that -cite thfs headnote

Sentencing and Punishment
to Jury

State's erroneous admission of 13 weapons during
punishment phase of capital murder trial did not
entitle defendant to mistrial; State recalled expert
witness to identify erroneously admitted weapons
and then withdrew weapons from evidence, "over
40 something55 weapons were properly admitted
and remained in evidence after State withdrew
erroneously admitted weapons, and trial court's
instruction that jury disregard erroneously
admitted weapons was sufficient to cure any
harm. Tex. Penal Code Ann, S I&03.

Cases .flat cite this•headhote

[30] Sentencing and Punishment
<HAdmissifaBitv'

Trial court did not abuse its discretion by
sustaining State's relevance objection to question
defendant asked former district attorney,
regarding whether former district attorney had
personal experience with successor district
attorney antagonizing former district attorney's
supporters, during punishment phase of capital
murder trial arising from defendant's alleged,
murder of successor district attorney; defendant
did not specifically ask former district attorney
whether former district attorney had personal
experience with successor district attorney
antagonizing defendant, and, further, because
inquiry did not relate to defendant's own
circumstances, its exclusion did not undermine
defendant's Eighth Amendment right to
individualized sentencing determination, U,S.
Const Amend, 8: Tex, Penal Code Ann. S19 J3.

Cases that cite this•••faeadnofe

[311 Sentencing .and Punishment

Testimony of former district attorney, that
successor district attorney was not type of person
to forget grudge, and that successor district
attorney still remembered letter that defendant
had published in support of former district
attorney, was speculative, and thus was
inadmissible during punishment phase of capital
murder trial arising from defendant's alleged
murder of successor district attorney, since
defendant did not establish that former district
attorney had personal knowledge of whether
successor district attorney had forgotten about
defendant's letter. Tex. Penal Code Ann. ? 19.03:

Gases that cite this headnote

[321 Sentatteinaand Punishment
reversible error
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[331

Trial court's error, if any, during punishment
phase of capital murder trial, in excluding as
irrelevant the testimony of former district attorney
that former district attorney immediately
suspected defendant in connection with murder of
successor district attorney and assistant district
attorney and that he asked State to review
transcript of defendant's prior trial for theft and
burglary, which was prosecuted by successor
district attorney and assistant district attorney,
was harmless; jury was already aware of prior
trial and that it motivated defendant to commit
murders, and defendant presented testimony of his
friend, who testified that she had personally
watched prior trial and expressed opinion that
defendant was wrongly convicted. Tsx. Psnal.
•Qftde:-Ann. S 19*03,

Gases that cite tills headnote-

.Sentencing and Punishment
^Harmless and reversible -error

Trial court's error, if any, in excluding as
irrelevant a video recording of defendant's high
school graduation, during punishment phase of
capital murder trial, was harmless,
notwithstanding defendant's contention that his
strategy was to show that his conduct in
committing murders was "an aberration in a long
life of achievement/3 where defendant presented
testimony from his junior high and high school
friends and their parents, and from his Boy Scout
troop leader and high school teacher who had
sponsored defendant's interscholastic academic
competitions, and witnesses recalled that
defendant was friendly, helpful, hard working,
well behaved, and intelligent, and defendant also
introduced numerous photographs of himself as a
baby, child, adolescent, teenager, and adult. Tex.
Penal Code Ann. $ 1&03.

[36]

Evidence concerning witness's disbarment was not
relevant, and thus was not admissible at
punishment phase of capital murder trial, since
evidence did not involve defendant in any way,
and thus did not tend to make existence of any
fact that was of consequence to determination of
action more or less probable, Tsx. Penal Gbde

19.03,

lieadnote

[351 Sentencing and Punishment:

Witness's testimony regarding defendant's prior
convictions for theft and burglary, that prior
prosecution for such offenses was politically
motivated, was speculative, irrelevant, and unduly
prejudicial, and thus was not admissible at
punishment phase of capital murder trial;
witness's testimony would have communicated
only her opinion that prior prosecution was
politically motivated, without any showing that
witness had personal knowledge of matter or that
her opinion was rationally based on her
perception and helpful to determining a fact in
issue, and, to extent that witness had personal
knowledge of matter, trial court allowed her to
testify, Tex. Penal Code Ann. $ 19,03.

Cases that cite this headndte

Sentencing and Punishment
^Opinion evldfense

.Cases that cite this headnote

[341 Sentencing and Punishment
^Admisslbilitv
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Witness's testimony regarding defendant's prior
trial for theft and burglary, that prior trial was
unfair because "there were things that had the jury
known might have made a difference in that
case[,]" was speculative, irrelevant, and unduly
prejudicial, and thus was not admissible at
punishment phase of capital murder trial; witness
testified that she was present during "quite a bit"
of prior trial, but offer of proof revealed that
witness would have testified to her view that prior
trial was unfair based on unspecified "things" that
jury did not hear, and thus witness's view was
predicated on unspecified information that
witness had not acquired through watching prior
trial, and, moreover, defendant failed to inquire
into nature of "things'3 or source of witness's
knowledge. Tex> Penal Code Ann, g 1 9.03 .

Cases that cits this headnotfe

[371 Sentencing and Punishment

Witness's testimony regarding comments made to
witness by assistant district attorney, in which
assistant district attorney referred to defendant as
witness's "thief friend," was not relevant, and thus
was not admissible at punishment phase of capital
murder trial, since there was no evidence that
defendant was aware of comments, and, further,
to extent that witness's testimony was evidence
that assistant district attorney's prior prosecution
of defendant for theft and burglary was selective
or overzealous, exclusion of comments was
harmless because it was cumulative of similar
testimony by other witnesses. Tex* Beiial Code
AnivS 19.03.

[391

Defendant's written offer of proof concerning
witness's testimony failed to preserve for appeal
defendant's argument that trial court erred by
excluding witness's testimony from punishment
phase of capital murder trial, since written offer of
proof did not reasonably summarize testimony
given by witness during oral offer of proof. Tex.
Penal Code.Ann. $ 19,03.

Casesi that cite -this headnote

Sentencing, and Pimishment
reversible error'

[401

Trial court's error, if any, in excluding from
punishment phase of capital murder trial
testimony of witness regarding defendant's prior
trial for theft and burglary, namely, whether it was
"natural" for cases involving politicians to be
treated "differently[,]" whether, in witness's
personal experience, "other county officials" had
been "caught with their hand[s] in the cookie jar
[,]" and whether witness had any personal
experience with "other county officials" being
prosecuted "differently[,]" was harmless, since
defendant elicited substantially similar testimony
from different witness. Tex, Penal Code Ann. §
19.03.

Gases that site .this headnote

Sentencing and PitnMiment
^Harmless and, reversible error

Cases that cite .tills headnote

[381 Senteftcma mid Punishment
^Presentation grid reservation in lower court of
.grounds of review,
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Trial court's error, if any, in excluding as
irrelevant the testimony of witness regarding
whether witness would have been embarrassed if
he had been found guilty of theft was harmless
error, during punishment phase of capital murder
trial; jury had already received evidence that
murder victims, who were district attorney and
assistant district attorney, had previously
prosecuted defendant for theft and burglary,
causing defendant to lose his livelihood and his
status in community, there was no dispute that
victims' roles in obtaining prior convictions
constituted defendant's motive for committing
murders, and thus whether witness would have
been '"embarrassed15 did not tend to make
existence of any fact that was of consequence
more or less probable, Tex. Penal Code Ann. $
19,03.

Cases that cite this faeadriote

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM CAUSE NO. 32021-422 IN
THE 422*° DISTRICT COURT, KAUFMAN COUNTY

Attorneys and Law Firms

John Q,.Tatuify Brady Thomas Wvalt III, for Appellant

Frederfcka Sfearte Sargent. William Hawthorne Wtrsfcys, for
The State of Texas,

OPINION

In his twenty-second and fortieth points of error, Williams
challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support his
conviction and the jury's affirmative answer to the future
dangerousness special issue. We will address these claims
first. The remaining points of error will be addressed in the
order presented in Williams's appellate brief,

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE:
GUILT/INNOCENCE

[11m point of error twenty-two, Williams argues that the
evidence is legally insufficient to support his conviction for
capital murder, Williams asserts that the evidence is legally
insufficient because there was no proof of a burglary, in that
there was no evidence of a forced entry or an entry by
deception into the McLellands1 home. Additionally, he argues
that none of the State's witnesses at the guilt phase placed him
at the scene of the murder or heard him threaten to kill the
McLellands. Williams further asserts that he was linked to the
McLelland murders by no direct evidence and by very little
circumstantial evidence. He argues that the State did not prove
either of its capital murder theories—murder in the course of
committing burglary or multiple murders—beyond a
reasonable doubt He reasons that there was no proof that he
shot and killed anyone because the "forensics and physical
evidence55 did not point to a specific person. Rather, Williams
asserts, the State's evidence pointed to a storage unit to which
he did not have exclusive access.

Williams also asserts that the State's forensic computer data
did not prove that he sent any of the messages attributed to
him by the State, In addition, he notes that there was no
evidence of calls, texts, or e-mail sent from the cellular
telephones that were seized from him during the investigation.
He also points out that there was no tracking data from those
phones that connected them to the offense.

Keasler, J,, delivered the opinion for a unanimous Court.

*1 In December 2014, a jury convicted Williams of capital
murder J Pursuant to the jury's answers to the special issues set
forth in the Texas Code of Criminal .Procedrtm. Articfe37J57L
sections 2(b\d 2(eX the trial judge sentenced Williams to
death,^ Direct appeal to this Court is automatic.^ After
reviewing Williams's forty points of error, we find them to be
without merit. Consequently, we affirm the trial court's
judgment and sentence of death.

Analysis

In assessing the legal sufficiency of the evidence to support a
capital murder conviction, we consider all of the evidence in
the light most favorable to the verdict and determine whether,
based on that evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom,
any rational juror could have found the essential elements of
the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.^ "The reviewing court
must give deference to 'the responsibility of the trier of fact to
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fairly resolve conflicts in testimony, to weigh the evidence,
and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate
facts.5 "* Each fact need not point directly and independently
to the appellant's guilt, as long as the cumulative force of all
the incriminating circumstances is sufficient to support the
conviction,6

*2 The State may prove a defendant's identity and criminal
culpability by either direct or circumstantial evidence, coupled
with all reasonable inferences from that evidence.^ A lack of
direct evidence is not necessarily dispositive of the issue of
guilt* This is especially so when the defendant takes steps to
eliminate witnesses and conceal other forms of evidence,*
Circumstantial evidence is as probative as direct evidence in
establishing guilt, and circumstantial evidence alone may be
sufficient^ On appeal, we use the same standard of review for
both circumstantial and direct evidence cases,11

The law provides that a person commits murder when he
intentionally or knowingly causes the death of an individual.^
It is both a common-sense inference and an appellate
presumption that a person intends the natural consequences of
his acts, and that the act of pointing a loaded gun at someone
and shooting it toward that person at close range demonstrates
an intent to kill,"

In this case, the trial judge instructed jurors that, if they
believed from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that, on
or about March 30, 2013, Williams "did then and there
intentionally cause the death of an individual, Cynthia
McLelland, by shooting her with a firearm, in the course of
attempting to commit or committing burglary of a habitation
of Cynthia McLelland," or if they believed from the evidence
beyond a reasonable doubt that Williams "did then and there
murder more than one person during the same criminal
transaction, to wit: intentionally or knowingly cause the death
of an individual, Michael McLelland, by shooting him with a
firearm," and "intentionally or knowingly cause the death of
another individual, Cynthia McLelland, by shooting her with
a firearm," then the jury would find Williams guilty of capital
murder as charged in the indictment. The jury found Williams
guilty of capital murder "as charged in the indictment,"

The trial judge's charge authorized the jury to convict on
alternative theories. We will uphold the verdict of guilt if the
evidence was sufficient on either theory,^ Contrary to
Williams's position, we need not consider whether the State
proved the underlying felony of burglary because the State
presented ample evidence proving that Williams intentionally
or knowingly murdered more than one person during the same

criminal transaction,

Viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict, the evidence
showed that the McLellands went to bed in their home on
Friday night. On Saturday morning, they were awakened by
their murderer. The perpetrator was in their home for less than
two minutes. The severity and number of the McLellands1

injuries left no room for doubt concerning the perpetrator's
intent to kill the couple,^Uainghigh-vetocity ammiffiitlon* the

shot Cynthia between five and. eight times*
several shots to her chest and abdomen. After

ad fallen to the floor, the perpetrator fired a shot that
entered, the top of her head and exited under her chin,
Additionally, the perpetrator shot Michael at least ten times,
including several shots to his neck, chest, and abdomen. Some
of these shots were fired after Michael was lying on the floor,
The State's evidence proved beyond a reasonable doubt that
the perpetrator intentionally or knowingly caused the deaths of
two people during the same transaction*^

*3 The State's evidence proved that Williams had a motive and
the opportunity to kill Michael McLelland, "Although motive
and opportunity are not elements of murder and are not
sufficient to prove identity, they are circumstances indicative
of guilt"^ The jury learned that Williams had been part of the
legal community of Kaufman County since the early 1990s,
when he began working as a coordinator for the 86lh District
Court. He had also worked or volunteered in law enforcement.
In 1999 or 2000, Williams obtained a law degree and began
practicing law in Kaufman, He became active in the Texas
State Guard in 2008, He was elected as a Justice of the Peace
and took office in January 2011,

The jury further learned that, in June 2011, Williams was
arrested for a felony offense. Kaufman County's elected
District Attorney, Michael McLelland, represented the State
in that matter. Following a March 2012 jury trial resulting in
conviction, Williams was suspended from the practice of law,
discharged from the Texas State Guard, and removed from
elected office. As a result of that felony conviction, Williams
lost his elected office, his law practice, and his Texas State
Guard post. Less than four months before the murders,
Williams confided to an acquaintance that he was having
money problems and that he was <cat the end of his rope,"
Williams also expressed the view that the prosecution against
him had been unfair.

Before his felony conviction, Williams was known to his
friends and acquaintances as a firearms "buff' who owned a
number of firearms. After his felony conviction, he falsely
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informed an acquaintance and law enforcement officials that
he had gotten rid of his firearms, Williams also asked an
acquaintance to help him get rid of an assault rifle "upper
receiver," stating that he wanted to "make sure [the upper
receiver] never sees the light of day.35 Using an assumed name,
Williams paid cash for a retired police car, a white Crown
Victoria. After he bought the Crown Victoria, Williams
continued using his Sport Trac as his personal vehicle,
Williams's conduct before the murders indicated that he was
planning something that he wanted to keep secret^

Less than three months before the offense, Williams lied to his
friend Sergeant Major Barton "Rodger" Williams to persuade
him to rent a storage unit—"Unit 18"—that was about the size
of a one-car garage. Williams's home in Kaufman was
approximately twenty miles south of the McLellands1 home in
Forney. The storage unit in Seagoville was roughly fifteen
miles northwest of Kaufman and approximately fifteen miles
southwest of the McLellands1 home.

The storage facility opened at 6:00 a.m. daily. So on Saturday,
March 3 0, Williams had the opportunity to drive to the storage
unit, exchange his black Sports Trac for the Crown Victoria,
and retrieve a weapon and ammunition around 6:00 a.m.; drive
to the McLellands1 home and murder them around 6:40 a.m.;
return to the storage unit, exchange the Crown Victoria for his
Sports Trac, and leave the car, weapon, and ammunition in the
storage unit; and then return to his home in Kaufman, Security
video confirmed that, at the re levant times, a black Sports Trac
and a light-colored Crown Victoria entered and exited the
storage facility, The security camera captured no other
vehicles entering or leaving the storage facility during those
times. Approximately two weeks after the instant offense, the
Crown Victoria, multiple firearms, ammunition, and a
ballistics vest and sheriffs patch were recovered from the
storage unit,

*4 Evidence showed that Williams lied to police about the
number of weapons and cell phones he owned and whether he
had conducted online searches for information about
McLelland. The GSR testing results were inconsistent with
William's statements that he had not fired a gun in months.
And evidence found in Williams's home linked him to the tips
provided to Crime Stoppers regarding the criminal conduct.

The State presented evidence that messages had been sent
from Williams's computer and user profile using The Onion
Router ("TOR") network and that Crime Stoppers had
received threatening messages from the TOR network, Crime
Stoppers had received a threatening message from the TOR

network several minutes after a message was sent from
Williams's computer using the TOR browser, which was
consistent with the message to Crime Stoppers having come
from Williams's computer. The State also presented evidence
that someone in Williams's home had written down unique
identifying alphanumeric sequences that were generated by
TipSubmit and associated with those threatening messages.
The jury could infer from this evidence that Williams had sent
the threatening messages to Crime Stoppers and that he had
used the TOR network in an attempt to prevent law
enforcement officials from tracing the messages back to him.

Additionally, evidence found in the storage unit linked
Williams to the murder weapon. Williams's fingerprints were
found on the Crown Victoria and on one of the weapons
recovered from Unit 18. Although the assault-rifle upper
receiver that fired the bullets that killed the McLellands was
never recovered, ballistics examination revealed that the
bullets that killed the McLellands were fired from the same
upper receiver that had chambered a live round recovered
from a bag in Unit 18. Some fired bullets recovered from
underneath a bridge between Kaufman and Seagoville were
also found to have been fired from that upper receiver, This
evidence suggested that the same person who killed the
McLellands had accessed Unit 18 and had used the area under
the bridge to practice shooting the murder weapon.

Williams also argues on appeal that the State did not prove
that he was the perpetrator because Williams's wife Kim and
his friend Rodger had access to Unit 18. However, "[fjor the
evidence to be sufficient, the State need not disprove all
reasonable alternative hypotheses that are inconsistent with the
defendant's guilt "̂  We will not usurp the role of the factfinder
by factoring into our sufficiency analysis an alternative
hypothesis inconsistent with Williams's guilty

Williams complains that the State did not prove that he sent
the electronic messages to Crime Stoppers, He also complains
that the State offered no cell phone tracking data or cell phone
communications linking him to the offense. Again, however,
the State was not required to disprove every alternative
hypothesis inconsistent with Williams's guilt. In this light, the
lack of cell phone tracking data or cell phone communications
linking Williams to the offense is not ultimately fatal, The
State's evidence demonstrated that Williams took measures to
avoid leaving evidence that could link him to the offense. The
fact that he was partially successful does not mean that the
State's evidence was insufficient^ Ultimately, any lack of
direct evidence in the State's case is attributable to Williams's
calculated decision to execute the only witness who could
have provided direct evidence of guilt. And the jury could
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reasonably infer from the ample circumstantial evidence that
Williams was guilty of capital murder. Point of error
twenty-two is overruled,

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE; PUNISHMENT

*5 £2]In point of error forty, Williams asserts that the evidence
is legally insufficient to support the jury's affirmative answer
to the future dangerousness special issue, Williams asserts that
the evidence is legally insufficient to show his future
dangerousness because he had no prior violent offense
convictions and defense witnesses testified that he "essentially
was a low risk of future dangerousness while incarcerated,"
Williams urges that, before these "isolated and factually
connected incidents," he lived "a good, normal, law-abiding
life of practicing law, taking court appointments, and helping
people in the Court system," He also asserts that he diligently
discharged his duties as a justice of the peace.

consider all of the evidence presented at both the guilt and
punishment stages of trial.f The jury may consider a variety of
factors when determining whether a defendant will pose a
continuing threat to society.^The circumstances of an offense
alone, if severe enough, can be sufficient to sustain an
affirmative finding as to a defendant's future dangerousness,^
"[T]his Court has repeatedly said that, if the circumstances of
the case are sufficiently cold-blooded or calculated, then those
facts alone may support a finding of future dangerousness,"^

*6 The State presented evidence at punishment that Williams
had committed another murder before he killed the
McLellands. Specifically, on the morning of January 31,2013,
Williams murdered Mark Hasse, the assistant district attorney
who helped McLelland prosecute Williams's 2012 theft and
burglary case. In preparation for the offense, Williams
researched Hasse's home address and surveilled Hasse's
neighborhood, He purchased a Mercury Sable that he found in
an online advertisement and used it to travel to and from the
scene of the murder.

Williams also notes that, while he was in custody in Kaufman
and Rockwall Counties, he was "compliant with institutional
authorities." He asserts that he had no disciplinary infractions
or negative interactions with law enforcement officials,
Williams points out that both the State and the defense
presented evidence that the instant offenses were motivated by
a desire for revenge against "a few politicians who ruined his
life," and not by any broader impulse toward violence against
society in general. Appellant argues that the circumstances that
motivated him to commit these offenses would not exist in
prison, and therefore he would not be a future danger if
sentenced to life in prison.

Wearing a tactical vest, a black mask, and army boots, and
carrying two handguns, Williams confronted Hasse on the
sidewalk in front of the courthouse as Hasse was walking to
his office. After a brief encounter during which Williams
shoved Hasse and Hasse cried, "I'm sorry, I'm sorry,"
Williams shot Hasse four or five times with one handgun. He
fired several of these shots after Hasse was lying on the
sidewalk. After emptying that gun, Williams pulled out a
second handgun and continued firing at Hasse, He also fired
shots into the air as he walked away from Hasse. He then
climbed into the Sable and drove away.

Analysts

When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the
jury's future dangerousness determination, we view the
evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict and
determine whether, based on that evidence and reasonable
inferences therefrom, any rational trier of fact could have
found beyond a reasonable doubt that there is a probability
that an appellant would commit criminal acts of violence
constituting a continuing threat to society.^ The future
dangerousness special issue focuses upon the internal
restraints of the individual, not merely the external restraints
of incarceration^ Further, we do not weigh the evidence of
future dangerousness against countervailing evidence,^

In determining the special issues, the jury is entitled to

The evidence that Williams planned and executed the murders
of three people in two separate incidents supports the jury's
finding of future dangerousness, Williams prepared and
executed detailed plans to shoot and kill both of the
prosecutors who had successfully convicted him. His wife,
Kim, testified that Williams grew "angrier and angrier" after
those convictions. He formulated detailed plans for murdering
the people he believed had wronged him. He primarily blamed
Hasse for his convictions, and he murdered Hasse first. He
ambushed Hasse outside the courthouse, shooting him multiple
times, and then he fired shots into the air to scare bystanders
and effectuate his escape. After Williams killed Hasse, he was
happy and ready to kill his next victim.

While telling Kim about his plans to kill McLelland, he stated
that Cynthia McLelland would also have Co die because she
would be a witness, He described her murder as "collateral
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damage," Immediately after killing the McLellands, Williams
was happy. Later that day, his mood was "joyous" as he grilled
steaks at his in-laws1 house, That evening, he disposed of the
weapons he had used to kill Hasse, Far from showing any
signs of remorse, Williams felt happy before and after he
committed these murders. As the murder investigations
proceeded, Williams enjoyed the media attention. He mocked
the murder investigations, talked about killing the
investigators, and submitted false Crime Stopper "tips,"

Not satisfied with the three murders he had already committed,
Williams proceeded with plans to kill additional victims, He
planned a particularly gruesome death for his third anticipated
victim, Judge Ashworth, whom he had contemplated
murdering since 2007. He "scoped, out" Judge Ashworth's
house and farm, and he assembled the supplies he intended to
use. He wanted to make Judge Ashworth's murder particularly
gruesome in retaliation for Judge Ashworth's having shared
negative information about him with the District Attorney's
office in 2012. Williams also intended to kill Judge Wiley,
who had declined to approve his excessive bills in 2008,
because he felt she had "screwed him over for money,"

The record does not support Williams's description of his
offenses as "isolated and factually connected incidents"
motivated by his desire for revenge against "a few politicians
who ruined his life," Williams fully anticipated murdering
Cynthia as "collateral damage" because she would be a
witness to her husband's murder. He told Kim about going
back to shoot Cynthia again after he killed Michael because
she was "still moaning," Williams's words and actions
demonstrated a general disregard for human life,^

*7 Although Williams did not formulate specific plans to kill
Judge Ashworth until after Williams's 2012 conviction,
Williams had talked to Kim as early as 2007 about killing him
because he was "prissy" and "got mad all the time" at "their
lunch buddies/5 Moreover, Williams's motive for killing his
fourth anticipated victim, Judge Wiley—his feeling that Wiley
had "screwed him over for money" in 2008—had nothing to
do with Williams's 2012 convictions or with his desire for
revenge against the "few politicians" whom he blamed for
"ruinjmg] his life,"

In addition to the three murders Williams had committed and
the two murders that he was planning at the time of his arrest,
Williams had a general history of making threats when he
became angry or wanted to control others, He threatened to
kill other attorneys over perceived insults and injuries. He also
threatened to kill his wife Kim, He fired a gun at or near Kim,

and she believed that he had done so intentionally. Williams
had threatened a former girlfriend with a gun in an effort to
keep her from walking away from him, and he had pointed a
gun at a couple in a church parking lot where he was trying to
catch his dog, Williams had also threatened to hit his elderly
and ill father-in-law during a dispute over cell phone charges.

Viewing the future dangerousness evidence in the light most
favorable to the verdict, we conclude that a rational trier of
fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that there
was a probability that Williams would commit criminal acts of
violence constituting a continuing threat to society. Point of
error forty is overruled.

JURY VOIR DIRE

In points of error one through thirteen, Williams contends that
the trial judge erred in denying his challenges for cause against
thirteen venire members. He identifies James Freeman, Daniel
Chapman, Jerry Wasler, Bryan Campbell, Kelly Shivers,
Brooke Pad achy, Nicole Vanwey, Larry Hollifield, Scott
Hooper, Sally Williams, David Phillips, Jerry Bolton, and
Lesli Mutschler.

When a trial judge denies a defendant's valid challenge for
cause, forcing him to use a peremptory strike on a venire
member who should have been removed, the defendant is
harmed if he would have used that peremptory strike on
another objectionable juror^

Article 35.15(a) provides that, in capital cases in which the
State seeks the death penalty, the defendant is entitled to
fifteen peremptory strikes.^ In this case, Williams exhausted
his fifteen peremptory strikes and received two additional
strikes. After he exhausted those strikes, Williams requested
and was denied an additional peremptory strike to use against
Mutschler, He identified Mutschler as an objectionable juror
who would not have sat on the jury, but for the denial of an
additional strike.^ Because appellant received two additional
peremptory strikes, he was harmed only if the record reflects
that the trial judge erroneously denied his challenges for cause
to at least three venire members, so that he was forced to use
peremptory strikes against them,"

*8 Contrary to Williams's representations on appeal, however,
the record shows that Williams failed to challenge Mutschler
for cause, Further, our review of the voir dire record
concerning the other complained-of venire members reveals
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that Williams also failed to challenge Bolton for cause.
Accordingly, the trial judge denied Williams's challenges for
cause to eleven of the complained-of venire members, not
thirteen. In our consideration of Williams's challenges for
cause, we need not further discuss the voir dire records of
Mutschler and Bolton,

The standard of review on appeal is whether the trial judge
abused his discretion when he overruled a challenge for
cause.^ Before a prospective juror may be excused for cause
on the basis of bias or prejudice, the law must be explained to
him and he must be asked whether he can follow that law
regardless of his personal views.f The proponent of the
challenge—in this case, Williams—has the burden to show
that the offending venireperson understands the law and
cannot overcome his prejudice well enough to follow it^ In
making this determination, we evaluate the voir dire
examination of the prospective juror as a whole and determine
whether the record shows that the prospective juror's views
would interfere with his ability to serve as a juror and to abide
by the oath." We afford great deference to the court's decision
because the trial judge is present to observe the demeanor of
prospective jurors and to listen to tones of voice.^ Particular
deference is due when the prospective juror's answers are
vacillating, unclear, or contradictory.^

Freeman

£3]On appeal, Williams asserts that Freeman: (1) would not
consider any mitigating evidence, as revealed by his written
questionnaire, although he changed his response during
individual voir dire; (2) was more likely to believe the
testimony of a police officer than the testimony of other
witnesses; (3) believed any capital murderer would be a
continuing threat to society; (4) shifted the burden to the
defendant to prove that he would not be a future danger; and
(5) was unqualified because he knew several police officers
who had been killed.

At trial, Williams challenged Freeman for cause solely on the
ground that Freeman would automatically answer the future
dangerousness issue affirmatively if he found a defendant
guilty of capital murder, notwithstanding his voir dire
responses to the effect that he would "wait to see whether the
evidence proved that he would not be a future danger, which
simply shifts the burden of proof from the State to the
defense." The trial judge denied the challenge, To the extent
that WilHams's complaints on appeal do not comport with the
grounds he raised at trial, he failed to preserve error,™ We will
only address Williams's arguments that Freeman believed any

capital murderer would be a continuing threat to society, and
that he shifted the burden to the defendant to prove that he
would not be a future danger.

*9 ArEiole 37.071..:Sfi61feri'2teX requires the State to prove the
future dangerousness special issue beyond a reasonable
doubt^ Therefore, any venire member who would
automatically answer this special issue in the affirmative, or
who would place the burden of proof on the defense, is
challengeable for cause under Article 35,16(c)(2) as having a
bias or prejudice against a law applicable to the case upon
which the defense is entitled to rely.^

During voir dire, Freeman indicated several times that he
would not automatically impose the death penalty after finding
a defendant guilty of capital murder. Rather, he would make
the punishment decision based on the facts and circumstances
of the particular case. Freeman also stated that he understood
that not every defendant found guilty of capital murder was a
future danger. However, some of his responses suggested that
he believed that anyone who was guilty of an intentional
murder committed without legal justification would be a future
danger. When the trial judge questioned him, Freeman
clarified that he would not always answer the future
dangerousness question affirmatively after finding a defendant
guilty of capital murder, Instead, cc[he] would have to hear all
the evidence to make that final determination." He would look
to the facts of the case to determine whether the defendant
would probably be violent to someone else in the future, or
whether the defendant would probably never "do it again,"

Freeman also vacillated in his responses concerning the
burden of proof on the future dangerousness special issue, He
indicated several times that he understoo d that the State had to
prove the future dangerousness special issue beyond a
reasonable doubt and that he would hold the State to that
burden. However, he also stated that he believed that a person
who intentionally killed another person, with no legal excuse
or justification, would be a future danger. Freeman averred
that, if the State could prove that the defendant would "be of
violence to somebody else at some tune else," then "I would
go one way," but if it was proven that the defendant "probably
would never do it again, then I think those would be deciding-
factors of whether or not he gets the death penalty or whether
or not he gets life imprisonment"

Freeman's responses concerning the future dangerousness
special issue were vacillating and contradictory. When a
venire member's answers are vacillating, unclear, or
contradictory, we accord particular deference to the trial
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judge's decision. We conclude that the trial judge did not
abuse his discretion by denying Williams's challenge for cause
to Freeman.

Chapman

HlWilliams asserts that he challenged Chapman for cause
because Chapman had formed an opinion about Williams's
guilt, contrary to Article 35,16(a)(10), and he was biased
against Williams. Williams also adds that Chapman's written
questionnaire answers showed that he would automatically
assess the death penalty after finding a defendant guilty of
capital murder.

At trial, Williams challenged Chapman for cause solely on the
ground that he had formed an opinion of Williams's guilt
based on his detailed knowledge of the facts disseminated by
the news media. Williams argued that, even though Chapman
stated that he could be a fair and impartial juror, his answers
during voir dire indicated that he already believed that some
of the facts about the case that he had learned from the news
were true. To the extent that Williams's complaints on appeal
do not comport with this ground raised at trial, we will not
consider them.

*10 For an accused to receive a fair trial consistent with due
process of law, the jury must determine his guilt or innocence
solely on the basis of the evidence admitted at trial and not on
the basis of facts or allegations appearing in the media."
Article 35.16(a)(l 0) provides that a prospective juror must be
discharged if, from exposure to pre-trial publicity such as
newspaper articles or other media, he forms a conclusion as to
the guilt or innocence of the defendant that would influence
his verdict^ However, if a prospective juror testifies that he
can set aside any outside influences and render a fair and
impartial verdict based upon the evidence presented, the trial
judge acts within his discretion by denying a challenge for
cause,45

Initially, when the prosecutor asked Chapman if he had any
preconceived ideas of the evidence in this case, Chapman
responded that he did not and that he did not "pay a lot of
attention to the local media." He added that he had heard some
discussion of jury selection while listening to the car radio
over the "last couple of days," but he had turned off the radio
when he realized the discussion concerned this case, He stated
that he had not heard anything that caused him to make up his
mind about this case. Chapman asserted several times that he
would afford the defendant the presumption of innocence.

In response to a series of leading questions by defense
counsel, each of which began, "Do you believe that ..,,"
Chapman affirmed that he believed that the McLellands had
died from gunshot wounds, in their home in Kaufman County
as the result of an intentional killing. He believed that, at the
time of the killing, Michael McLelland was the District
Attorney of Kaufman County and Cynthia was his wife.
Chapman stated that he did not know whether the killing was
planned in advance and that "that's yet to be determined,"
although "on the surface, I may have that opinion." He stated
that he did not know if Michael McLelland had prosecuted
Williams in the past.

When asked if he believed that Williams was responsible for
the McLellands' deaths, Chapman responded that he knew that
Williams was accused of that. He assumed that Williams
would not have been accused if there were not some evidence
against him. He stated that he did not know if law enforcement
officers had found the weapon used in the killings. When
asked if he believed that Williams had rented a storage unit "in
the name of another," he acknowledged seeing video footage
of a storage unit with a white automobile in it. He recalled that
the footage had something to do with a suspect in this case, but
he had not heard additional details or formed an opinion about
it. In response to additional questions, Chapman stated that he
did not know if Williams had rented a storage unit in another
person's name or used a Mercury Sable to get to and from a
murder scene. He believed that Williams was married but he
did not recall the spouse's name. He did not know if she had
taken part in the killings, although he believed that she had
been arrested in connection with the McLellands1 deaths. He
did not know if she had been charged with capital murder or
had told police that she took part in the killings.

When asked if he had formed an opinion about whether
Williams was guilty of the crimes charged, Chapman
responded that he had not. He had avoided media stories about
the case since learning that he was in the pool of prospective
jurors. He assured the court that he would not let details he
had learned from media reports "creep into [his]
deliberations." He stated that he would consider the evidence,
pay close attention to the details presented to the jury, and
listen to what the other members of the jury had to say, He
reiterated that he presumed that Williams was innocent and
that the State had to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt.

*11 Chapman repeatedly stated that he had not formed any
conclusions or opinions about Williams's guilt or innocence
based on the media coverage he had seen. We defer to the trial
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judge, who was in the best position to evaluate Chapman's
demeanor and responses. The trial judge did not abuse his
discretion in denying Williams's challenge for cause to
Chapman,

for an intentional murder to be appropriate, He asserted that he
thought he could wait arid I0tthe feots dictate the appropriate
sentence length, but be added that five years seemed "awfully
light," He then confirmed that he could keep an open mind, to
the full range of punishment.

Walser

Williams asserts that Walser could not consider the full
punishment raiige for tite lesser offense of murder, he would
not hold the State to its burden ofproof as to each element of
the offense, and he was "mitigation impaired/' in that he
would not fully and fairly consider a defendant's background
in answering the mitigation special issue, Additionally,
Williams contends that Walser was biased hi favor of law
enforcement officials because he worked as a security
consultant for major corporations.

At trial, defense counsel challenged Walser for cause on the
grounds that he had a bias or prejudice against the law upon
which Williams was entitled to rely, in that he would, not folly
and fairly consider and assess a minimum five-year sentence
for the lesser-included offense of murder, and he would not
hold the State to its burden of proof "on the individual
elements of the indictment," Counsel also challenged Walser
as being "mitigation impaired" and unable to "fully and fairly
consider the defendant's background in answering" the
mitigation special issue. To the extent that Williams's
complaints on appeal do not comport with the grounds he
raised at trial, he failed to preserve error. Therefore, we will
not consider Williams's complaint that Walser had a bias in
favor of law enforcement officials.

"In a criminal trial, both the defendant and the State have the
right to have jurors who believe in the full range of
punishment"^ A prospective juror who states that he cannot
consider the full range of punishment for any offense of which
the accused might be found guilty is challengeable for cause
under Article 35.16(b)(3) and (c)(2) for having a bias or
prejudice against the law,^ The prospective juror must be able
to keep an open mind concerning punishment until he hears
the evidence.^ However, a juror is not challengeable for cause
simply because he cannot immediately envision a scenario in
which the minimum punishment would be appropriate,^

[51In this case, Walser affirmed that the range of five years to
life for an intentional murder was "fair," depending on the
facts. Walser later stated that he did not "know about a five
year sentence." On further questioning, he indicated that he
could keep an open mind and perhaps find a five-year sentence

Walser's responses indicated that he could keep an open mind
and consider the fiill punishment range for the lesser-included
offense of murder. To the extent that his responses were
unclear or contradictory, the trial judge was within his
discretion in denying the challenge for cause on this basis.

*12 £6]Walser stated several times that he would hold the
State to its burden of proving all of the elements of capital
murder beyond a reasonable doubt, and that he would find the
defendant not guilty if he had a reasonable doubt as to any
element of the offense. In response to questions involving
hypothetical examples, Walser acknowledged that it would be
"tough" to find a defendant not guilty if the State proved every
element except a "technicality" such as the proper county of
jurisdiction or the means of death. However, Walser asserted
that he would "make the right decisions" even if he did "not
like the right decisions," and he could follow the law.

Walser's responses indicated that he could hold the State to its
burden of proof concerning every element of the offense
charged. To the extent that his responses were unclear or
contradictory, the trial judge was within his discretion in
denying the challenge for cause on this basis.

An appellant is not entitled to voir dire prospective jurors on
whether they can consider particular types of mitigating
evidence during the capital sentencing phase,^ Furthermore,
if a judge does allow such questions and a prospective juror
states that he will not consider a particular type of evidence as
mitigating, that prospective juror is not challengeable for
cause on that basis.51

JTJWalser initially stated that he could keep an open mind
regarding mitigation. He had responded negatively to a
question on the written jury questionnaire that asked if he
thought that "genetics, circumstances of birth, upbringing, and
environment should be considered in determining the proper
punishment," However, after listening to the prosecutor's
explanation of the special issues, he affirmed that he could "at
least consider" such evidence and "be open to it."

When questioned by defense counsel, Walser stated that he
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would always think that a person who had been convicted of
capital murder and found to be a future danger should receive
the death penalty. Additionally, he acknowledged that any
mitigating circumstances would have to be "very substantial"
before he could answer Hie mitigation special issue
affirmatively. He did not think that a defendant's background
or problems growing up were *m excuse" because. *0tiier^s
evidence everywhere of people ttet have overcome their
backgrounds," He then clarified that background was not
"always" an excuse for a person's conduct. He would want the
defense and other jurors to persuade him that a defendant's
background should affect the sentencing determination.

Williams was not entitled to voir dire Walser on whether he
could consider background evidence in mitigation^ Further,
Walser was not challengeable for cause based on his assertions
that he would have a hard time considering background
evidence as mitigating.f To the extent that Walser vacillated
about whether he could consider mitigating evidence after
finding a defendant guilty of capital murder and answering the
future dangerousness special issue affirmatively, the trial judge
was within his discretion to deny Williams's challenge for
cause on this basis.

Campbell

I8]Williams asserts that Campbell was "mitigation impaired"
because he stated that, after finding someone guilty of capital
murder and answering the future dangerousness issue
affirmatively, the death penalty would be the only option,
Williams also avers that Campbell would be unable to give
meaningful consideration to any mitigating evidence. On
appeal, Williams relies heavily on Campbell's written jury
questionnaire responses.

* 13 During voir dire, Williams challenged Campbell for cause
on the ground that he "expressed unequivocally" that after
finding a defendant guilty of capital murder and answering the
future dangerousness issue affirmatively, "death would be the
only option/5 Therefore, he would not g!ve -full Consideration
to any of die remaining special issues. Defense counsel also
averred that, although GeimpbelPs responses concerning
mitigation were "rather equivocating," his questionnaire
answer concerning his ability to consider a defendant's
background in mitigation indicated that he was "mitigation
impaired,"

The record reflects that Campbell indicated that he did not
believe that someone should be deemed a threat to society

simply because he had been found guilty. Campbell Affirmed
thai to would want to consider factors suoh as motive and
bacl^Q.und before sentencing someone to death. He also
agreed that after answering the fixture dang-grousness question
nffirm^ively^ he would still need-to consider the other special
issues before deciding on the punishment. Campbell gave as
examples of mitigating^eYideTioe **tfae way they were treated"
anfl "their upbringing* or environment, Restated that he eould
keep M openmJndconcernlnginitigating evidence and answer
the special issue in such a way that a life se&tence would be
imposed. Later, Campbell stated that he did not think that
environment and upbringing "raally carriefd] that much
weight," but he, reaffirmed that he would consider sucjn
evidence in mitigation* Hfc added that he would also consider
evidence of genetics and circumstances of birth.

Later, defense counsel asked Campbell how he would "feel
about the death penalty as the only appropriate punishment"
for a guilty capital murderer who was a future danger,
Campbell responded flmt^flie death penalty would apply/" He
agreed when counsel asked him if someone who committed
capital mwder and had been fount} to be a future danger
deserved the death penalty. However, Campbell later stated
that he would consider a defendant's character and
background, including past good behavior, in answering the
punishment issues. The trial judge asked Campbell whether he
could still answea* the mitigation special issue either
affirmatively or negatively after finding someone guilty of
capital murder and finding him to be a future danger*
Campbell affirmed that he could consider either answer tothe
mitigation^ecial issue.knowingthatanegativeansvverwould
result in a death sentence and an affiimative answer would
result in a life sentence.

Contrary to Williams's representations, this record does not
establish that Campbell would automatically reject the
mitigation special issue after finding that a defendant was
guilty of capital murder and was a future danger, To the extent
that Campbell's answers were vacillating or contradictory, we
accord particular deference to the trial judge's decision.
Further, Campbell was not challengeable for cause based on
his assertions that he did not think that evidence of a
defendant's background and environment earned "much
weight" in mitigation,^ The trial judge was within his
discretion to deny Williams's challenge for cause.

Shivers

Williams complains that Shivers: was unable to presume a
defendant innocent until proven guilty; would not consider
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mitigating evidence and would be an "automatic death
sentence"; and understood the meaning of "probability" in the
future dangerousness issue to mean "any chance at all" He
also avers that she was challengeable for cause because she
was familiar with the case and had formed an opinion about
his guilt He adds that her family and social relationships with
attorneys and district attorneys who had been threatened or
who had faced attempts on their lives had affected her
judgment, Williams relies heavily on Shivers's written
questionnaire answers that indicated that she favored the death
penalty and would not consider mitigation.

name and recalled that he worked for the county, She recalled
hearing that Williams had worked with the husband of the
murdered couple. Shivers also recalled hearing that there was
a question about whether Williams's wife was involved in the
crime. In response to a question about whether she believed
the couple had been "shot to death" in their home, Shivers
stated that she knew that the couple was dead, but she did not
know that they had been shot to death. However, she also
repeatedly maintained that she could set this information aside,
consider only the evidence presented in court, and hold the
State to its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt,

*14 At trial, defense counsel challenged Shivers on the
grounds that: (1) she could not afford Williams the
presumption of innocence and was biased against him because
she had volunteered that she was aware that the case involved
a couple being murdered in their home, indicating that she
already believed some of the elements that the State had to
prove; (2) she defined "probability" in the future
dangerousness special issue as "any chance at all" or a "mere
possibility"; (3) she had a strong belief that the mitigation
special issue should not be part of the law and that mitigating
circumstances should not be considered; (4) her questionnaire
responses showed that she was "mitigation impaired," because
she would always give the death penalty to someone convicted
of capital murder; and (5) she would want to hear evidence
from both sides, which shifted the burden of proof to the
defendant. On appeal, Williams has not repeated his complaint
at trial that Shivers shifted the burden of proof to the
defendant. Further, to the extent that Williams's complaints on
appeal do not comport with the grounds he raised at trial, we
will not consider them,

£9]puring voir dire, Shivers stated that she could presume
Williams innocent until she heard evidence proving that he
was guilty. She understood that the State had the burden of
proof on every element of the offense and that she would have
to find the defendant not guilty if the State proved a murder
but failed to prove an element such as the county of
jurisdiction or the means of death. She thought that she would
be a fair juror because she "believe[d] in hearing both sides of
the story." Although she later repeated that she would want to
hear "both sides," she also affirmed that, if the defense did not
present any evidence, she would require the State to prove its
case.

Shivers acknowledged that she had heard about "the Kaufman
County case" on the news before she was summoned to the
special venire. She stated that she first learned about a district
attorney being killed outside the courthouse, and she later
heard about the murder of a couple. She had heard Williams's

In this case, Shivers repeatedly stated that she could set aside
the media coverage she had seen and determine Williams's
guilt or innocence based solely on the evidence presented in
the courtroom. She also stated that she would afford Williams
the presumption of innocence, We defer to the trial judge, who
was in the best position to evaluate Shivers's demeanor and
responses, The trial judge was within his discretion to overrule
Williams's challenge for cause on this basis.

riQIWe next turn to Williams's challenge for cause based on
Shivers's definition of the term "probability,"

When the prosecutor asked Shivers for her understanding of
the question of whether there was a "probability that the
defendant would commit criminal acts of violence," she stated
that the question was asking whether the defendant was
"capable of doing it again," She then agreed with the
prosecutor's statement that probability meant "more likely than
not" rather than "any chance at all" However, in response to
a hypothetical question involving a weather forecast, Shivers
indicated that probability meant "any chance at all,"

Shivers's responses to questions concerning the meaning of the
term "probability" were vacillating; she sometimes defined
"probability" as "any chance at all," while at other times she
agreed that "probability" meant "more likely than not," In this
situation, we defer to the trial judge. Further, as the proponent
of the challenge for cause, defense counsel was required to
carefully and adequately explain the law concerning the
distinction and determine whether Shivers continued to insist
on a definition that was inconsistent with the distinction,^
Because defense counsel failed to do so, the trial judge did not
abuse his discretion by denying the challenge for cause on this
basis.

*15 [111Williams also contends that Shivers's responses
indicate that would render an "automatic death sentence" upon
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finding a person guilty of capital murder. But Shivers stated
that she would not vote for the death penalty in every capital
murder case. She asserted that she would set aside her
personal opinions and base her verdict on the law -that siie
received .in the courtroom. She also said that the State would
have to prove the future dangerousness special issue to her
before she would answer it affirmatively. When defense
counsel asked Shivers whether any punishment besides the
death penalty would be appropriate for someone she had found
guilty of capital murder and had found to be a future danger,
she stated that she did not know and that she thought that "the
law would tell [her] what would be an alternative
punishment,''*

F121 Concerning the mitigation special issue, Shivers
confirmed a written answer on her jury questionnaire to the
effect that she did not think that genetics, circumstances at
birth, upbringing, and environment should be considered in
assessing punishment because "[ejverybody has choices,"
However, she also stated that she could consider mitigating
circumstances and answer the mitigation special issue
affirmatively, knowing that it would result in a life sentence.

To the extent that Shivers's statements were unclear or
vacillating, we defer to the trial judge. Additionally, Shivers's
responses to defense counsel's questions as to whether she
would consider particular types of evidence in mitigation did
not make her challengeable for cause.f The trial judge was
within his discretion to deny Williams's challenge for cause on
these bases.

Padachy

[131 Williams asserts that Padachy was biased against the law
Williams was entitled to rely upon, Specifically, he asserts that
she would automatically answer the future dangerousness issue
affirmatively after finding a defendant guilty of capital murder.
He also asserts that she stated that anyone who intentionally
killed another person should be sentenced to death.

During voir dire, Padachy stated that she could wait and listen
to all of the evidence and require the State to prove a
defendant's future dangerousness beyond a reasonable doubt.
When asked about a written questionnaire response in which
she indicated that the death penalty was appropriate for an
intentional murder, she clarified that she had provided that
response while thinking of premeditated murder. When asked
about a questionnaire response in which she wrote that "in
most cases, when a person takes someone's life on purpose,

they are a threat to others," she again stated that she
envMpimd someone planning a killing in advance. Padachy
acknowledged that she still believed that to be true. Some of
Padao&y's responses to defense cmi^
that she believed that a person who committed an intentional
killing would always be a future danger. However, she also
stated several times that she could keep an open mind, listen
to both sides, require the State to prove future dangerousness,
and weigh all the evidence before answering the special issues,

Williams then challenged Padachy for cause "for the reason
she has a bias or prejudice against the law the defense is
entitled to rely upon," in that she stated that she would
automatically answer the future dangerousness special issue
affirmatively after finding someone guilty of capital murder,
The prosecutor stated that Padachy had given contradictory
answers on the matter and requested that the trial judge go
over the law with her to ascertain whether she could follow it,
Defense counsel responded that Padachy had consistently
stated that if she found someone guilty of an intentional
killing, she would always find that person to be a future
danger. The trial judge then called Padachy into the courtroom
for additional questioning.

*16 The prosecutor asked Padachy whether she would
automatically answerthe future dangerousness special issue or
whether she could follow the law and require the State to
prove the issue beyond a reasonable doubt. She responded that
she could follow the law and consider the facts of the case
based on the evidence she heard from both phases of the trial.
Padachy indicated that her written questionnaire answers were
based on her personal feelings before she knew the law. When
defense counsel questioned Padachy, she again stated that she
had provided her questionnaire answers favoring the death
penalty for an intentional killing before she knew the law. She
stated that the question of a defendant's future dangerousness
would depend on the evidence. She averred that she could
follow the law regardless of her personal feelings, Defense
counsel again challenged Padachy for cause, statingthat it was
"pr&tty plain what [she] is going to do, that she's Substantially
impaired in her ability to follow the law and gfvo us a 'Mr
hearing on [the future dangerousness] special issue."

As the proponent of the challenge for cause, Williams had to
show that Padachy understood the requirements of the law and
could not overcome her prejudice well enough to follow it.
Williams did not make this showing. Further, to the extent that
Padachy's responses were unclear or contradictory, we defer
to the trial judge. Thus, the trial judge did not abuse his
discretion by denying Williams's challenge for cause to
Padachy,

WESTLAW ® 2018 Thomson Reuters, No claim to original U.S. Government Works 22



Williams v. State, Not Reported in S.W.3d (2017)

Vanwey

f 141 Williams asserts that Vanwey would "automatically and
categorically impose the death penalty," He argues that her
written questionnaire responses, and her evident confusion
concerning the mitigation issue during individual voir dire,
established that she was biased against Williams and the law
upon which he was entitled to rely,

Williams challenged Vanwey for cause on the ground that she
considered, the punishment phase of the trial, and particularly
the mitigation special issue, "to be a rehash of the
guilt/innocence phase,31 He asserted that she stated that the
mitigation special issue in particular was confusing and that
her "gut reaction" was to read the mitigation issue as if it
asked about Williams's guilt, Williams also averred that
Vanwey would "automatically and categorically impose the
death penalty,"

During voir dire, Vanwey confirmed her written questionnaire
responses indicating that she felt the death penalty was
appropriate in some but not all murder cases and that she
disagreed with the statement that a person convicted of capital
murder should be assessed the death penalty. She affirmed her
view that some capital murder cases merited a death sentence,
while others merited a life sentence. She stated that, after
finding someone guilty of an intentional murder, she would
still be open to either a life or death sentence, and she could
consider evidence at the punishment phase and answer the
special issues according to the evidence. Vanwey indicated
that she could answer the future dangerousness special issue
negatively if the State did not prove that the defendant "was
gonna be bad the rest of his life," She also asserted that, if she
found the defendant guilty and answered the future
dangerousness and anti-parties issues affirmatively, she would
still consider mitigating evidence before deciding whether to
answer the mitigation special issue affirmatively or negatively.

Vanwey then stated, somewhat inconsistently, that she could
not give a life sentence to an intentional murderer who would
probably commit another murder. However, after the
prosecutor further explained the law, Vanwey stated that, even
after finding that a defendant had. committed capital murder
and was a future danger, she could keep an open mind
concerning mitigation until she heard, the evidence. She
affirmed that she could consider the circumstances of the
offense and the defendant's character and background in
reaching a decision, Vanwey acknowledged that one of her

questionnaire responses suggested that she believed that
anyone found guilty of capital murder should receive the death
penalty, and that she still felt that way. However, she also
stated that, after the law had been explained to her, she would
be able to set aside her personal views and follow it. She
denied feeling that anyone convicted of capital murder should
automatically receive the death penalty.

*17 When asked what the term "mitigating" meant to her,
Vanwey responded, "it's causes in their lives that made them
do this or not do this," She also indicated that it was hard to
consider the mitigation special issue in the abstract because
even a person with an unfortunate background had "the
choice" of whether to take a life. She stated that the mitigation
special issue did not "really make sense" to her and she did not
know how it would work out in court. She acknowledged that
the "ultimate issue" for her was whether the defendant
committed the murder and the reasons why he did it,

As the proponent of the challenge for cause, Williams had to
show that Vanwey understood the requirements of the law and
could not overcome her prejudice well enough to follow it.
Although some of Vanwey's responses indicated that she
believed all capital murderers should receive the death
penalty, she also stated that she could set aside her personal
feelings and keep an open mind to the punishment evidence
and the special issues. To the extent that Vanwey's responses
were unclear or contradictory, we defer to the trial judge's
decision. Thus, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by
denying Williams's challenge for cause.

Hollifield

HllWilliams asserts that Hollifield was "mitigation impaired,"
He also asserts that Hollifield, after finding a defendant guilty
of capital murder, would automatically answer the special
issues in such a way that the death penalty would result. He
adds that Hollifield would always assess the death penalty
against a defendant who killed, a public official, he would not
consider mitigation, and he would believe the testimony of a
police officer over that of other witnesses. He relies heavily on
Hollifield's written jury questionnaire responses,

Williams, however, challenged Hollifield for cause solely on
the ground that he gave contradictory responses concerning his
ability to consider and give effect to evidence in mitigation,
and he "probably [was] mitigation impaired," Thus, Williams
failed to preserve all but one of the claims he now raises on
appeal. We will consider only his claim that Hollifield was
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"mitigation impaired."

When the prosecutor explained the special issues and stated
that jurors had to consider the.ch'GU^astances of the offense
and the defendant*s character and baokgrpund in answering the
mitigation special issue, Hollifield affirmed that he could
consider such evidence. He stated that he could find someone
guilty of an Intentional mwderi answer :£he future
dangerousness issue af6i"m.ativelys md still consider whether
the evidence was sufficiently mrtlg&ling to Warrant a life
sentence. Hollifield also stated his belief that not everyone
who committed an intentional murder should receive a death
sentence. He added that he would be able to set aside his
personal views in favor of the death penalty and follow the law
as it had been explained to him,

Defense counsel prefaced his questioning of Hollifield by
stating that counsel would inquire into how Hollifield ^felt,"
rather than his understanding of the application of the special
issues. Defense counsel then asked Hollifield about his written
questionnaire response to the effect that he did not feel that
genetics, circumstances of birtli^ upbrfnging^ and environment
should be considered when deterniiningthe proper punishment
of someone convicted of capital murder, Hollifield explained
his view that a person's upbringing should not affect his ability
to commit a murder. He stated, "I think I misunderstood how
the—what the question was trying to ask." He again stated that
he did not believe that every murderer should receive a death
sentence.

*18 Hollifield also stated that he believed that someone who
committed an offense such as the murder of a district attorney
or a judge deserved the death penalty. When defense counsel
asked him whether there should be a connection between the
evidence he would consider concerning the mitigation special
issue and the crime, he agreed that there should. He explained
that he would want to consider what led the person to commit
the crime, When defense counsel asked him about specific
types of mitigating evidence, Hollifield stated '(iiat he could
consider evidence of a defendant*s early childhood background
in answering the mitigation special issue. He concurred that,
after finding someone guilty of capital murder and determining
thai the person would be a future danger^ he would still b^able
to decide whether he thought the evidence was sufficiently
mitigating to warrant a sentence of life without parole.

As the proponent of the challenge for cause, Williams had to
show that Hollifield understood the requirements of the law
and could not overcome his prejudice well enough to follow
it, Although Hollifield suggested one time that defendants

convicted of certain types of capital murders deserved the
death penalty*, he also stated several tfenes that he would
consider mitigating evidence in answering -the special issues.
To the extent that Hollifield's responses were unclear or
contiMiGtory, we defer to the trial judge's decision, We find
that Hie trial judge did not abttse his discretion by denying
Williams's challenge for cause to Hollifield,

Phillips

[161 Williams asserts that Phillips's questionnaire responses
incfated that he: was predisposed in ilLVQT of the death
penalty; had been exposed to media coverage of the case; WHS
mltigalion-Inipaii'ed; would believe the testimony of a police
officer over that of oilier witnesses; and. would automatically
answer the special issues in such a way that the death sentence
would be imposed,

Dining voir dire, Williams cWIengedPMlHps for omse on the
sole gi:oxmd that Phillips would not be able to give meaningful
aonsldmtion to mitl^^
he was "very likely not going to consider" factors that were
germane to the irnligation special issue, To die extent that
Williams's claims on appeal do not comport with the ground
he raised at trial, we will not consider them. Accordingly, we
will consider only whether Phillips would be able to give
meaningful consideration to mitigating evidence.

The record reflects that the prosecutor asked Phillips what
would "be important" to him in a punishment hearing. He
responded that he would like: to- know about the de-Mdmtfs
history, past criminal behavior, motives for the crfai% and
mental capacity. The prosecutor also asfced Phillips about his
written questiomiaire response in which he tad stated that he
did not believe that life without parole would be appropriate
because of the cost to the State. Phillips indicated that he had
not known about the special issues when he answered that
question and that he would go by. the law rather tan by Ms
personal views* The prosecutor further'.asked Phillips If he
would be open to reviewing mitigjatmgevidenee after •finding
that a defendant was guilty of capital murder and posed a
future danger, Phillips responded that he thought he could be
open, but he also stated that he sometimes had a problem
considering a person's background because "you make your
own choices [about] what you do in life." However, he
reiterated several times that he could set aside his personal
feelings, follow the law, and consider mitigating evidence
before answering the mitigation special issue.

WESTIAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters, No claim to original U.S. Government Works, 24



Williams v. State, Not Reported in SAA/.3d (2017)

When questioned by defense counsel, Phillips stated that he
believed that the death penalty should b.e considered for
someone who planned and committed a multiple murder, even
if that person had not comniilteid previous crimes. He also
indicated that he felt that someone who ooniniitted an .awful
crime should have to pay for it with his own life. Phillips
further acknowledged that he felt that a person convicted of
capital murder should receive the death penally. However^
whea defense counsel askefl him whether he epuld ever find
anyflimg sufficiently mMgalirig to merit a life sentence,
Phillips reiterated that, ̂ after listening to tile law^ he would
consider everytJiing thai' lie heard before making a decision cm
the mitigation special issue, He stated thai; ite. coxild %n'ake a
decision at the end of the day" without "trry kind of
pre-notions in my head what should or shouldn't be."

* 19 As the proponent of the challenge for cause, Williams had
to show that Phillips understood the requirements of the law
and could not overcome his prejudice well enough to follow
it. Although Phillips indicated that he personally believed that
defendarrls convicted of capital murder deserved the death
penalty, he also stated that he wouM keep an open mind and
consider potentially miSgatitig, evidence in answering the
mitigation special issue. To the extent that Phillips's responses
were unclear or confradfetory, we defer to the trial judges
decision. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by
denying Williams's challenge for cause to Phillips,

Because Williams has failed to show that the trial judge erred
when he denied his challenges for cause to at least three
prospective jurors, he has not shown that he is entitled to
relief Therefore, we need not consider whether the trial judge
erred in denying Williams's challenges to venire members
Hooper and S, Williams. Points of error one through thirteen
are overruled.

VERDICT FORMS

£17]In point of error sixteen, Williams contends that the trial
judge erred in denying his "requested jury verdict form that
allowed the jury to make a determination of guilt/innocence on
each alleged manner and means of committing the alleged
offense rather than a general verdict." He notes that the
indictment charged him with capital murder as an intentional
murder committed during the commission of a burglary, as
well as with capital murder by murdering more than one
person during the same transaction. He asserts that he was
therefore entitled to two verdict forms»He argues, "With only
one verdict form, there is no way of knowing if the jury was
unanimous on which fact situation was proven if either was
beyond a reasonable doubt," He complains that the failure to
provide two verdict forms violated his "constitutional and
statutoiy right to a unanimous jury verdict" which "caused
egregious harm to his right [to] a fair and impartial trial,"

The record, reflects that, during the guilt-phase charge
conference, defense counsel asked that the verdict form "allow
the jury to make a deteitniaation of guilt or innoGence as to
each specific count of the Mstaient rather 'than a general
verdict,3* Hie trial judge overraM^
the charge was given to the jury^ defense counsel clarified that
the mdiotoent did not charge £wo "counts^but Instead charged
one offense in two alternative paragraphs. He re-urged his
request for a separate verdict form for each paragraph,
pursuant to the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution, The prosecutor
responded that the single verdict form was proper under
Gamboa v, State[.]"f The trial judge again denied defense
counsel's request for separate verdict forms,

In points of error fourteen and frfteer^ Williams contends that
thejury was biased or prejudteed* wlifoli deprived him of a Mr
trial under the federal a&d Texas constituflpiis* Specifically^
Williams asserts that, based on the trial judge's erroneous
denials of his challenges for cause as described in points of
error one through thirteen, he was deprived of "a lawfully
constituted unbiased and non[-]prejudicial group of jurors."
He submits that "one or all or any combination of errors as
previously complained about concerning jury selection
constitute a violation of the United States Constitution" and
the Texas constitution. However, because Williams has failed
to show that the trial judge erred when he denied his
challenges for cause to at least three prospective jurors, he has
not shown that he is entitled to relief. Points of error fourteen
and fifteen are overruled,

*20 "[Alternate pleading of the differing methods of
committing one offense may be charged in one indictment"^
Likewise, "alternate theories of committing the same offense
may be submitted dfsjmictively in -the jury charge without
violating the right to jury uii&aidilty^5^ Where alternate
theories ,of comnlittiiig the same offeise ar& submitted to.the
jury in the disjunctive, it is appropriate "for the jury to return
a general verdict if fee evidence is sufficient to support a
fmding tmder any of the theoriesmbBiited.^ Our holding in
Kitchens applies to all alternate theories of oapM murder in
Section 1-SLD2L without regard, to^ whether the theories are listed
in different subsections^ <l>so long as the same victim Is alleged
for the predicate murder."^
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In this case, Cynthia McLelland was the named victim in both
alternative paragraphs of the indictment, Thus, the same victim
was alleged for the predicate murder. Accordingly, the use of
a single jury verdict form that allowed the jury to return a
general verdict did not violate Wllliams's right to a unanimous
jury verdict. Point of error sixteen is overruled.

GUILT-PHASE EXTRANEOUS OFFENSE EVIDENCE

JlSlIn point of error seventeen, Williams asserts that the trial
judge erred in overruling liis objection to the testimony of
Judge Michael Ghitty* who presided over Williams1^ 2012
trial. He contends that this testimony was improper under
Texas Rule of Evidence 4Q4fbX which provides that
ci[e]videnGe of a orime* wrong* or other act is not admissible
to prove a peisorfs character IE oitfer to show that on a
particular occasion the person aoted in accordance with fee.
charaGter>3^HQwever> Rule 4Q4rb)(5fl admits of an exception:
"This evidence may be admissible for another purpose, such
as,55 among other things, "proving motive."^ The trial judge
would not abuse his discretion to determine that Williams's
prior prosecution for &eft supplied a motive for murdering the
prosecutor who represented flie State in the case against him,
Tlie complained-of testimony was probative of this motive.
Point of error seventeen is overruled.

In point of error eighteen, Williams contends* 'The trial judge
erred in overrLiImgapfpellianfe objectionto 'the State presenting
evidence of an extraneous offense; to-wit; the murder of Mr,
Mark Hasse in the guilt/innocence stage of the trial,3'
Williams's citation to the record directs us to apretrial hearing
in which, he asserts, "[t]he trial court overruled Appellant's
objection and allowed evidence of the extraneous offense of
Prosecutor, Mr. Mark Hasse.55 However^ Williams falls to
provide a record citation direoting us to any instance during
the .guilt phase in which £hs prosecutor presented such
evidence to 'die jury £ Our independent review of the record
establishes that the prosecutor did not present the jury with
any evidence of this extraneous offense during the guilt
phase.^. Point of error eighteen is overruled.

*21 T191 In poM of extor ninete^ Williams asserts that the
Mai judge mrvd in overruling hisobjection 65to States Exhibit
155, a photograph of an improvised incendiary device not
listed in the State's Rule of Evidence 4Q4fbT Notice to flie
Defense." He argues that the lack of notice "compromised
defense counsel's ability to adequately cross-examine the
witness concerning the lack of nexus of possession of the
alleged device to the 'McLelland* shootingevents," He further
contends that the lack of notice deprived him of his rights to

due process and a fair trial

Hitle4Q4flbl provide in relevant pm% "On timely request by
a defendant in a criminal case> the prosecutor must provide
reasonable notice before trial that the prosecution intends to
introduce [evidence of a crime, wrong, or other act]—other
than that arising in the same transaction—in its
case-in-chief,"^ In this case, Williams provides no citation to
the record directing us to whether and when he requested
notice. Further, although Williams asserts that he objected to
the lack of notice, he fails to provide any record cite directing
us to his obj ection during the proceedings. Therefore, his point
of error is inadequately briefed.

Nonetheless, contrary to Williams's assertions, the clerk's
record contains a file-stamped "State's Preliminary Notice of
Extraneous Offenses" that lists the improvised incendiary
device. The certificate of service reflects that the prosecutor
both mailed and e-mailed this document to defense counsel on
September 2,2014, Williams's assertions are not supported by
the record, Point of error nineteen is overruled.

BALLISTICS EXPERT

In point of error twenty, Williams contends that the trial judge
erred in overruling his objection to the testimony of James
Jeffress, the State's expert witness on ballistics evidence.
Specifically, Williams asserts that Jeffress "was not properly
qualified and did not meet the 'Kelly >[£' standards of proof."
Further, he contends, firearms and ballistic comparison
evidence does not "meet the heightened reliability requirement
of the Eighth Amendment,'5 Williams also argues that there "is
no objective source material on the record to substantiate Mr,
Jeffress's methodology[,] statistical validation[,] or error rate"
and so Jeffress's opinions were speculative. Thus, Williams
asserts, the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting
Jeffress's testimony, and this error affected Williams's
substantial rights to a fair trial at the guilt phase.

F2Q1 Williams's complaint that Jeffress was not qualified does
not comport with his objections during the Dauberf^ hearing,
and so it is not preserved. However, Williams did assert
during the Doubwt hearing that the field of firearms and
ballistic comparison was ̂ devoid of any statistical validation
whatsoever" and was based on proficiency testing that did not
"indicate an error rate for any examiner," He also complained
that "there is a lot of contention" about whether Jeffress's
method of examination was the method with the greatest
degree of accuracy. Finally, he stated that Jeffress could not
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"testify to the facts in absolute terms as he has that this
evidence all originated from the same firearms," These
allegations at trial preserved Williams's compMrits on appeal
concerning the reliability of the field of'firearms snd ballistic
comparison, Jeffress's methodology, and Jewess's opinion
based on his comparisons. Therefore, we will address the
merits of these complaints.

*22 An appellate court reviews a trial judge's decision to admit
or exclude scientific expert testimony for an abuse- of
discretion^ 'The trial court hearing is the main event for
Daubert/Kelfy gatekeeping hearings; it is not a try-out on the
road to an appellate scientific seminar,"™ If the trial judge's
ruling is within the zone of reasonable disagreement, then it
will be upheld,™

"If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will
assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to
determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by
knowledge, skill> experience, training, or education, may
testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.5^ Under
Texas Kule of Evidence 702, the trial judge determines
whether the proffered scientific evidence is sufficiently
reliable and relevant to aid the jury,^ Reliability refers to the
scientific basis for the testimony, while relevance refers to the
"fit" of the scientific principles to the evidence.™

The proponent of the scientific evidence must demonstrate
through clear and convincing evidence that the evidence is in
fact reliable.^ The proponent of the evidence meets this
burden by showing that; (1) the underlying scientific theory is
valid, (2) the technique applying the theory is valid, and (3)
the technique was properly applied on the occasion in
question.™ Some factors that might influence a trial judge's
determination of reliability include: (1) the extent to which the
underlying scientific theory and technique are accepted as
valid by the relevant scientific community; (2) the existence of
literature supporting or rejecting the underlying scientific
theory and technique; (3) the clarity with which the underlying
scientific theory and technique can be explained to the court;
(4) the potential rate of error of the technique; (5) the
availability of other experts to test and evaluate the technique;
(6) the qualifications of the expert(s) testifying; and (7) the
experience and skill of the person(s) who applied the
technique on the occasion in question.^

Jeffress's testimony demonstrated that: the theory of firearm
and toolmark identification and the technique of microscopic
firearm and toolmark comparison are accepted as valid by the
relevant scientific community; literature exists supporting the

underlying theory .find technique; .aiid'Ifeefli^iy end isdimque
could be eleariy ̂ plainBd to the court, feffess acknowledged
that a precise casework error rate could, not be measured, but
lie pointed out .tot o:on^eoiilive-manufeGtore and proficiency
studies provided error Mtes in the context of controlled
studies. Those known eiTor rates could then be used to
estimate casework error rates. Additionally, the
ImpleaneHtation of professional standards and protocols,
periodic lab audits and proficiency testing, and the
Independent review of tlie comparisons in each ease by a
second examm^^
an examiner's conclusions.

*23 Jeffress's testimony also established the availability of
.other experts to test and evaluate the technique; Ms
qimHfioatfons as an expert; and his experience and skill in
applying .the technique in this case, We conclude that the trial
judge did not abuse Ms discretion by detenniningthattlie State
ted established fee reliability of Jefiress's expert testimony by
clear and convincing evidence, and by admitting Jeffress's
testimony. Point of error twenty is overruled.

IN-COURT IDENTIFICATIONS

F211In point of error twenty-one, Williams contends that the
trial judge erred in overruling his objection to "in court
identification." He avers that defense counsel "argued that any
in-court identification in front of the jury should be preceded
by a properly conducted preMrial identffieafton procedure in
compliance with the United Staters] Supreme Court factors
discussed in Nell v, Biggsrs:[,p^ Williams argues -that
overruling his objection violated his right to due process, "and
any other Identification procedure was substantially more
prejudicM 'than probative under Tex. IL Bvid. 40JL** He
provides record citations to the in-cpurt Identi-ffcations of Mm
by Judge CMltft Rodger Williams* David Hunt, and Edward
Cole,

The United States Supreme Court's opinion in Biggers does
not support Williams's. contention that lie Iiad a due process
right to require fee State's witnesses to identify him in prertrial
identification proceedings outside the jury's presence before
tliey identtfed him in court** Due process guards against a
prett'M identification -that poses "a very substantial llkelfhood
of irreparable niisldentification^ ult is flis likelihood of
misidentification which violates a defendant's right to due
process,55^ 'Williams, does not <argui& that there was any
substantial Hkelilio od of mlsidentrficatlan in the complained-of
in-court identifications. Further, Williams makes no argument
in support of his assertion that the failure to conduct pre-trial
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identifications caused the in-court identifications to be
"substantially more prejudicial than probative under Tex. R.
Evid. 403." We will not make his argument

In any event, three of the four witnesses about whom Williams
complains—Chitty, Rodger, and Hunt—knew Williams before
the offense alleged in the indictment Chitty met Williams in
the early 1990s when Williams was a court coordinator, and
he also presided over Williams's 2012 trial, Rodger and Hunt
were both acquainted with Williams from their time in the
Texas State Guard. Cole was not previously acquainted with
Williams, but his in-court identification of Williams was
probative because Cole recognized Williams as the man who
had identified himself as "Richard Greene" when purchasing
the Crown Victoria that was used in the instant offense. Cole's
in-court identification of Williams was inculpatory, but the
record contains no indication that this identification violated
due process or was unduly prejudicial. Point of error
twenty-one is overruled,

MOTIONS FOR CONTINUANCE AND NEW TRIAL

£22]In point of error twenty-three, Williams asserts that the
'trial judge -erred in overruling his motion for a new
pxinisliment-pimse trial because the court failed to grant his
motion for continuance and provide him with an opportunity
to properly investigate, develop, and present mitigating
evidence at the punishment phase. In point of error
twenty-four, appellant asserts that the trial judge erred in
denying his motion for continuance, which, if granted, would
have provided him with an opportunity to investigate and
discover the mitigating evidence that he later presented at the
motion for new trial hearing. Appellant briefs these
interrelated points of error together, and we will address them
accordingly.

*24 A criminal action may be continued on the written motion
of a party for sufficient cause shown.^ The motion must be
sworn to by someone who has personal knowledge of the facts
relied on for the continuance,^ "[T]o preserve for review a
claim that the trial court erred in denying a motion for
continuance, the defendant must timely file a motion that
sufficiently advises the trial court of the defendant's request
and the grounds therefor,'5^ "We review a trial court's ruling
on a motion for continuance for abuse of discretion."^ "[I]n
order to show reversible error predicated on the denial of a
pretrial motion for continuance, a defendant must demonstrate
both that the trial court erred in denying the motion and that
the lack of a continuance harmed him,"87

"There are no mechanical tests for deciding when a denial of
a continuance is so arbitrary as to violate due process. The
answer must be found in the circumstances present in every
case, particularly in the reasons presented to the trial judge at
the time the request is denied,"f "[O]nly an unreasoning and
arbitrary 'insistence upon expeditiousness in the face of a
justifiable request for delay5 violates the right to the assistance
of counsel,"89

Additionally, when moving for a continuance based upon the
need for additional trial preparation, a defendant must make
some showing of diligence.^ A trial judge reasonably denies
a defendant's motion for continuance which fails to state the
diligence exercised in trying to obtain expert assistance
sooner, or, alternatively, how circumstances conspired to
prevent the defendant from realizing any earlier that he
required such assistance,^ For example,, m Wright v. State, we
concluded that the trial judge did not abuse life discretion by
denying a motion for a continuance to afford the defense's
DNA expert time to review DNA results, when the defendant
had been notified in late September that the State was
conducting DNA testing and had received DNA reports from
the State in October and November, but failed to request an
expert until December 1, which was the first day of trial,!: A
motion for continuance must reflect "not only diligence in
procuring the presence of the witness, but also diligence as
reflected in the timeliness with which the motion for
continuance was presented."*

The record in this case reflects that defense counsel received
notice, no later than July 26, 2013, that the State intended to
seek the death penalty. Nevertheless, defense counsel did not
request funding for an expert pathologist to assist the defense
in investigating "Williams's medical history and present
medical health for possible presentation to a jury as
mitigation" until March 2014, Defense counsel could have
known sooner that he would require expert assistance for such
an investigation, given that one reason for requesting funding
for a pathologist was Kim's 2012 trial testimony about
Williams's medical problems. The trial judge granted the
funding motion on March 17, 2014, but did not sign an order
granting Dr. Yount access to Williams in jail until June 19,
2014. The record contains no explanation for this delay.fl

*25 On May 5,2014, the trial judge granted defense counsel's
requested funding for the assistance of a neuropsychologist,
and counsel designated Dr. James Merikangas for this role.
That funding motion showed that defense counsel was aware
of the need to investigate Williams's medical and mental
conditions, as well as the value of receiving "the assistance of
a licensed medical doctor and board-certified
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neuropsychologist for an initial review of documents and a
consultation" and "to assess additional need for psychological
evaluation and examination, and to provide targeted guidance
as to appropriate experts, as needed," The record before us
does not indicate whether or when Dr. Merikangas
investigated Williams's medical and mental conditions,^

In addition, on July 30 and 31, 2014, the trial judge granted
defense counsel's request for funding for a psychologist, Dr.
Joan Mayfield, Ph.D. Mayfield completed psychological
testing on August 2, Defense counsel's motion for continuance,
filed a month later on September 2, 2014, and re-urged
periodloaDy tfeo.ugh November 14,2014, mentioned the need
to Iriyestlpta mitigating evidence^ but felted to specifically
refer to Williamsrs medical and mental conditions.

Defense counsel's preliminary designation of Drs, Mayfield,
Merikangas, and Yount as defense experts, filed on September
23, 2014, was the first pleading in which counsel mentioned
brain scans. This designation came six months after Williams's
March 2014 motion for an expert pathologist, in which
defense counsel referenced a need to investigate Williams's
medical history and mental health; four months after counsel
received funding for a neuropsychologist; and almost two
months after Mayfield completed a psychological evaluation,
Defense counsel still did not request a continuance on the
ground that he needed additional time to investigate Willi ams's
medical and mental conditions.

In addition, the September 23 pleading showed that defense
counsel was then aware of the advisability of brain Imaging' as
a means of developing mitigating evidence. However, counsel
did not file a motion requesting funding for a psychologist to
assist the defense in determining the specific type of brain
imamng required until October 24,2014. The record contains
no explanation for this delay. The trial judge granted this
motion on October 27, and granted the psychologist access to
Williams on October 31 >

Not until November 9,2014, did defense counsel file a motion
seeking funds for a neuro-radiologist to order brain scans.
Two days later, defense counsel learned that the trial judge
required additional support for this funding request, Even so,
when counsel orally re-urged his previous motion for a
continuance at a hearing on November 14, 2014, he did not
mention that the defense needed additional time to complete
brain imaging. Further, defense counsel did not provide
additional support for the November 9 funding request until
November 27, 2014, which was Thanksgiving Day, The trial
was scheduled to begin the following Monday, on December

1,

Then, on the first day of trial, defense counsel moved for a
continuance on the ground that Williams "cannot safely go to
trial without the benefit of the further medical testing to assess
any brain damage he may have suffered," This last-minute
motion for continuance failed to show that defense counsel
had exercised diligence in trying to obtain expert assistance
concerning the brain scans sooner, or, alternatively, how
circumstances had conspired to prevent counsel from realizing
any earlier that he required such assistance.^ Nor did the
motion state the diligence that counsel had exercised in
presenting the motion for continuance,^. Defense counsel
stated only,'Thus far, the trial cow
But counsel failed to acknowledge that he had not requested
funding until November 9. Counsel knew as early as
November 11 that the court would not grant funding without
additional support. However, counsel failed to provide such
support until the holiday weekend immediately preceding the
•first' day of trial The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by
denying Williams's December 1,2014, motion for continuance
to complete the brain scans.

*26 When defense counsel again moved for continuances on
December 8, 10, and 15, 2014, counsel provided details
concerning the defense team's efforts to obtain the scans
following the court's December 3 funding grant. However,
nothing in these subsequent motions indicated that counsel had
exercised diligence in trying to obtain funding for the scans
before trial or that circumstances had conspired to prevent
counsel from realizing sooner that he needed them.
Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by
again denying these motions.

Having concluded that the trial judge did not err by denying
Williams's motions for continuance based on the reasons that
were before him at the time of the denials, we need not discuss
the bmr^-Im&gfeff evidence that was developed during the
motion fornew trial proceedings .^Points of error twenty-three
and twenty-four are overruled.

[231In point of error twenty-five, Williams contends that the
"trial court erred in denying [his] motion for new trial arguing
he was denied due process of law because of judicial bias in
how the trial was conducted,5' He asserts that, at the motion for
new trial hearing, defense counsel described the trial judge's
facial expressions, demeanor, and "a pattern of inconsistent
rulings and disparate treatment between defense counsel and
the prosecution." Williams states that defense counsel argued
that the trial judge's facial expressions and rulings, particularly
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duringtfcspunishTnentphase, demonstrated 'favoritism toward
the State' .and antagonism toward the defense* Williams- also
avers that defense counsel noted at the motion for new trial
hearing 'that, after the punishment verdict; the trial: judge
"compared the defendant to numerous notorious nationally
known murderers, which revealed the courts altitude to 'the
defense's mitigation evidence,"

As an initial matter, we observe that the judge who presided
over Williams's motion for new trial hearing was not the judge
who presided over WillianisTs trial* At the motion for new trial
heeitin|, deftee counsel pme^^ recording
of the trial proceeding -that defense conriseliobtalned frain the
Dallas CBSaflSHWe aftertriat Defense, aounsel'also .oornpiM
a spreadsheet to idenlaiy particular segments on the recording
which allegedly showed the trial judge directing "deiisive" or
"annoyed" looks at defense counsel or "the defense table."
Counsel also argued that the trial judge had exhibited, a pattern
"of inconsistent rulings and disparate treatment between
defense counsel and the prosecution," but counsel did not
specify the rulings and treatment that formed the basis of this
claim.

On appeal, Williams has provided^ in an appendix to his brief,
still images or "screen shots15 taken from the recording after
trial. He asserts that these still images demonstrate the trial
judge's unfavorable demeanor toward the defense,

Williams does not assert, and he has not provided a record
citation demonstrating, that he complained of judicial bias at
trial. Nor does Williams provide any authority for the
propositionliiatthis.mtor is Imrrtimefrpm ordinary principles
of procedural defeuli Thus, he has inadequately briefed'-this
point of errors We decline to make his/.arguments for him*
Point of error twenty-five is overruled.

ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE

Hasse Crime Scene

*271241111 pointof error t^eaty^six, Williams assorts that the
trial judge erred at .the pimfelmrant phase in overruling his
objection to State's Bxhibft 528, a video recording of the
Hasse crime scene. He argues on appeal that the video was
more prejudicial than probative and was likely to''inflame the
jury."

The record reflects that Sergeant Jason Stastny testified that,
on January 31, 2013, around 8:40 a.m., he heard gunshots
while he was investigating a burglary at an address about
seven blocks north of the courthouse. He and his partner left
the burglary Investigation and drove toward the area where
Stastny believed the-shots had been fired, He Ixeard a call on
his radio that shots had been fired atthe courthouse* When lie
arrived, he saw a woman giving CPR to a man lying on the
south side of the street. He parked his car in such a way that its
dashboard camera recorded, the scene, Stastny testified that he
took over performing CPE on the man* who appeared to have
a gunshot wound In front of his left ear and was bleeding
behind hfs ear. The man attempted to breathe, but then he
would stop breathing and Stastny would resume CPR, The
man took a total of six or seven breaths while Stastny was
perforiBing €PR> but he ceased' breathing before the
paramedics .wived. After paramedics tot)k the man to the
hospital* Stasmy .spent the rest of the day swelling -for the
suspect vehicle,

Stastny testified tfe he had provided flsfe prosecutor with a
copy of hisdashboard camera video of the scene. He testified
fat he had viewed and initialed Stated Exhibit 52&, and that
it was a true and correct record of the events he observed that
day. Defense counsel objected* in relevant pait> that the video
was more prejudicial than probative and "may be
Infiainrnatory.** The trial judge excused the jurats and
reviewed State's Exhibit 528 outside their presence, The judge
then concluded that the video corroborated Stastny's
testmtony> indicated that Hasse^s death was not the result of
Improper medical eare, corrobomted testimony concerning
Hawse's wounds, mid \va$ more probative than pmjucUclai
When the jurors returned to the courfrooE^ the judge warned
them that the video was"not particularly graphic^ but It is very
dramatic," State's Exhibit 528 was then played for the jury.

The considerations for determining the admissibility of
audiovisual recordings under Texas Rule of Evidence 403 are
generally to same as those for determining the adnlissfbillly
$f photographs^ the admissibility of photographs is within
the sound discretion of the trial judge '̂uRMe.4-Q3 requires:
exclusion of evidence only when there exists a clear disparity
between the degree of prejudice of the offered evidence and its
prpba:fivevwke^s^ "When determining whether the demger of
uttfafcprejudice substarrtjally outweighs fee profetiye value of
phol^graphs,, we consider fectors such, as the number of
photograpl^ 'their graesomeness, feefr detail, Hiefc sfees

whe&er tiiey are black and white or cploi^ wheflier the body
is naked or^
autopsy,^ We also consider the availability of other means of
proof and the circumstances unique to each individual easeJ^
PllQtogt4aphs depicting matters desci'Ibed by admissible

WESTtAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 30



Williams v. State, Not Reported in S.W.3d (2017)

testimony are not rendered inadmissible merely because they
are gruesome or might tend to arouse the passions of the jury,
unless they are offered solely to inflame the minds of the
jury.!!!

community and to the victim's survivors .̂  We conclude that
the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by admitting State's
Exhibit 528. Point of error twenty-six is overruled.

*28 To account for the differences between still images and
audiovisual recordings, we will consider the length of the
video rather than the number of photographs,^ Additionally,
when the trial record reflects that the jury heard the audio
portion of the recording, we will consider whether the audio
tended to arouse the passions of the jury or was otherwise
inflammatory.^

In this case, the audiovisual recording was 11 minutes, 28
seconds long, The presentation of the punishment evidence
lasted seven days. The dashboard camera recorded the view
through the front windshield of the police car. The first part of
the video silently depicted the route from the burglary scene
to the murder scene as the police car backed out of a driveway
and into the street and then drove past houses and buildings.
The remainder of the video, accompanied by audio, depicted
Stastny's arrival at the crime scene, his administration of CPR
upon the victim, his efforts in ensuring that the victim was
loaded properly into an ambulance, and his leaving the scene
to search for the suspect.

As the trial judge concluded, this audiovisual recording was
dramatic but not gruesome. Additionally, Williams "fails to
specify in what respect he believes the tape was prejudicial,"^
Also, the recording depicted no more than flie results of
Williams's own conduct, "[W]hen the power of the visible
evidence emanates from nothing more than what the defendant
has himself done [,] we cannot hold that the trial court has
abused his discretion merely because it admitted the
evidence,"108

In addition, this recording "could have aided the jury in better
understanding" Stastny's testimony concerning his own actions
and the state of crime scene, as well as his testimony
concerning Hasse's location and condition.^ It "provide[d] a
framework within which the particulars of the State's evidence
could be developed,"^ The audio portion of the recording was
not unduly emotional or inflammatory. The voices on the
recording generally remained level and calm.

Victim Impact Evidence

F251 In point of error twenty-seven, Williams asserts, "The trial
court erred in overruling [Williams's] objection to victim
Impact evidence of a victim not named in the indictment," To
support his elaiin, he then provides an excerpt of the trial
record from the punishment phase. In this excerpt, a witness
identified State's Exhibit 50, a photograph of Hasse's body,
over defense counsel's objection that "a murder victim not
named in the indictment, while admissible under same
transaction contextual evidence, evidence of good character
activities or impact of, of that individual's death on the witness
is not relevant,"

*29 On appeal, Williams contends that extraneous victim
impact evidence is irrelevant in the context of the special
issues under Article 37.-Q7L He also argues that the witness's
testimony constituted an impermissible "comparative worth"
analysis. However, Williams failed to make a "comparative
worth" argument at trial, and so we will not consider it on
appeal.

The record reflects that the State called Officer Justin Lewis,
who testified that he had worked as an investigator for the
Kaufman County DA's office during Hasse's tenure as an
assistant district attorney. He testified without objection that
he and Hasse had. become friends while Lewis was Hasse's
investigator at the DA's office, Lewis affirmed that he spoke
at Hasse's funeral. He identified State's Exhibit 2 as a
photograph of Hasse "when he was alive." Lewis testified that
Hasse "brought a lot of experience*' and "a wealth of
knowledge" to the Kaufman County DA's Office, Hasse had
been a prosecutor in the Dallas County DA's Office for many
years and was the head of the organized crime division before
he accepted employment with the Kaufman County DA's
Office, Lewis testified that many law enforcement officers and
attorneys in Kaufman County relied on Hasse to answer their
legal questions, Hasse was considered McLelland's "top
assistant district attorney," and he was also a certified peace
officer, Hasse usually carried a Glock pistol

Finally, this recording was offered at the punishment phase,
when the State properly could present evidence demonstrating
that Williams's victims were not faceless, fungible strangers,
and that his conduct had foreseeable consequences to the

When the prosecutor asked Lewis if Hasse had a family,
defense counsel objected "under relevance," The prosecutor
responded that he was trying to "flush [sic] out the victim in
this case." The trial judge overruled the objection, but added,

WESTLAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 31



Williams v. State, Not Reported in S.W.3d (2017)

"not a lot of this." Lewis then testified that Hasse had a brother
in Virginia and a mother in the Dallas area. Hasse, who was
unmarried, had been close to his mother,

The prosecutor then inquired into Lewis's role in the
investigations of the Hasse and McLelland murders. Lewis
stated that he did not play "a major role" in those
investigations. However, around 8:40 on the morning that
Hasse was murdered, Lewis looked out of his window in the
sheriffs office and saw two detectives running toward their
vehicles. He called dispatch to find out what had happened
and learned that there had been a shooting at the courthouse.
Lewis then ran to his own vehicle and drove to the courthouse,
Several officers and an ambulance were already on the scene
when Lewis arrived, so he began searching the neighborhood
for the suspect vehicle. While searching, he encountered a
clerk from the DA's office and stopped briefly to speak with
her, She informed Lewis that the shooting victim was Hasse
and that he had died. When the prosecutor asked Lewis how
the news affected him, Lewis responded that he was shocked
and that it had "never occurred to me that it was—," Defense
counsel interrupted, objecting to this testimony on grounds
that it was not relevant and violated Texas Rule of Evidence
403. The judge overruled the objection. Defense counsel then
added:

Judge, may I, may I add an objection under,
specifically under Cantu v—versus State,
•••^U!1 which says that a murder victim not
named in the indictment, while admissible
under same transaction contextual evidence,
evidence of good character activities or impact
of, of that individual's death on the witness is
not relevant.

The trial judge again overruled the objection.
However, Lewis did not finish his interrupted
answer, and the prosecutor did not continue this line
of inquiry. Instead, the prosecutor showed Lewis a
photograph of Hasse's body} which Lewis identified
without further comment. The prosecutor offered the
photograph as State's Exhibit 50 "for record only,"
and defense counsel stated that he had no objection
"for record purposes only,"

*30 The prosecutor then asked Lewis to identify
several aerial photographs and a "crime scene
diagram" of the area where Hasse was murdered,
and Lewis did so. Defense counsel stated that he had
no objection to the admission of those photographs
and the diagram, The prosecutor published one of

the aerial photographs to the jury and Lewis testified
concerning its contents. When the prosecutor passed
the witness, defense counsel had no questions, and
Lewis was excused.

On appeal, Williams directs us only to defense
counsel's objection immediately before the
prosecutor showed Lewis the photograph of Hasse's
body. He does not contend that any other part of
Lewis's testimony was inadmissible. To the extent
that Williams intends to complain of any other part
of Lewis's testimony, his point is inadequately
briefed.

Furthermore, Article- 37,071, section 2-ftfJfll
provides that, in the punishment phase of a capital
trial in which the State seeks the death penalty,
evidence may be presented by the State and the
defendant as to any matter that the trial judge deems
relevant to sentence. Evidence is relevant if it has
"any tendency to make the existence of any fact that
is of consequence to the determination of the action
more probable or less probable than it would be
without the evidence."^ It is well established that
the range and severity of a defendant's other criminal
conduct is one type of evidence that is relevant to
sentencing,^ Such evidence is "clearly probative" of
a defendant's future dangerousness,^ Relevant
extraneous-offense evidence may include, for
example, the testimony of extraneous-offense
victims concerning the circumstances of the
extraneous offense and identifying the defendant as
the perpetrator.^ More specifically, it may include
testimony concerning the extent of an
extraneous-offense victim's injuries.^

In this case, the complained-of evidence was Lewis's
unfinished answer to the question asking how the
news of Hasse's murder affected him, and his
identification of a photograph of Hasse's body, Even
if we assume without deciding that the prosecutor's
question and Lewis's answer were improper, we find
no harm in Lewis's brief and incomplete response,
Other testimony concerning Hasse's character and
the effects of his murder on others in the community
had already been admitted into evidence without
objection,^ Further, as evidence of the range and
severity of Williams's other criminal conduct,
Lewis's identification of the photograph was
evidence relevant to sentence, Point of error
twenty-seven is overruled.
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Frank AuBuchon Testimony

[26Hn point of error twenty-eight, Williams
contends that the trial judge erred in overruling his
objection during the State's punishment-phase
cross-examination of the defense's expert witness,
Frank AuBuchon, about the conduct of other inmates
in the Texas prison system. Specifically, Williams
argues that the State's questioning concerning the
"Texas Seven" elicited irrelevant evidence, Williams
also asserts that this testimony violated his Eighth
Amendment right to an individualized punishment
decision because this line of questioning effectively
punished him for other inmates' misconduct.

*31 In considering whether the trial judge's
evidentiary ruling was in error, we do not view
AuBuchon's testimony in a vacuum.^ Instead, we
view it in the context of the parties' punishment
phase arguments and evidence,^

The defense's position was that Williams would not
be a future danger if he received a sentence of life in
prison without the possibility of parole. In argument,
defense counsel pointed to Williams's "age, his
health conditions, and even his behavioral record in
jail since his arrest." Counsel also asserted that
Williams had already exacted the revenge he sought,
and so he was no longer dangerous,

In support of this position^ defense counsel called
officials who interacted with Williams at the
Kaufman County and Rockwall County jails and
who escorted him to and from the courthouse and the
courtroom. They generally affirmed that Williams
was cooperative. On cross-examination, however,
they also expressed concern that Williams was "very
observant, and that he's watching every single thing
that they do." Williams did and said things that
indicated he was "testing the system to see exactly
how it works." Authorities suspected that this
"testing" included inducing medical episodes by
manipulating his blood sugar levels.

Over defense counsel's "individualized sentencing"
objection, the prosecutor cross-examined a Kaufman
County jail administrator about another inmate's

escape from the hospital where Williams had been
taken after he passed out from low blood sugar.
Defense prison expert James Aiken described prison
security measures and opined that, if Williams
received a sentence of life without parole, he could
be secured in a correctional environment so that he
would not cause "undue harm" to others. On
cross-examination, over defense counsel's
"individualized sentencing" objection, the
prosecutor elicited Aiken's testimony concerning
several specific incidents in which inmates had
escaped from prison, committed assaults and
murders in prison, and orchestrated offenses outside
of prison by secretly contacting their associates in
the "free world," Aiken testified that some of these
offenses were committed by prisoners who had not
appeared to be dangerous or who had not been
disciplinary problems before they committed violent
acts.

Defense counsel then called prison expert Frank
AuBuchon to testify concerning TDCJ's prison
security and classification system. AuBuchon
described the physical security measures in place in
Texas prison facilities, as well as the five
classification or custody levels applicable to inmates
in the general prison population, He also described
the intake procedure that every new inmate would
undergo at a diagnostic unit before being assigned to
a prison unit and given an initial custody level. An
offender convicted of capital murder and sentenced
to life without the possibility of parole would be
assigned to the most restrictive type of prison facility
and would likely have an initial custody level of
three. Such an offender's custody level could become
more restrictive than three if he behaved badly, but
it could never become less restrictive than three. The
offender would face housing and job restrictions
throughout his incarceration.

*32 AuBuchon testified that he had listened to the
testimony of the officers who interacted with
Williams at the Kaufman County and Rockwall
County Jails. He had also reviewed Williams's jail
records and records concerning the facts of the
instant offense. Based on that information,
AuBuchon opined that, if Williams were sentenced
to life without the possibility of parole, he would
probably be placed in the general population with a
custody level of three. Williams's custody level
would never be classified below three.
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On cross-examination, and over defense counsel's
repeated objection, AuBuchon affirmed the
prosecutor's recitation of the details of a prison
escape by the Texas Seven, a group of offenders
who had been serving lengthy sentences at a
maximum security prison unit, One of the inmates
was a "capital life" inmate. Some of them were in
their late 30's. Several worked in maintenance. None
had major disciplinary records. They broke out of
the prison after overpowering nine guards, several
civilian employees, and some inmates. They tricked
the guards at the gate tower into letting them inside,
and they were able to take a revolver and other
weapons and escape. They remained at large for 42
days. During that period, they committed multiple
robberies and murdered a police officer. AuBuchon
acknowledged that this incident demonstrated that
some inmates could study the security system and
identify and exploit its weaknesses. He also
acknowledged that, although prison officials had
made a number of security improvements after that
incident, individual escapes continued to happen.

On redirect, AuBuchon testified that the total prison
population was about 152,000 inmates, with about
70,000 people a year rotating in and out of prison.
Despite some incidents of prison escapes and
assaults, the classification system was still a useful
tool for assigning an inmate's custody and affording
appropriate security to control an inmate's behavior.
AuBuchon acknowledged that he had worked with
many attorneys, and he agreed with defense counsel's
suggestion that being an attorney or a former
attorney was "by no means a sign of intelligence."
On recross, AuBuchon acknowledged that there had
"probably" been about 180 murders in TDCJ since
1984.

Williams argues that the admission of AuBuchon's
testimony about the "Texas Seven" violated the
Eighth Amendment because it denied him an
"individualized" sentencing determination. But the
Eighth Amendment does not establish a special
"federal code of evidence" governing "the
admissibility of evidence at capital sentencing
proceedings" to "supersede state evidentiary rules in
capital sentencing proceedings."^

Rather, the Eighth Amendment requires the State to
establish rational criteria that narrow the decision
maker's judgment as to whether the circumstances of

a particular defendant's case meet the threshold for
imposing the death penalty^ The State c*samotlimit
the sentencer's consideration of any relevant
circumstance that could cause it to decline to impose
the penalty."^ In this respect, the State must allow
the sentencer to consider any relevant information
offered by the defendant.fi But beyond these
limitations, the Supreme Court has deferred to the
State's choice of substantive factors relevant to the
penalty determination.^

*33 "Once the jury finds that the defendant falls
within the legislatively defined category of persons
eligible for the death penalty,..., the jury then is free
to consider a myriad of factors to determine whether
death is the appropriate punishment"^ Without
more, the "mere admission of irrelevant and
prejudicial evidence" does not constitute an Eighth
Amendment violation that requires the reversal of a
death sentence.^ In this case, the evidence at issue
was relevant to rebut Williams's evidence and to test
AuBuchon's opinion that prison security measures
would ensure that Williams would not be a future
danger. Williams's Eighth Amendment claim is
without merit,

Point of error twenty-eight is overruled.

Weapons Display

In point of error twenty-nine, Williams asserts that
the trial judge erred in overruling his objections to
State's Exhibits 333 through 342, 344 through 415,
415b, 416, 416b, 531, 534, 535, and 566 through
570, admitted at the punishment phase. He contends
that "the number of weapons «.. displayed] all at
once to the jury was prejudicial ,„ and gave undue
weight to the quantity of firearms seized that were
not relevant as being used in the commission of the
offenses presented," Williams argues that the display
"impaired the presumption of innocence" and "was
a comment on the evidence by the trial court" that
violated his rights to due process and equal
protection.

Outside the jury's presence, Bureau of Alcohol,
Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives Special Agent
Matthew Johnson testified at the punishment phase
concerning the firearms and ammunition recovered
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from Unit 18, Specifically, the prosecutor stated, "in
front of us we have numerous different firearms and
ammunition and black powder weapons/5 and asked
Johnson if he had recovered these items during his
search of Unit 18, Johnson affirmed that he had, but
clarified that two of the handguns in the display were
recovered from Lake Tawakoni and one of the
displayed handguns was recovered from Williams's
house, The prosecutor noted that those three
weapons were already in evidence, The prosecutor
then offered the weapons and other items recovered
from Unit 18 as State's Exhibits 333 through 342,
344 through 415, 415b, 416, 416b, 531, 534, and
535, Additionally, he offered three boxes containing
ammunition that had been recovered from Unit 18 as
State's Exhibits 566 through 568, He also offered, as
State's Exhibits 569 and 570, two poster-sized
photographs of the interior of Unit 18 after the
Crown Victoria had been backed out of it but before
its other contents had been moved.

Defense counsel objected, stating:

This display is horrendous. It is cumulative.
The jury has seen all of the photographs of all
the items recovered and seized in evidence
throughout this case. This display of, of items
is wholly unnecessary, prejudicial in the
extreme. This is not some type of drug raid we
see in Mexico City, I think it's clearly
designed for one purpose and one purpose
only, to inflame the jury's sentiments to drive
the decision on something other than the facts
in this case. I object. I think that the,
the—several of these weapons, by the State's
own expert's admissions, are clearly not
connected to this case, are curios. It's—Judge,
it's fundamentally unfair under the 8th and
14th Amendments of the United States
Constitution and the state cognates thereto, I
feel somehow compelled that there's a 2nd
Amendment argument in here somewhere, and
I simply object.

State's Exhibits 333 through 388, as well as 531,
534, 535, and 536, were a variety of handguns and
long guns. Among them, Johnson identified five
semi-automatic rifles, an "SKS" rifle with a bay onet,
an "AR type rifle" with a flashlight and a
dot-projecting scope, another rifle mounted on a
tripod, and fourteen semi-automatic pistols. One of
the semi-automatic pistols was equipped with a
dot-projecting scope, flashlight, sling, and laser.
Johnson identified thirty-six other firearms as
shotguns, rifles, revolvers, and pistols,

Johnson also identified State's Exhibit 405 as a
sheathed sword, Exhibit 406 as a sheathed machete,
and Exhibit 407 as a crossbow with scope, He
identified State's Exhibit 413 as a green backpack
that contained State's Exhibit 414 (bolt cutters),
Exhibit 407a (three crossbow bolts), and other items,
Johnson did not expressly identify State's Exhibits
389 through 404, 415, 415b, 416, and 416b,
although he affirmed, that the display included
several paint cans and six plastic ammunition boxes
that had been recovered from Unit 18,

Williams directs us to a "visual image of the
display,33 which he states is on post-trial Defense's
Exhibit 8, a DVD containing an audiovisual
recording of the court proceedings, between time
counters 2:58 and 3:20. In fact, that image is on
post-trial Defense's Exhibit 9, starting around time
counter 1:06:46, The image reflects that the weapons
were displayed on and around three wooden racks
that sat on tables in the area between the counsel
tables and the judge's bench. The distance from the
floor to the top of the display was approximately the
prosecutor's height. The two posters depicting the
interior of Unit 18 were hanging on the wall behind
the witness stand, Johnson testified that two of the
wooden racks contained ten rifles each, while the
third rack contained forty-two pistols. The green
back pack was on one of the tables. The ammunition
boxes, cans, and non-firearm weapons were on the
floor.

The trial judge overruled defense counsel's
objections, concluding that the exhibits were
relevant to punishment and were more probative
than prejudicial.

*34 The jury then entered the courtroom, and
Johnson identified a number of weapons for the jury,

The recording shows that Johnson removed and
replaced each firearm as he identified it for the jury,
Johnson also opened one box of ammunition for the
jury's examination and showed its contents to the
jury while identifying several types of ammunition.
Additionally, he held up the machete, sword, and
crossbow as he described them. He carried the green
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backpack from the display table to the witness stand
before he opened it and showed its contents to the

jury-

Rule 403 allows for the exclusion of otherwise
relevant evidence when its probative value is
substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair
prejudice.^ The rule favors the admission of
relevant evidence and carries a presumption that
relevant evidence will be more probative than
prejudicial.^ "The term 'probative value' refers to
the inherent probative force of an item of
evidence—that is, how strongly it serves to make
more or less probable the existence of a fact of
consequence to the litigation—coupled with the
proponent's need for that item of evidence,"^ The
probability that a defendant will commit criminal
acts of violence that would constitute a continuing
threat to society is a 'Tact of consequence55 at the
punishment phase.^

" 'Unfair prejudice' refers to a tendency to suggest
decision on an improper basis, commonly, though
not necessarily, an emotional one«"^ All testimony
and physical evidence are likely be prejudicial to one
party or the otherJ^ An analysis under Rule 403
includes, but is not limited to, the following factors:
(1) the probative value of the evidence; (2) the
potential to impress the jury in some irrational, yet
indelible., way; (3) the time needed to develop the
evidence; and (4) the proponent's need for the
evidence,134

*35 [271In this case, the weapons display was highly
probative of Williams's future dangerousness.
Although the jury had heard testimony concerning
the discovery of these weapons during the search of
Unit 18 and had seen photographs of many of them,
the trial judge was within his discretion in ruling that
the display was not merely cumulative. The
collective weapons display and the photographs of
Unit 18's interior illustrated for the jury, in a way
that previous testimony and photographs of the
individual weapons had not, that Williams had
assembled and secreted a well-organized and
substantial arsenal in Unit 18, even though it was
illegal for him to possess firearms,^ These exhibits
also conveyed to the jury that Unit 18 was
Williams's secret "base of operations,55 The number
and variety of the weapons, and their careful
arrangement inside Unit 18, suggested that Williams

anticipated using his "base" for future activities,
Particularly when considered together with Kim's
subsequent testimony that Williams had killed only
two of the four people on his "hit list,55 this weapons
display demonstrated that Williams's plans were not
limited to the murders that he had already
committed.

Certainly, the weapons display was prejudicial.
However, it did not have a tendency to suggest a
decision on an improper basis. The display
accurately and effectively showed the jury the
number, size, and variety of weapons that Williams,
after murdering three people with various types of
firearms, continued to possess in secret at the time of
his arrest. Presenting the display did not take a
tremendous amount of time; rather, presenting the
weapons all together in one display was more
efficient than presenting them serially, The State had
already presented photographs of the weapons
recovered from Unit 18 and so its need for the
display was, arguably, slight. Still, the trial judge
could reasonably conclude that the display was not
merely cumulative of the other weapons evidence.
Thus, the trial judge acted within his discretion by
overruling Williams's Texas Rule of Evidence 403
objection,

F281Although Williams did not expressly object at
trial on the grounds of due process and equal
protection that he now raises on appeal, he did
object at trial that the weapons display was
inflammatory and "fundamentally unfair under the
8th and 14th Amendments." We conclude that this
objection preserved Williams's due process claim,
Nevertheless, this claim is without merit for
essentially the same reasons that Williams's Texas
Rule of Evidence 403 claim is without merit, On'the
facts of this case, we fail to see anything
fundamentally unfair about allowing the jury, at the
punishment phase, to view the actual firearms and
other weapons that Williams had amassed in his
"base of operations55 from which he had already
committed three murders, Point of error twenty-nine
is overruled.

[291rn point of error thirty, Williams contends that
the trial judge erred in denying his motion for
mistrial "when the State presented to the jury a
display of weapons[,] some of which were not in
evidence," He relies on an event that occurred after
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Johnson testified before the jury concerning the
weapons discussed in point of error twenty-nine.
Specifically, the record reflects that, at some point
during the defense's presentation of its punishment
case-in-chief, the prosecutor discovered that some of
the weapons in the display had no connection to
Williams or to this case. Outside the jury's presence,
the prosecutor stated that he intended to identify
those weapons and withdraw them when the jury
returned to the courtroom. Defense counsel did not
object to this procedure.

In the jury's presence, the prosecutor recalled
Johnson to identify thirteen erroneously-admitted
weapons and explain their provenance. The jury
learned that State's Exhibits 334,347,3 57,3 61,3 63,
368, 369, 372, 374, 375, 376, 379, and 382 should
not have been admitted into evidence because they
were not linked to Williams or to this case.
Specifically, Johnson identified these exhibits as; a
pistol recovered from Hasse's home after his murder;
a gun from the Seagoville Police Department
evidence room that was not linked to this case; and
several weapons from the Kaufman County District
Attorney's office weapons inventory that were not
linked to this case. The record reflects that Johnson
had previously described these weapons as a
semi-automatic rifle, a shotgun, four revolvers, six
semi-automatic pistols, and a pistol

*36 Defense counsel then reiterated his prior
objections to the weapons display. Counsel also
moved for a mistrial, stating that the jury had already
seen the display containing the erroneously-admitted
weapons. The trial judge denied the motion for
mistrial and withdrew the weapons from evidence.
The prosecutor then elicited Johnson's testimony
tha t , even af ter w i thd rawing the
erroneously-admitted weapons, approximately fifty
firearms were still linked to Williams,

After Johnson stepped down, the defense resumed its
punishment case-in-chief. Later, in a hearing outside
the jury's presence, defense counsel re-urged his
obj ection that the weapons display was inflammatory
and prejudicial under Texas Rule of Evidence
403(13), and added that the display was irrelevant and
fundamentally unfair. Counsel also asked the judge
to instruct the jurors that they should not consider
the withdrawn weapons during deliberations. The
trial judge responded that the number of firearms in

this case was "kind of like the ocean. There was
maybe 65 weapons before. Now there's 40
something or whatever. So to me, I don't think the
jury is going to see any appreciable difference
between the two." The judge then agreed to give the
jury an instruction to disregard the withdrawn
weapons. After the jurors entered the courtroom, the
judge provided them with that instruction.

For the reasons given in point of error twenty-nine,
the trial judge did not err by denying Williams's
motion for mistrial based on the weapons display,
Given that "over 40 something" weapons were
properly admitted, the trial judge's decision to deny
a mistrial, after thirteen weapons were identified as
improperly admitted, was within the zone of
reasonable disagreement^ The trial judge's
instruction to disregard the erroneously-admitted
weapons was sufficient to cure any harm.^ Point of
error thirty is overruled.

EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE

2012 Trial

In point of error thirty-one, Williams asserts that the
trial judge erred in sustaining the State's obj ection to
Defense's Exhibit 37. Williams asserts on appeal that
he sought to present Defense's Exhibit 37, which was
"other trial transcript testimony" of WilHams's 2012
trial, after the State "opened the door" to this
testimony by presenting Hasse's comments from that
trial "in a State's Exhibit," However, Williams does
not specify where in the record the State presented
an exhibit that included Hasse's comments from the
2012 trial. This point of error is inadequately
briefed,^ Nor have we, in our independent review of
the record, located such a State's Exhibit Hence, the
record does not support Williams's claim that the
State "opened the door" to Defense's Exhibit 37 by
presenting another part of the 2012 trial transcript
that included Hasse's comments.

*37 Williams also argues that the trial judge's
exclusion of Defense's Exhibit 37 denied him a fair
opportunity to present prior relationship evidence as
provided by Article 38,36 and deprived him of an
individualized sentencing determination as required
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by the Eighth Amendment Defense counsel did not
make these arguments at trial. Therefore, he failed to
preserve error. Point of error thirty-one is overruled.

Harrison's Testimony

In point of error thirty-two, Williams asserts that the
trial judge erred in sustaining the State's objection to
the defense's proffered testimony of former Distilct
Attorney Rick Harrison. Williams describes the
excluded testimony as "evidentiary circumstances
that were relevant to the relationship of [Williams]
to Mr, McLelland and Mark Hesse [sic]," He
contends that the trial judge's ruling denied him a
fair opportunity to present relationship evidence as
provided by Article 3836, and deprived him of the
individualized sentencing determination required by
the Eighth Amendment,

Just before Harrison testified, the prosecutor
approached the bench and asserted that the State's
team had had extensive contact with Harrison and
believed that Harrison had "very limited personal
knowledge about anything relevant in this case."
Defense counsel responded:

I believe Mr. Harrison will testify to some
specific instances where he interacted with
Mr, Williams concerning his campaign, I do
believe those are relevant to the overall picture
of Mr. Williams' life, development of the case
for which he was tried for, and I think itrs
germane,

The prosecutor responded that the State had no
objection to the defense's offer of proof, adding,
"We just don't want it going into areas where this
witness doesn't have personal knowledge about the
burglary case or hearsay statements made by Mr,
Hasse,"

In the jury's presence, Harrison testified, in relevant
part, that he was elected as the Kaufinan County
District Attorney in 2006 after defeating McLelland
in a runoff election. During the campaign, Williams
wrote a letter endorsing Harrison and critiquing
McLelland that was pvVblishsd in a local newspaper
as apolitical advertisement, Hams on acknowledged
that Williams's letter was "paid for by the

campaign,

Williams's letter was admitted as Defense's Exhibit
36, and Harrison read it aloud, When Harrison
finished reading the letter, defense counsel
attempted, over a multitude of sustained relevance
objections, to ask Harrison about McLelland's
various district-attorney campaigns, his track-record
as a district attorney, and the like. Defense counsel
made an oral offer of proof concerning Harrison's
anticipated testimony in these matters,

Counsel asserted that, if Harrison had been allowed
to testify freely; (1) Harrison would have testified
that McLelland, even after he became the elected
DA, continued to harbor a grudge against Harrison
and his supporters, including Williams; (2) the
defense "would have brought out the things that
McLelland had highlighted as Mr, Harrison's
weaknesses and the underlying facts that made that
campaign so polarizing"; (3) Harrison would have
talked about significant changes that he instituted in
the DA's office and the changing political climate
within the DA's office and Kaufinan County; (4)
Harrison would have testified that his friends and
acquaintances abandoned him after his DWI
conviction, and defense counsel would have drawn
parallels between the abandonment Harrison
experienced and the abandonment that Williams
experienced after his 2012 convictions; (5) Harrison
would have testified that such shifting allegiances
are "the nature of Kaufinan County," and that the
"insular" character of Kaufman County contributed
to Harrison's defeat during the second election; (6)
Harrison would have testified that McLelland "was
not the type of person to ever forget a grudge," and
that Williams's letter during Harrison's first
campaign "was absolutely not forgotten," as
demonstrated by Defense's" Exhibit 37, which
"specifically illustrated the fact that clearly Mike
McLelland had not forgotten about the letter that
[Williams] wrote in support of Rick Harrison"; and
(7) Harrison would have further testified that, upon
learning of the instant offenses, he immediately
suspected Williams and informed law enforcement
of his suspicion, and, as a personal friend of the
prosecutors in this case, Harrison contacted the
prosecutors and asked them to take this case and
review the 2012 trial transcript.

*38 On appeal, Williams asserts that Harrison's
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proffered testimony concerning Harrison's and
McLelland's previous election campaigns for DA
was relevant to show Williams's prior relationships
with McLelland and Hasse. He argues that the trial
judge's exclusion of this evidence violated Article
38,36 by depriving him of a fair opportunity to
present evidence of these prior relationships, He
further argues that this error denied the sentencer the
opportunity to consider mitigating evidence, thereby
frustrating Williams's Eighth Amendment right to an
individualized sentencing determination.

Williams's assertion of multiple legal theories under
a single point of error renders this point of error
multifarious and inadequately briefed. Further,
Williams did not expressly raise his Article 3 8,3 6 or
Eighth Amendment grounds for admissibility at trial.
Arguably, therefore, he failed to preserve error. We
could reject Williams's arguments on these bases
alone,^However, the context and language of some
of counsel's questions to Harrison indicated that they
were designed to elicit potentially mitigating prior
relationship evidence concerning Williams and
McLelland, We will address this point of error only
to the extent that the information sought, as indicated
by the context and the questions asked, arguably
comports with Williams's contentions on appeal.

Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which
excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the
party is affected, and the substance of the evidence
was made known to the court by an offer of proof or
was apparent from the context^ Under this
standard, an oral proffer is generally sufficient to
preserve error.^1

However, an offer of proof that is made in the form
of a statement by counsel "must include a reasonably
specific summary of the evidence offered and must
state the relevance of the evidence unless the
relevance is apparent, so that the court can determine
whether the evidence is relevant and admissible."^
In this case, none of the items identified in defense
counsel's offer of proof had any apparent relevance
to Williams's prior relationship with Hasse, and
therefore those items were not potentially mitigating
evidence of Williams's motive, for murdering Hasse.
Further, only items (1), (6), and (7) arguably
comport with Williams's contentions on appeal.

The remaining proffered items generally concern
Harrison's election campaigns, his tenure as DA, and
the political climate of Kaufman County, Defense
counsel's offer of proof did not state the relevance
that these items might have had to Williams's motive
for murdering McLelland, or to Williams's own
circumstances, and their relevance was not apparent.
Therefore, the offer of proof failed to preserve error
as to the exclusion of those items, and we need not
address them on appeal,

Accordingly, we limit our review to the trial judge's
exclusion of items (1), (6), and (7), Concerning item
(1) (testimony that McLelland continued harboring
a grudge against Harrison and his supporters),
defense counsel asked Harrison whether McLelland's
continued dislike of him extended to Harrison's
friends and supporters, and the trial judge sustained
the prosecutor's objection that counsel was asking
Harrison "to speculate what a dead man thinks about
other people,55^ On appeal, however, Williams does
not challenge the trial judge's ruling on this
objection. To the extent that Williams intends to
make such a complaint, he has inadequately briefed
it and we need not address it

*39 [301 Defense counsel also asked Harrison if he
had personal experience with McLelland
antagonizing Harrison's supporters, and the trial
judge sustained the prosecutor's relevance obj ection,
Williams does complain on appeal about the trial
judge's ruling on this objection. Therefore, we will
review the trial judge's evidentiary ruling for an(

abuse of discretion.1114

"Relevant evidence" is evidence having a tendency
to make the existence of any fact that is of
consequence to the determination of the action more
or less probable than it would be without the
evidence.^ Defense counsel did not specifically ask
Harrison whether he had personal experience with
McLelland antagonizing Williams, If he had, then
the anticipated testimony might have been relevant.
Instead, defense counsel generally asked whether
Harrison had personal experience with McLelland
antagonizing Harrison's supporters, The trial judge
did not abuse his discretion by concluding that the
answer to this question was not relevant. Further,
because this inquiry did not relate to Wiliiams's own
circumstances, its exclusion did not undermine
Williams's right to an individualized sentencing
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determination,^ Thus, the trial judge did not abuse
his discretion by sustaining the prosecutor's
relevance objection to item (1),

F3 nConceming item (6) (testimony that McLelland
was not the type of person to forget a grudge, and he
still remembered Williams's letter), defense counsel
asked Harrison if he thought that McLelland ever
"forgot about the letter,55 and the trial judge
sustained the prosecutor's objection to "speculation
and relevance," Williams does not argue on appeal
that the trial judge erred by excluding this testimony
on the ground of "speculation,"^ Williams's
omission of any argument concerning "speculation"
renders this complaint inadequately briefed, and we
could sustain the trial judge's ruling on this basis,
alone.

Nevertheless, our independent review of the record
has revealed that the trial judge did not err by
excluding this evidence as speculative. Rule 602
provides that a witness "may testify to a matter only
if evidence is introduced sufficient to support a
finding that the witness has personal knowledge of
the matter,"^ If the proponent of lay-opinion
testimony cannot establish personal knowledge, the
trial judge should exclude the testimony,^ In this
case, defense counsel did not establish that Harris on
had personal knowledge of whether McLeliand had
forgotten about Williams's letter, Therefore, the trial
judge did not abuse his discretion by sustaining the
prosecutor's objection to item (6) on the ground of
"speculation." Having concluded that the trial judge
properly excluded the evidence as speculative, we
need not consider whether he properly excluded this
evidence on the ground of relevance.

*40 [32]Concerning item (7) (testimony that
Harrison immediately suspected Williams, informed
law enforcement of his suspicions, and asked the
prosecutor to review the 2012 trial transcript),
defense counsel asked Harrison whether, upon
learning of Hasse's murder, Harrison "immediately"
suspected Williams. Defense counsel also made the
statement, "When the McLellands were murdered,
yoxi personally informed the prosecutors that they
should look at the theft transcript in this case," The
trial judge sustained the prosecutor's relevance
objections to both the. q\vestioa and the statement.
Defense counsel proffered that, if the judge had not
sustained the objections, Harrison would have

testified that, upon learning of the murders, he
immediately suspected Williams, and he asked the
prosecutors to look at the trial transcript from
Williams's 2012 theft case, It appears from this
exchange that defense counsel sought to present the
jury with Harrison's opinion that Williams was
singularly motivated to commit the instant offenses
and that the 2012 trial transcript would help
illuminate Williams's motives

Even if we assume that the judge erred by excluding
Harrison's proffered testimony in item (7), this
exclusion was not harmful because the jury was
already aware that Hasse and McLelland had
successfully prosecuted Williams for burglary and
theft in 2012, and that these convictions motivated
Williams to commit the instant offense. During the
examination of Williams's friend and fellow attorney
Jenny Parks, Parks testified that she had personally
watched the 2012 trial "every day," Defense counsel
elicited Parks's testimony that the 2012 trial was "a
ridiculous prosecution" and that Williams should
"never have been brought to court for what they
were saying that he did," Parks further expressed the
opinion that Williams was wrongly convicted and
that the evidence presented against him "wasn't
factual," She stated that she thought the prosecution
was "over the top,"

Parks's testimony provided potentially mitigating
evidence of Williams's motive that was similar to,
and more specific than, Harrison's proffered
testimony. Parks's testimony that she did not
immediately suspect Williams differed from
Harrison's proffered testimony that he immediately
suspected Williams, but we fail to seehow excluding
that part of Harrison's testimony could have harmed
Williams, On the contrary, Harrison's proffered
testimony would have informed the jury that, even
before Williams had been publicly identified as a
suspect, Harrison had believed that Williams was
capable of committing these murders. To this extent,
such information would not have been mitigating.
Thus, even if the trial judge erred by excluding item
(7), Williams was not harmed.^ Point of error
thirty-two is overruled.

Graduation Video

[331 In point of error thirty-three, Williams asserts
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that the trial judge erred in sustaining the State's
relevance objection to Defense's Exhibit 47, a video
recording of Williams's high school graduation.
Williams argues that he was denied due process and
his right to a fair trial because this exhibit was
mitigating evidence of his life and achievements
before the 2012 trial. Williams contends that his
strategy was to show that his conduct in committing
the instant offenses was "an aberration in a long life
of achievement/5 and that the triggers behind his
criminal conduct would not be present in prison,
Williams complains that excluding this exhibit
denied him the opportunity to present a complete
case in mitigation and "to graphically show a more
normal human side" of his life.

*41 The record reflects that, during the testimony of
Hugh "Brad" Pense, who had been Williams's close
friend from childhood through high school, defense
counsel presented Defendant's Exhibits 38 through
48. Except for Exhibit 47, these exhibits were
photographs of Williams and his friends, taken
during school-related and scouting activities.
Defense counsel asked Pense whether "those
pictures fairly and accurately show what appear to be
shown in the photos," Pense responded
affirmatively, and defense counsel offered them into
evidence. Initially, all of these exhibits were
admitted without objection. However, defense
counsel then stated, "In that sequence there was
a—... video, your Honor, that's on DVD that I need
to, ,,. also include in that series as well," The
prosecutor responded:

[PROSECUTOR]: Frankly, I don't know how I can
examine it right here at this moment in front of the
jury. I think I'm entitled to examine the contents of
the disk,

THE COURT: What's the video about?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: High school graduation,
your Honor,

THE COURT: Is there a relevance objection?

[PROSECUTOR]: There is a relevance objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

The trial judge then admitted Defendant's Exhibits
38 through 48 "with the exception of 47,"

We have reviewed Defense's Exhibit 47. It is a
one-hour, fifty-eight-minute audiovisual recording
that initially shows two events that do not appear to
feature Williams at all The video is grainy and
blurred, Approximately one and one-half hours of
the recording depict the graduation of the Azle High
School Senior Class of 1985, Only about ten seconds
of this recording feature Williams, Williams was
first recognized, during the scholarship
announcements as "one of our top academic students
in science and math" as well as the recipient of a full
scholarship to Texas Christian University. Williams
was recognized a second time during the distribution
of the diplomas, when he received his diploma "cum
laude."

Even assuming arguendo that the judge abused his
discretion by excluding this recording, any error was
harmless in light of the defense's presentation of an
abundance of similar mitigating evidence. Williams
presented testimony from his junior high and high
school friends, as well as their parents. He also
presented the testimony of his Boy Scout troop
leader and a high school teacher who had sponsored
Williams's interscholastic academic competitions.
These witnesses recalled that Williams was friendly,
helpful, hard working, well behaved, and intelligent.

Williams also introduced into evidence numerous
photographs of himself as a baby, child, adolescent,
teenager, and adult, These included individual
portraits and class pictures; group photographs of
Williams with his Boy Scout troop; candid
photographs taken during scouting events and
camping trips; a portrait of Williams in his high
school or college graduation robes; portraits of
Williams with his date at formal dances;
photographs of Williams with his high school
friends; photographs of Williams at a summer job,
together with time cards showing the hours he
worked; a photograph of Williams, as a
commissioned military officer, swearing into the Air
Force his friend Pense, who had just completed
ROTC; and photographs of Williams and Kim at
their wedding. Almost all of these photographs
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depicted Williams facing the camera and smiling,
Williams also introduced a photo graph of a scouting
medal he had received; a copy of an invitation to his
Eagle Scout Court of Honor; and copies of
newspaper reports of his Boy Scout troop's activities,
his high school band's activities, and his high school
academic team's competitions and awards.

Even without Defense's Exhibit 47, Williams
presented abundant evidence of his "long life of
achievement," particularly his activities and
accomplishments through his high school years.
Point of error thirty-three is overruled.

Adams's Testimony

*42 In point of error thirty-four, Williams contends
that the trial court erred in sustaining the State's
relevance objection to a portion of the defense's
proffered testimony of Cathy Adams, In his brief,
Williams relies solely on the defense's written offer
of proof which purports to describe Adams's
excluded testimony. At trial, however, defense
counsel also made an oral offer of proof in
question-and-answer form during Adams's
testimony. In addressing this point of error, we will
consider the entire record pertaining to Adams's
testimony.

As a prerequisite to presenting a complaint for
appellate review, the dial record must show that: the
complaint was made to the trial court by a timely
request, objection, or motion that stated the grounds
for the ruling sought with sufficient specificity,
unless the grounds were apparent •from the context,
and complied with the rules of evidence or appellate
procedure; and the trial court ruled on the request,
objection, or motion, or, if the trial court refused to
rule, the complaining party objected to the refusal,^
If an evidentiary ruling excludes evidence, a party
may claim error only if the party informed the court
of the substance of the evidence by an offer of proof,
unless the substance was apparent from the
context.152

In this case, the trial judge allowed Adams to testify
to some of Williams's positive character traits, as
well as some aspects of Kaufman County politics
and Williams's 2012 prosecution, Adams's testimony

and defense counsel's oral offer of proof establish
that the trial court excluded Adams's proffered
testimony concerning: (1) the facts underlying her
disbarment (sustaining the prosecutor's objection that
these facts were not relevant); (2) Adams's opinion
that Williams's 2012 prosecution was politically
motivated (sustaining the prosecutor's objections that
her testimony concerning the theft trial was
speculative, irrelevant, and unduly prejudicial); (3)
Adams's opinion that the 2012 trial was unfair
because "there were things that had the jury known
might have made a difference in that case"
(sustaining the prosecutor's objections that her
testimony concerning the theft trial was speculative,
irrelevant, unduly prejudicial, and a "strange
comment from an attorney"); and (4) Hasse's
comments to Adams referring to Williams as her
"thief friend" (sustaining the prosecutor's objection
that the testimony was hearsay and that there was no
evidence that Williams was aware of those
comments).

[341 Concerning item (1), the trial judge did not
abuse his discretion by concluding that the
underlying facts of Adams's disbarment were
irrelevant. It was not apparent, and defense counsel
did not argue, that these facts involved Williams in
any way, The judge could reasonably conclude that
such evidence did not tend to make the existence of
any fact that was of consequence to the
determination of the action more or less probable
than it would have been without the evidence,

f3 51 Concerning item (2), the judge did not abuse his
discretion by sustaining the prosecutor's objection
that Adams's testimony was speculative, irrelevant,
and unduly prejudicial. As proffered by the defense,
Adams's testimony would have communicated only
her opinion that Williams's 2012 arrest and
prosecution were politically motivated, without any
showing that Adams had personal knowledge of the
matter or that her opinion was rationally based on
her perception and helpful to determining a fact in
issue, To the extent that Adams had personal
knowledge of the matter in item. (2), the trial court
allowed her to testify, For example, Adams informed
the jury that someone in the DA's office had posted
a "good size mugshot" of Williams with the word
"captured" above it, and that displaying a
defendant's photograph in that manner was not
typical behavior in the DA's office.
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*43 [3 61 Concerning item (3), the trial court did not
abuse its discretion by sustaining the prosecutor's
objection that Adams's testimony was speculative,
irrelevant, and unduly prejudicial Adams testified
that she was present during "quite a bit" of the 2012
trial, However, the offer of proof revealed that
Adams would have testified to her view that the trial
was unfair based on unspecified "things" that the
jury in that case did not hear. Thus, Adams's view
was predicated, on unspecified information that
Adams had not acquired through watching the 2012
trial. Moreover, defense counsel failed to inquire
into the nature of those "things" or the source of
Adams's knowledge.

[371 Concerning item (4), the trial judge did not
abuse his discretion by sustaining the prosecutor's
objection that Hasse's comments to Adams were
irrelevant because there was no evidence that
Williams was aware of themJf, Further, to the extent
that this testimony was evidence that the 2012
prosecution was selective or overzealous, its
exclusion was harmless because it was cumulative of
Adams's and Parks's similar testimony before the
jury.

[3 81 An offer of proof "may consist of a concise
statement by counsel, or it may be in
question-and-answer form,"^Here, defense counsel
made offers of proof concerning Adams's testimony
in both forms. After the parties rested, counsel
submitted a written offer of proof purporting to
describe Adams's excluded testimony. We will
assume without deciding that we may consider a
written summary offer of proof even when counsel
also made an oral offer of proof in
question-and-answer form.

However, the record in this case does not reflect that
the trial court actually reviewed and ruled on defense
counsel's written summary offer of proof, Defense
counsel timely presented the written offer after the
parties had rested and before the court read the
charge to the jury .̂  But in doing so, defense counsel
stated:

Prepared on the one for the following items
for Cathy Adams, There was a series of items
that, that were excluded I think on relevance
ground[s] that are set out—that are set forth in
our, our written offer of proof, and that's what

we would ask the Court to do. Bring her back
in and allow her, you know, to say those things
that, that we believe she would. We think it
would be—that would be proper because we
didn't think the relevance objection was
proper; but of course, we just want to make
the Court aware of what, what we think was
excluded there.

The trial judge responded, "Okay, and it's part of the
record, so I'll admit it for record purposes." Later,
defense counsel again discussed this written offer of
proof, stating that the written offers of proof
concerning excluded witnesses' testimony "should all
be in front of the Court now, and we'd ask the Court
to rule on those offers before the, the jury is
charged," The judge responded, "Okay. And the
Court previously ruled and has concluded that that
testimony would not be relevant, and I'm not
pennitting it."

This record reflects that defense counsel handed the
judge the written offer of proof without explaining
how the testimony described in it varied from the
testimony that had actually been excluded at trial
Under the circumstances, the trial judge
understandably expected the written offer of proof to
reasonably and specifically summarize Adams's
excluded testimony and the trial court's rulings.
Accordingly, the judge accepted the written offer of
proof "for record purposes" and reaffirmed his
earlier rulings.

*44 However, our review of the written offer of
proof reveals that its contents are not consistent with
Adams's testimony before the jury or her testimony
during the oral offer of proof In Williams's written
offer of proof concerning Adams's testimony, he
asserts that Adams would have testified that
Williams was prosecuted in 2012 in retaliation for
his political opposition to McLelland, and that
Williams's conduct that was the subject of the 2012
prosecution—taking computer equipment from the
county IT department—did not involve converting
the equipment to his own personal use but instead
involved moving that equipment to his office for the
"benevolentpurpose" of investigating "the feasibility
of installing the equipment in his ,,, courtroom as
components of a video magistration system."
Williams further contends in the offer of proof that
Adams would have testified that the 2012
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prosecution "was done in such a way that [Williams]
would lose his law license upon any conviction for
a ciime of moral turpitude, such a[s] misdemeanor
theft," Williams adds that Adams would have
testified that the 2012 prosecution was overzealous
"and an abuse of prosecutorial discretion,"

In contrast, during the oral offer of proof, Adams
testified that Williams was prosecuted in 2012
because his election was "highly political" and "not
everybody appreciated" the way he wanted to "move
the department along," Further, defense counsel
never asked Adams, in the offer of proof or in any
other part of the trial, why Williams had taken the
computer equipment that was the subj ect of the 2012
prosecution, Consequently, the State never objected
to such questioning, and the trial court never ruled
on the admissibility of this testimony.^

Similarly, defense counsel never attempted, either
before the jury or in the oral offer of proof, to elicit
Adams's testimony to the effect that even a
misdemeanor theft conviction would have caused
Williams to lose his law license. Accordingly, the
trial court never ruled on the admissibility of such
testimony,^ In addition, Adams's alleged testimony
as described in the written offer, concerning the
vindictive and "overzealous" nature of the 2012
prosecution, did not comport with her testimony
during the oral offer of proof, in which she stated
that there were "things" that might have swayed the
jury if they had been presented during the 2012 trial

To the extent that the written offer of proof
concerning Adams's testimony does not reasonably
summarize the testimony that defense counsel
offered and the trial court excluded, the written offer
of proof did not preserve anything for appeal. We
conclude that the trial court did not reversibly err by
excluding Adams's testimony. Point of error
thirty-four is overruled.

Jon eses' Testim ony

In points of error thirty-five and thirty-six, Williams
contends that the trial judge erred by sustaining the
State's relevance objection to the defense's proffered
testimony of sisters Andrea and Heather Jones,
Williams relies solely on the defense's written offers

of proof. However, the record reflects that, during
Andrea's and Heather's testimony, the trial court did
not exclude any evidence. The State made a
relevance objection during Heather's testimony, but
the trial court overruled it and allowed the testimony.
Because the trial court's rulings did not exclude any
of the sisters' testimony 3 we need not consider the
written offers of proof. Points of error thirty-five and
thirty-six are overruled.

Calabria's Testimony

In point of error thirty-seven, Williams contends that
the trial court erred in sustaining the State's
relevance objection to the defense's proffered
testimony of Mark Calabria, He again relies solely
on the defense's written offer of proof, However, as
with the written offer concerning Adams's testimony,
the record does not reflect that the trial court actually
ruled on the written offer concerning Calabria's
testimony. Unlike Adams's testimony, defense
counsel did not make an oral offer of proof in
question-and-answer form, Thus, we will consider
the merits of this point of error, to the extent that the
trial court's rulings during Calabria's testimony
excluded evidence whose substance was apparent
from the context and to the extent that the written
proffer comports with the trial record,

*45 Like Adams, Calabria was allowed to testify to
Williams's positive character traits, his track record
as a Justice of the Peace, and certain aspects of
Kaufman County politics and his 2012 prosecution,
Also like Adams, some of Calabria's expected
testimony as to these latter points was excluded,
From this record^ we have identified several
instances in which error was preserved because the
substance of the excluded testimony was apparent
from the context, The trial court excluded defense
counsel's questions and Calabria's anticipated
testimony in the following instances: (1) whether it
was "natural" for cases involving politicians to be
treated "differently" in Kaufman (sustaining the
prosecutor's relevance objection); (2) whether^ in
Calabria's personal experience, "other county
officials" had been "caught with their hand [s] in the
cookie jar" (sustaining the prosecutor's relevance
objection); (3) whether Calabria had any personal
experience with "other county officials" being
prosecuted "differently" (sustaining the prosecutor's
objections to relevance, leading, and trying to get

WESTIAW ©"2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 44



Williams v, State, Not Reported in S.W.3d (2017)

before the jury "what's improper"); (4) whether, if
Calabria had been found guilty of theft, he would
have been embarrassed (sustaining the prosecutor's
relevance objection); and (5) whether Calabria
thought "it would have made a difference if even one
friend had reached out to" Williams following the
2012 conviction (sustaining the prosecutor's
objections to speculation, relevance, and "continual
leading").

[391The first three items appear to have been part of
an effort to suggest that Williams's 2012 prosecution
was selective and overzealous, thereby providing
evidence of Williams's motive for committing the
instant offenses. Even assuming arguendo that the
trial court erred by excluding items (1) through (3)
as irrelevant, defense counsel elicited substantially
similar testimony from Parks, who testified that; She
personally observed the 2012 trial; it was a
"ridiculous prosecution"; Williams was wrongly
convicted; and Williams "should never have been
brought to court for what they were saying he did."
Therefore, any arguable error in excluding Calabria's
similar testimony was harmless.

.Wl.Item (4) was arguably suggestive of Williams's
motive. However, item (4) did not add any
information about Williams's own circumstances.
The jury had already received evidence that Hasse
and McLelland had successfully prosecuted
Williams for theft and burglary in 2012 and that, as
a result, Williams had lost his livelihood and his
status in the community. There was no dispute that
Basse's and McLelland's roles in obtaining these
convictions constituted Williams's motive for
committing the instant offenses, Whether another
attorney would have been "embarrassed" by a theft
conviction did not tend to make the existence of any
fact that was of consequence to the determination of
the action more or less probable than it would have
been without the evidence.

Although the trial court sustained the State's
objections to item (5) on multiple bases, Williams
only challenges on appeal the trial court's ruling on
the ground of relevance, Because Williams failed to
adequately brief this argument, we could sustain the
trial court's ruling solely on this basis. In any event,
defense counsel elicited substantially similar
testimony when Calabria testified in front of the jury
that everyone in the legal community knew Williams

and that, in retrospect, he wished he had reached out
to Williams and attempted to "make a difference" in
the situation.

In the written offer of proof, Williams asserts that:
(1) Calabria would have testified that the 2012
prosecution was in retaliation for Williams's political
opposition to McLelland; (2) Williams did not
convert the computer equipment for his own
personal use but instead took it for the "benevolent
purpose" of investigating "the feasibility of
installing" it "as components of a video magistration
system"; (3) Calabria would have testified that the
2012 prosecution "was done in such a way that
[Williams] would lose his law license upon any
conviction for a crime of moral turpitude, such a
misdemeanor theft"; (4) the 2012 prosecution was
overzealous and an "abuse of prosecutorial
discretion"; (5) numerous Kaufoian officials have
taken advantage of county resources; (6) cases
involving politicians in Kaufman, and particularly
Ray Summero, are pursued more aggressively than
cases against private citizens; (7) the "alleged
'threats' " Williams made against another attorney
were "nothing more than hyperbole and ,., [the
threatened attorney] himself did not take them
seriously"; and (8) Williams "suffered social and
professional isolation after the theft trial due to
political pressures in Kaufman."

*46 However, the record reflects that the only
testimony set forth in the written offer of proof that
was actually excluded at trial concerned whether: it
was "natural" for prosecutions of public officials to
be handled differently from other prosecutions;
Calabria was aware of other officials who were
"caught with their hand[s] in the cookie jar"; and
Calabria had any personal experience with "other
county officials" being prosecuted "differently."
Even assuming arguendo that this testimony was
relevant, defense counsel elicited substantially
similar testimony through Parks. We conclude that
the trial court did not reversibly en' by excluding
Calabria's testimony. Point of error thirty-seven is
overruled.

JURY INSTRUCTIONS

In points of error thirty-eight and thirty-nine,
Williams contends that the trial judge erred in
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denying his requested punishment-phase jury
instructions and in overruling his objections to the
punishment-phase jury charge, He asserts that
defense counsel objected to the statutory charge that
complied with Article 37.071 and requested that the
instructions "be altered to provide definitions and in
general greater specificity in the special issues for
the jury/'

Williams filed a pretrial motion that made sixteen
objections to the punishment jury charge and
thirty-three objections to the verdict forms. He also
filed a motion to declare the "10-12 Rule"
unconstitutional. At a pretrial hearing, the trial judge
heard argument on the motion to declare the " 10-12
Rule" unconstitutional, Defense counsel
acknowledged that the law was settled against the
defense, but stated that he wanted to preserve error
for appellate review. The trial judge denied the
motion, Duringthe charge conference, the trial judge
overruled Williams's requested punishment charge
and his objections to the charge.

On appeal, Williams acknowledges that we have
"previously overruled the issues raised in a same or
similar context/' He avers that he "seeks to preserve
each sub-issue without waiver for any potential
[fjederal review of the issues in the future,1" Williams
is correct that we have overruled similar claims^
He offers no argument or legal authority in support
of these points of error, and we are not persuaded to
reconsider our previous decisions. Points of error
thirty-eight and thirty-nine are overruled.

We affirm the trial court's judgment and sentence,
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